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Books BY Yoshitaka Kitao, Representative Director, President & CEO

Penetrating Insight

Keizai Co., Ltd. 
November 2010

Understanding the Times

Keizaikai Co., Ltd. 
November 2011

The Lessons of Shinzo Mori 
for Nurturing Human Fortitude

Chichi Publication 
February 2011

Learn from the Ancient Sages

Keizaikai Co., Ltd 
November 2012

When Confounded in Business,  
Analects Point the Way

Asahi Shimbun Publication Inc. 
August 2012

Yoshitaka Kitao’s Business 
Management Lecture

KIGYOKA NETWORK 
June 2009

Reading the Times

Keizaikai Co., Ltd. 
August 2008

Think Big,  
Don’t Be the Little Guy

Chichi Publication 
January 2009

Change Will Be, When 
Things Are at Their Worst

Keizaikai Co., Ltd. 
October 2009

The Meaning of Life

Kodansha Ltd. 
August 2010

Co-authored with Takeshi Natsuno

Notes on Masahiro Yasuoka

Chichi Publication 
December 2009

(EN): In English translation (CN): In Chinese translation (KR): In Korean translation

Applying the “Analects of 
Confucius” in Business

Chichi Publication Co., Ltd. 
May 2012

Yoshitaka Kitao’s 
Management Dialogue

Kosaido Publishing Co., Ltd. 
March 2012

The Tailwind Behind Japan’s 
Economy

Sankei Shinbun Syuppan Co., Ltd. 
June 2012

Japanese Wisdom and Power

PHP Research Institute 
(CN) Fudan University Press 
April 2011

Proverbs of Sages and Renowned 
Executives Who Overcame Adversity

Asahi Shimbun Publication Inc. 
(CN) Tsinghua University Press 
December 2009

Challenges of E-Finance I

Toyo Keizai Inc. 
(CN) The Commercial Press 
(KR) Dongbang Media Co. Ltd. 
December 1999

“Value-Creation” Management

Toyo Keizai Inc. 
(CN) The Commercial Press 
(KR) Dongbang Media Co. Ltd. 
December 1997

Universal Management, Growth 
Management

PHP Research Institute 
(KR) Dongbang Media Co. Ltd. 
(CN) World Affairs Press 
October 2000

Challenges of E-Finance II

Toyo Keizai Inc. 
(KR) Dongbang Media Co. Ltd. 
April 2000

“Mysterious Powers” Gained 
from Chinese Classics

Mikasa Shobo Co. Ltd. 
(CN) Peking University Press 
July 2005

Developing Character

PHP Research Institute 
(CN) World Affairs Press 
April 2003

Why Do We Work?

Chichi Publication 
(KR) Joongang Books 
March 2007

The SBI Group Vision and Strategy: 
Continuously Evolving Management

Toyo Keizai Inc. 
(EN) John Wiley & Sons, Inc. 
(CN) Tsinghua University Press 
October 2005

Forward-Looking Statements

Statements contained in this report regarding the 
plans, projections and strategies of SBI Holdings, Inc. 
and its subsidiaries and affiliates that are not historical 
facts constitute forward-looking statements about 
future financial results. As such, they are based on 
data obtainable at the time of announcement in com-
pliance with SBI Holdings’ management policies and 
certain premises that are deemed reasonable by SBI 
Holdings. Hence, actual results may differ, in some 
cases significantly, from these forward-looking state-
ments contained herein due to changes in various fac-
tors, including but not limited to economic conditions 
in principal markets, service demand trends and cur-
rency exchange rate fluctuations. Further, statements 
contained herein should not be construed to encom-
pass tax, legal, or financial advice, and should not be 
considered to be solicitations to invest in SBI 
Holdings, Inc., or any of the SBI Group companies.
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Profile

The SBI Group was established in 1999 as a pioneer in 
Internet financial services in Japan. At a time of rapid trans-
formation due to the development and popularization of 
the Internet and financial deregulation, we have achieved 
steady growth and established the business structure of a 
globally unique Internet-based financial conglomerate. 
	 Today, the SBI Group has developed a unique financial 
ecosystem that can provide one-stop access to various finan-
cial services, including securities, banking, insurance and 
housing loans, along with an asset management business 
that primarily involves venture capital investments. We are 
also expanding the business domain to biotechnology-
related businesses, in order to achieve a further transforma-
tion and future growth, and are deploying this unique 
business model overseas in Asia, North America, the 
Middle East and Europe. 
	 Furthermore, we are steadily establishing a global busi-
ness structure. For example, SBI Holdings is now listed on 
the Tokyo Stock Exchange and the Hong Kong Stock 
Exchange, and SBI Group companies are now listed on 
stock exchanges not only in Japan, but also in South Korea. 
By further accelerating the development of a global busi-
ness structure, we are endeavoring to maximize corporate 
value by transforming ourselves into the “World’s SBI.”

Becoming the

“World’s SBI”
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We will transcend traditional 

methods and bring financial 

innovations to the forefront 

of the financial industry, uti-

lizing opportunities provided 

by the powerful price-cutting 

forces of the Internet and 

developing financial services 

that further enhance benefits 

for customers.

We will continue to be a com-

pany that evolves of its own 

volition by forming an organi-

zation that flexibly adapts to 

changes in the operating envi-

ronment and incorporates 

corporate “Ingenuity” and 

“Self-transformation” as part 

of its organizational DNA.

We will work to become the 

leader in creating and culti-

vating the core industries of 

the 21st century.

We shall undertake judg-

ments on actions based not 

only on whether they con-

form to the law or profit the 

Company, but also whether 

they are socially equitable.

We will ensure that each 

company in the SBI Group 

recognizes its social responsi-

bilities as a member of soci-

ety, while fulfilling the 

demands of its stakeholders, 

contributing to the better-

ment of society.

The SBI Group’s
Corporate Mission 

Statement

Sound Ethical 
Values Financial 

Innovator

Social 
Responsibility

New Industry 
Creator

Self- 
Evolution
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MISSION AND VISION

Asset  
Management

Business

Financial  
Services
Business

Biotechnology-related
Business

SBI SECURITIES, SBI Sumishin 

Net Bank, SBI Insurance, and other 

Group companies are steadily 

increasing their customer bases, 

and the SBI Group’s customer base 

at the end of March 2013 totaled 

15.149 million, up 2.090 million 

from the previous year.

A customer base 
of more than 15 million 
that supports growth

The Group as a whole will 

endeavor to establish a business 

portfolio that is more resilient to 

fluctuations in the stock market, as 

well as to establish an organization 

that realizes stable profit growth 

by bolstering profitability and 

upgrading businesses in each of 

the three core business segments.

The pursuit 
of stable growth in 
earnings from the
three core 
business segments

We have established a business 

presence in Beijing, Shanghai, 

Hong Kong, Singapore and other 

locations, focusing primarily on 

fast-growing emerging markets 

in Asia and are pursuing global 

business development of the 

Asset Management Business, 

Financial Services Business and 

Biotechnology-related Business.

Wide-ranging 
business activities 
in nearly twenty 
countries and 
regions around 
the world

Key Concepts for 
Growing the SBI Group
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2,500,000

2,000,000

1,500,000

1,000,000

500,000

0

July 1999
Established as SOFTBANK INVESTMENT 
CORPORATION with paid-in capital of ¥50 million
	 Start of venture capital and incubation busi-
ness with net assets of ¥50 million

October 1999
E*TRADE Japan K.K. (currently SBI SECURITIES 
Co., Ltd.) commenced Internet trading services.

November 1999
Softbank Ventures, Inc. (currently SBI Investment 
Co., Ltd.) was made a wholly owned consolidated 
subsidiary

December 2000
Listed on NASDAQ Japan Market of 
Osaka Securities Exchange

May 2005
Jointly established the New Horizon Fund, target-
ing promising Chinese companies, with an invest-
ment company in Singapore

July 2005
Changed name from SOFTBANK INVESTMENT 
CORPORATION to SBI Holdings, Inc. Transitioned 
to a holding company structure

October 2005
Established a representative office in Beijing, 
China

August 2006
SBI Holdings is excluded from equity-
method accounting of SoftBank Corp. 
(majority shareholder) when a SoftBank 
subsidiary sold its shares

February 2007
Established SBI VEN CAPITAL PTE. 
LTD., a subsidiary in Singapore

September 2007
SBI Sumishin Net Bank, Ltd. commenced business

January 2008
SBI Insurance Co., Ltd. commenced business

February 2002
Listed on First Section of 
Tokyo Stock Exchange

November 2002
Listing changed from NASDAQ 
Japan Market to First Section of 
Osaka Securities Exchange 

■ Total assets at the end of each period (left axis)
■ Net assets at the end of each period (right axis)

(Millions of yen)
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*1 ‌�Fiscal 2000, 2001 and 2002 were the years ended September 30.
*2 ‌�The Group prepared the consolidated financial statements in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRSs”) from the year ended March 2013.

1,000,000

800,000

600,000

400,000

200,000

0

growth story

April 2008
Established SBI Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd.

December 2008
SBI Hong Kong Co., Limited (currently SBI 
Hong Kong Holdings Co., Limited), a subsid-
iary in Hong Kong, commenced business

July 2010
Announcement of “Brilliant Cut 
Initiative” and promotion of 
“selection and concentration” 
throughout the SBI Group.

April 2011
First company headquartered in 
Japan to be listed on the Main Board 
of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange

March 2012
SBI (China) Co., Ltd., a business 
management company in China, 
commenced business

March 2013
Acquired shares of Hyundai 
Swiss Savings Bank and made 
it a subsidiary

Further 
Acceleration of 
Growth as a  
Global Company
The SBI Group will transition 
from “Japan’s SBI” to the “World’s 
SBI” and pursue further growth 
as a global company.

Maximization of 
Corporate Value
We will endeavor to create inno-
vative services and businesses in 
pursuit of maximizing corporate 
value, defined as the sum total of 
customer value, shareholder 
value and human capital value.

(Millions of yen)
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(Millions of yen)

Years ended March 31 2011 
( JGAAP)

2012 
( JGAAP)

2012 
(IFRSs)

2013 
(IFRSs)

Net sales / Operating revenue ¥141,081 ¥145,074 ¥177,409 ¥153,476 

Operating income 8,932 7,575 17,530 16,577

Ordinary income 3,525 4,860 — —

Income before income taxes /  
Profit before income tax expense

5,430 17,552 15,600 14,213 

Net income (loss) / 
Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company

4,534 3,200 303 3,202 

Total assets 1,293,606 1,663,814 1,655,568 2,494,387 

Total net assets / Total equity 456,982 468,579 351,905 360,535 

Net cash from (used in) operating activities (742) (4,972) 9,818 (36,984)

Net cash from (used in) investing activities (16,642) (27,035) (16,021) (19,060)

Net cash from financing activities 25,154 29,529 7,387 25,699 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 148,786 145,594 159,833 133,362 

(Yen)

Net income (loss) per share / Basic earnings per share 
attributable to owners of the Company

236.09 14.56 1.38 14.75

Book-value per share / Diluted earnings per share 
attributable to owners of the Company

19,610.64 1,848.92 1,347.27 1,401.39

* ‌�The Company conducted a 10 for 1 stock split, effective on October 1, 2012. The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are based on the new number of shares and 
adjusted retrospectively, assuming that the stock split was conducted at the beginning of the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012.

(%)

Equity ratio / Ratio of equity attributable to owners of 
the Company to total assets

30.2 24.5 17.9 12.2

Substantive equity ratio / Substantive ratio of equity 
attributable to owners of the Company to total assets*

48.7 47.6 37.1 22.9

Return on equity / Ratio of profit to equity attributable 
to owners of the Company

1.2 0.8 0.1 1.1

* ‌�The substantive equity ratio, calculated by subtracting customer asset accounts (that is, asset accounts for margin transaction assets, cash segregated as deposits, etc.) and liability 
accounts (margin transaction liabilities, guarantee deposits received, and deposits from customers, etc.) held by the Company’s subsidiary SBI SECURITIES

(Times)

PER (Price-earnings ratio) 44.35 53.65 565.94 56.34

PBR (Price-book-value ratio) 0.5 0.4 0.6 0.6

PER = FY end TSE closing price/Earnings per share
PBR = FY end TSE closing price/Book-value per share
Note: The closing price for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2013 was ¥831.

(Persons)

Employees 3,397 3,149 — 5,007

Consolidated Financial Highlights
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segment information

Performance of the Segment (Millions of yen)

FY2011 FY2012

Operating revenue 475 970

Profit for the year (1,984) (3,900)

The Group engages in the development and sale of pharma-

ceuticals using 5-aminolevulinic acid (5-ALA), an amino 

acid that exists in living organisms, pharmaceuticals in the 

fields of cancer and immunology and other products.

Biotechnology-related Business
SBI Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd.

SBI ALApromo Co., Ltd.

SBI Biotech Co., Ltd.

Performance of the Segment (Millions of yen)

FY2011 FY2012

Operating revenue 109,186 113,340

Profit for the year 10,498 18,741

The Group engages in a wide variety of finance-related busi-

nesses, including securities, banking, insurance, housing 

loans, credit cards and leasing, as well as the provision of 

information regarding financial products.

Financial Services Business

SBI Mortgage Co., Ltd.SBI Japannext Co., Ltd.

SBI Liquidity Market Co., Ltd.

SBI MONEY PLAZA Co., Ltd. Morningstar Japan K.K.

SBI SECURITIES Co., Ltd.

Performance of the Segment (Millions of yen)

FY2011 FY2012

Operating revenue 56,699 32,202

Profit for the year 17,498 5,450

The Group engages in businesses related to investment in venture 

companies in Japan and abroad, in fields including the Internet, 

biotechnology, the environment and energy, and finance.

Asset Management Business
SBI Investment Co., Ltd.

SBI CAPITAL Co., Ltd.

SBI VEN CAPITAL PTE. LTD.

SBI Insurance Co., Ltd.

SBI Sumishin Net Bank, Ltd.

07SBI Holdings   Annual Report 2013



To Our Stakeholders

The Driving Growth Forces
The Group owes its dramatic growth to three funda-
mental business-building concepts that have become 
the driving growth forces.

Tracking the Major Trends
a) ��Growth acceleration of the Internet finance busi-

ness driven by the continued evolution and 
enhancement of the Internet

The SBI Group, founded in 1999, has accelerated its 

1

Representative Director,  
President & CEO

Yoshitaka Kitao

Since our founding in 1999, the SBI Group has adhered to the 
“Customer-centric Principle” and continuously provided 
highly competitive products and services that take maximum 
advantage of the Internet. 
	 As a result, the Group’s customer base has expanded to 
more than 15 million, and the SBI Group is now in the process 
of transforming itself from “Japan’s SBI” to the “World’s SBI.” 
	 We will continue to adhere to the “Customer-centric 
Principle,” as we endeavor to introduce more innovative ser-
vices and businesses in pursuit of the maximization of corpo-
rate value, defined as the sum total of customer value, 
shareholder value, and human capital value, as we continue to 
grow as a global company.

Boldly Taking Up  
New Challenges  
to Maximize  
Corporate Value

business growth by identifying and capitalizing on 
two major trends, the Internet revolution and finan-
cial deregulation. SBI SECURITIES is the clear 
leader amongst Japan’s online securities companies 
in the number of accounts and customers’ deposit 
assets, has the highest share of individual stock trad-
ing value amongst all Japanese securities companies, 
and is solidifying its customer base. SBI Sumishin 
Net Bank is achieving rapid growth, becoming the 
first Internet bank with a balance of deposits exceed-
ing ¥3.0 trillion in July 2013. SBI Insurance is grow-
ing rapidly as well, with the number of auto 
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To Our Stakeholders

insurance contracts topping 500,000 as of the end of 
December 2012.

b) ‌�Concentrated investments into growth industries 
of the 21st century in a post-industrial society

For Japanese companies, a major trend crucial to 
future growth is the transition of Japan’s industrial 
structure to a post-industrial society. To capitalize on 
this trend, the SBI Group, in its role as a “New 
Industry Creator,” is making concentrated invest-
ments in 21st century growth industries, including 
the Internet, biotechnology and life science, and the 
environment and alternative energy. 
	 At the same time, the SBI Group itself has 
founded IT companies in the Internet sector, with a 
focus on Internet finance, and has entered biotech-
nology businesses through SBI Biotech, SBI 
Pharmaceuticals, and SBI ALApromo.

c) ‌�Accelerating overseas business development focus-
ing on dramatic Asian growth

Another major trend crucial to future growth is the 
rise of emerging countries and the coming of the 
Asian century. Since the global economic crisis trig-
gered by the collapse of Lehman Brothers in 2008, 
Asia has become more prominent in the world 
economy with respect to economic scale and prom-
ise for the future. Accordingly, we have set up funds 
in joint ventures with prominent financial groups, 
government-affiliated investment institutions, and 
the investment arms of universities in countries 
around the world, thereby building a global invest-
ment structure covering a wide region with a focus 
on emerging countries. 
	 In addition, we have acquired equity stakes in 
overseas financial institutions, namely banks, securi-
ties companies, and insurance companies, to engage 
in overseas financial services businesses, primarily 
in Asia. 

�Formation of a  
“Business Ecosystem” and  
the Establishment of  
“Structural Differentiation”

Two propositions applicable to complex systems 
provided an important hint to me at the time of the 
founding of the SBI Group: “The whole is greater 
than the sum of the parts” and “The whole has new 

qualities that an individual part cannot perceive.” 
These propositions gave me the idea that a business 
ecosystem, a new form of organization, should be 
developed in order to realize high growth potential 
from synergies and mutual evolution that cannot be 
accomplished by a stand-alone company.
	 In the Internet era, a single company cannot 
successfully compete on its own. The development 
of a business ecosystem is the most effective and 
powerful means of structural differentiation, and is 
essential for realizing an overwhelming competitive 
advantage. Additionally, the formation and develop-
ment of a business ecosystem promotes positive syn-
ergies among the constituent companies. This 
process also creates a mutual evolution process in 
each company’s market to support rapid growth. 
	 In keeping with this way of thinking, the SBI 
Group has established a business ecosystem, and 
become a globally unique Internet-based financial 
conglomerate. The Group has fully demonstrated 
the synergies I anticipated, and has achieved dra-
matic growth. A prime example of this is that the 
service collaboration between SBI SECURITIES 
and SBI Sumishin Net Bank is highly appreciated 
by customers, and accordingly these companies 
are building overwhelmingly powerful positions in 
the Internet securities and Internet banking indus-
tries, respectively.

Adherence to the  
“Customer-centric Principle”

Since its founding, the SBI Group has adhered to 
the “Customer-centric Principle,” and exhaustively 
pursued services truly grounded in the customer’s 
perspective, such as the provision of services with 
more favorable fees and interest rates, at a glance 
comparison of financial products, attractive invest-
ment opportunities, highly safe and reliable services, 
and a wealth of high-quality financial content. 
	 As a result, SBI SECURITIES, SBI Sumishin 
Net Bank, and SBI Insurance have all received high 
ratings in customer satisfaction surveys conducted by 
third-party evaluation organizations, which has con-
tributed to the establishment of the Group customer 
base of more than 15 million.

2

3
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Performance Improvement  
in FY2012
For the FY2012 consolidated business results, when 
the Company adopted International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs), operating revenues 
decreased 13.5% year-on-year to ¥153.5 billion, 
operating income decreased 5.4% to ¥16.6 billion, 
and profit before income tax expense decreased 8.9% 
to ¥14.2 billion, while profit attributable to owners 
of the Company increased 955.9% to ¥3.2 billion.
	 Comparing the financial results by segment in 
the first half (April to September 2012) and the 
second half (October 2012 to March 2013) of FY2012 
shows rapid recovery in results in the Financial 
Services Business and Asset Management Business, 
accompanying the recovery in the market environ-
ment since the end of 2012. Profit before income tax 
expense in the second half was ¥14.9 billion, 283.2% 
higher than in the first half, for the Financial Services 
Business, and ¥5.0 billion or 938.8% higher, in the 
Asset Management Business. In the Biotechnology-
related Business, loss before income tax expense in 
the second half was ¥2.7 billion, compared to a loss 
of ¥1.2 billion in the first half. Profit before income 

Rapid Recovery 
in the Second Half of FY2012

To Our Stakeholders

The bold monetary easing launched at the end of 2012 by Japan’s new government and other factors 
have led to the correction of the extreme appreciation of the yen, and an upturn in stock prices and 
heightened expectations for an economic recovery. In the Japanese stock market, total individual stock 
brokerage trading value of the three major markets (Tokyo, Osaka, and Nagoya) in the fourth quarter 
( January to March 2013) was 2.4 times the level of the third quarter (October to December 2012), 
partly as a result of the easing of margin trading regulations in January 2013.

“	�In the Asset Management Business, 
we will pursue further globalization to 
become the ‘World’s SBI.’ ”

tax expense from other businesses was ¥1.0 billion 
in the second half, up 56.7% from the first half.

Organizational Restructuring to  
Realize the “World’s SBI”
In FY2012, we implemented a reorganization of the 
Group. We clearly delineated the Asset Management 
Business, which may experience greater fluctuations 
in periodic profit and loss following the adoption of 
IFRSs, from the other businesses. In addition, we 
put in place a more efficient operating structure by 
integrating the former Brokerage & Investment 
Banking Business and Financial Services Business, 
previously classified as separate segments, to form 
the Financial Services Business. 
	 Furthermore,  we have pos i t ioned the 
Biotechnology-related Business as a core business, 
which is expected to become a future income source. 
As a result, from FY2012 the SBI Group organized 
its business segments into the Financial Services 
Business, the Asset Management Business and the 
Biotechnology-related Business. 
	 In the Financial Services Business we will thor-
oughly pursue synergies among the three core busi-
nesses of securities, banking, and insurance. In the 
Asset Management Business, we will take maximum 
advantage of the network developed in the process 
of building a global investment structure, to pursue 
further globalization which is necessary for the tran-
sition to become the “World’s SBI.”
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The SBI Group’s Future Vision and 
Business Strategy
The SBI Group implemented a reorganization in 
FY2012 to advance the goal of becoming the “World’s 
SBI,” and is pursuing stable earnings growth by 
enhancing earnings capabilities and upgrading busi-
nesses in its three major businesses, the Financial 
Services Business, the Asset Management Business 
and the Biotechnology-related Business.
	 To realize long-term earnings growth, we will 
proceed with the diversification of revenue sources 
through the development and provision of new 
products and services, thereby developing a business 
structure less susceptible to stock market conditions. 
For the overseas business development, we will tap 
into the growth of the Asian markets, while making 
investments in advanced sectors in Europe and 
North America to pursue high performance and 
regional risk diversification. 
	 In the Financial Services Business, to complete 
and further strengthen the financial ecosystem con-
sisting of the core securities, banking and insurance 
businesses, we will make a full-scale entry into the 
life insurance business. 
	 The SBI Group’s vision for the future is as follows.

In the Financial Services Business, we will complete 
the development of an ecosystem that generates stable 
earnings for the SBI Group, as a financial conglomerate 
with securities, banking and insurance as its core 
businesses.

In the Asset Management Business, we will expand 
the overseas asset management activities with the objec-
tive of becoming a global private equity firm that 
engages in investment businesses in Japan and overseas.

In the Biotechnology-related Business, one of the 
21st century’s growth industries, we will pursue the 
development of this business into a new core business of 
the Group, by developing and marketing pharmaceuti-
cals, health foods, and cosmetics in Japan and overseas.

More Rigorous Selection  
and Concentration
In July 2010, the SBI Group launched the “Brilliant 
Cut Initiative” to shift to a management strategy that 
prioritizes profitability rather than business scale 

To Our Stakeholders

>

>

>

“	�By ‘selection and concentration’ in 
the Financial Services Business, a 
conversion to the earnings-oriented 
management is accelerating. ”

expansion, as in the past. In March 2012, we entered 
the third phase of the “Brilliant Cut Initiative,” in 
which the Financial Services Business, applying a 
rigorous business selection and concentration that 
involves the examination of the strengths of syner-
gies with the core securities, banking and insurance 
businesses, proceeded to concentrate enterprise 
resources on businesses that offer prospects for pow-
erful synergies. 
	 In accordance with this policy, we sold all 
shares in SBI VeriTrans (currently VeriTrans), trans-
ferred our entire stake in Wall Street Journal Japan to 
Dow Jones & Company, Inc., transferred all shares 
in SBI Capital Solutions and the Group’s equity 
interest in funds managed by it, and transferred our 
entire stake in SBI Credit (currently Premium 
Financial Services) to the Marubeni Group. Through 
these transactions, we have recovered approximately 
¥20.0 billion since March 2012. We have also 
actively launched IPOs of subsidiaries that are not 
expected to generate strong synergies with the three 
core businesses, listing SBI Mortgage on the KOSPI 
Market of the Korea Exchange in April 2012, and 
SBI AXES on the KOSDAQ Market of the Korea 
Exchange in December 2012. We will allocate the 
funds obtained from these business divestitures and 
IPOs to the strengthening of the three core busi-
nesses of the Financial Services Business. 
	 At the same time, we are implementing a 
Group reorganization to integrally operate closely-
related businesses. For instance, we have reorganized 
the face-to-face sales business operated principally 
by SBI MONEY PLAZA; SBI Searchina and SBI 
Asset Management have been made subsidiaries of 
Morningstar Japan; and SBI Card has taken over 
SBI Point Union’s rewards point program business 
in an absorption-type split. 
	 Furthermore, in March 2013 the Company 
acquired all shares of IKIIKI SEDAI, a small-
amount short-term insurance company that offers 
medical insurance and life insurance, and made it a 
consolidated subsidiary. We will endeavor to expand 
IKIIKI SEDAI’s small-amount short-term insurance 
business together with that of SBI SSI. 
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 Financial Services Business

Measures to  
Further Improve Earnings
To accommodate further increases in trading 
volume and the customer base, SBI SECURITIES 
will augment its systems and call center staff. To 
meet the diverse needs of individual investors, it will 
further expand and enhance its product offerings 
through collaborations with other Group compa-
nies. By strengthening a collaboration with SBI 
MONEY PLAZA and bolstering its corporate cus-
tomer sales force, the company will step up efforts 
to develop relationships with affluent customers. 
	 To cope with a rapid increase in the balance of 
deposits, SBI Sumishin Net Bank will seek stabiliza-
tion and diversification of funds management 
through housing loans, auto loans, Internet loans 
(uncollateralized personal loans), and other types of 
loans.
	 SBI Insurance is expanding and enhancing its 
product offerings, having launched its own cancer 
insurance as a new product in August 2012, as well 
as offering insurance products from alliance part-
ners. It will increase sales of its own auto insurance 
and cancer insurance products, by taking maxi-
mum advantage of SBI MONEY PLAZA’s face-to-
face sales channels. In July 2013, in step with their 
business expansion, SBI Insurance and SBI 
Business Support jointly opened the SBI Insurance 
Kyushu Contact Center in Tosu, Saga Prefecture. 

An Aggressive Management Approach in  
All Businesses in FY2013

Until November 2012,  Japan was enveloped in a prolonged, powerful sense of uncertainty about 
the future, and the stock market was mired in a slump. In this difficult business environment, we 
have steadily made strategic moves to strengthen the SBI Group, including a Group reorganiza-
tion and business selection and concentration. 
	 In 2013, now that the business environment has improved, we will adopt an aggressive 
management approach in all of our businesses.

To Our Stakeholders

The objective is to upgrade the customer service 
level by opening a center for the handling of cus-
tomer inquiries and business processing, such as 
product information inquiry and insurance applica-
tion processing.
	 SBI Mortgage continues to grow steadily, with 
a balance of housing loans exceeding ¥1.5 trillion at 
the end of April 2013. In April 2012, SBI Mortgage 
became the first Japanese company to be listed on 
the KOSPI Market of the Korea Exchange. It then 
established a subsidiary in South Korea in October 
2012, which is preparing to start its operations in 
Korea.
	 Meanwhile, the Japanese version of the U.K.’s 
tax-exempt individual savings account system, 
called NISA, will be introduced in January 2014. 
The introduction of this system for exempting from 
taxes up to a million yen in dividends, distributions, 
or capital gains obtained from securities invest-
ments, is expected to fuel a further increase in trad-
ing of stocks and investment trusts for long-term 
investment purposes. 
	 The SBI Group will endeavor to acquire new 
customers by being quick to respond to the impend-
ing introduction of NISA, as SBI SECURITIES 
began accepting advance applications to open 
NISA accounts on March 29, 2013. In addition, SBI 
MONEY PLAZA has begun holding frequent 
NISA seminars, and Morningstar Japan opened a 
NISA portal site on May 20.
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 Overseas Business

To the Next Growth Stage
The Group is endeavoring to develop and further 
strengthen its overseas investment businesses, as well 
as to provide overseas investee financial institutions 
with advanced expertise in Internet financial ser-
vices, which the Group developed in Japan, to 
become a comprehensive financial group that is 
capable of making a global contribution, especially 
in Asia.
	 In the overseas investment businesses, we are 
shifting from the first phase of development, in 
which we established investment funds through joint 
investments with local partners, to the second phase, 
in which we will expand the size of our funds by 
enlisting outside investors. To this end, we will 
enhance the structure to enlist outside investors.
	 In the overseas financial services business, we 
will seek further enhancement of overseas financial 
services businesses by actively providing Japanese 
expertise through means such as assistance for the 
introduction of online banking at YAR Bank of 
Russia (formerly Obibank), and the streamlining of 
operations at BNI Securities of Indonesia and the 
improvement of its Internet trading systems in col-
laboration with SBI SECURITIES.

 Biotechnology-related Business

From a Promising Budding Business 
to a Business in Full Bloom
In the Biotechnology-related Business, which became 
a core business in FY2012, SBI Pharmaceuticals 
engages in the research and development of pharma-
ceuticals related to the amino acid, 5-aminolevulinic 
acid (5-ALA), whereas SBI Biotech is developing 
new drugs that utilize biotechnology in partnership 
with prominent overseas research institutes. 
	 In March 2013, SBI Pharmaceuticals received 
manufacture and marketing approval in Japan for 
the first pharmaceutical agent made containing 
5-ALA. In addition, the company is accelerating 
overseas development of the business through means 
such as an agreement with the government of 
Bahrain to promote the 5-ALA business. 
	 SBI Biotech, which is preparing for a 2014 
IPO, made the U.S. bio-venture company Quark 
Pharmaceuticals (“Quark”) a wholly owned 

To Our Stakeholders

“	�In the Biotechnology-related Business, 
we are achieving steady results 
through partnership with prominent 
overseas research institutes. ”

subsidiary in December 2012. Quark has multiple 
pipelines (new drug candidates) in clinical testing for 
which it expects to receive contingency fees under 
milestone agreements with global mega-pharmaceu-
tical companies. The Quark acquisition directly 
contributes to the enhancement of SBI Biotech’s 
corporate value.

Seeking Further Corporate  
Value Enhancement
The SBI Group is near completion of a business 
structure in Japan as a comprehensive financial 
group, whose core business is Internet-based finan-
cial services, and is currently working at a rapid 
pace to expand its investment businesses and 
develop an overseas operating structure in high-
growth countries, primarily in Asia. We are in the 
midst of accomplishing our planned transition from 
“Japan’s SBI” to the “World’s SBI.” 
	 In April 2011, SBI Holdings became the first 
company headquartered in Japan to be listed on the 
main board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. We 
will take full advantage of the increased creditwor-
thiness and name recognition that comes with the 
Hong Kong listing, to ensure the SBI Group’s con-
tinued business development in Asia. In Japan as 
well, we will further increase synergies among our 
businesses and accelerate growth by providing low-
cost, high-quality financial products and services. 
	 FY2013 is the year we adopt an aggressive 
management approach, and will also be the year of 
endeavoring to further increase corporate value. I 
invite you to have high expectations for the SBI 
Group as we boldly take up new challenges.

Yoshitaka Kitao
Representative Director, President & CEO
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The SBI Group will further accelerate  
the customer base expansion fueled  
by the upturn in the stock market
The SBI Group’s domestic Financial Services Business has 
positioned securities, banking and insurance as the three core 
businesses, and provides highly competitive financial products 
and services that take maximum advantage of the Internet.
	 With the continuing evolution of the Internet in the form 
of higher speed, ubiquitous access and expanding means of 
expression, the Internet is certain to more deeply penetrate 
society, even in areas where it was not previously utilized, and 
may be used for increasingly diverse purposes and occasions.
	 We will respond to such changes in the business environ-
ment and realize dramatic growth at each Group company by 
steadfastly adhering to the “Customer-centric Principle” that 
has guided the Group since its founding.

	 First, SBI SECURITIES has recently increased its cus-
tomer base significantly, supported by a tailwind from the 
uptrend in the stock market since the end of 2012 and the 
easing of margin trading regulations in January of this year. 
Meanwhile, the number of online brokerage trading accounts 
in Japan topped 18.16 million at the end of March 2013, 
increasing at a compound annual growth rate of 35.5%.
	 The five major online securities companies accounted for 
a 71.2% share of total individual stock brokerage trading value 
in FY2012. SBI SECURITIES alone accounted for a 33.2% 
share, maintaining its substantial share advantage over its com-
petitors. Although online securities companies handle an over-
whelming share of stock trades executed, considerable room 
remains for their expansion of market share, in terms of 
deposit assets. Assets of customer accounts of Japan’s five 
major online securities companies totaled ¥14.6 trillion as of 
the end of March 2013, a mere 19.3% of the shares held by 

Domestic Financial Services Business 
of the SBI Group

SECURITIES

+Supporting 
companies

+Supporting companies

BANKING

+Supporting 
companies

INSURANCE

+Supporting 
companies

Three Core 
Businesses

Synergy Synergy

Synergy

Synergy
Strengthening the Competitiveness of the  
Domestic Financial Services Business
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<SBI SECURITIES> As of the 
end of March 2013: 2,608,716SBI SECURITIES started 

to provide online trading 
in October 1999

01
Special Features

Number of online brokerage 
trading accounts was 18.16 million 

as of the end of March 2013
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individuals in Japan, so the online securities companies are 
likely to strengthen their market presence with respect to 
deposit assets as well.
	 An analysis of SBI SECURITIES’ customers by age 
reveals that a high proportion of customers, namely nearly 
40%, are younger people in their 20s and 30s, people familiar 
with the Internet since childhood who are set to begin building 
their financial assets in earnest. At the same time, IT literacy 
has recently been increasing among seniors, who account for 
two-thirds of face-to-face transactions. Investment activity by 
these seniors, who tend to have spare time and financial assets, 
is set to increase, and SBI SECURITIES must further develop 
its business also with this age group.
	 In view of the favorable prospects for further expansion 
of trading volume and the customer base, SBI SECURITIES 
will further strengthen its business ecosystem by maximizing 
synergies with the Group companies such as SBI Liquidity 
Market, which provides market infrastructure for FX trading, 
SBI Japannext, which operates the largest PTS in Japan, and 
SBI MONEY PLAZA.

Online banking grows at a faster  
pace than online securities
In the online banking business, the number of customer accounts 
at SBI Sumishin Net Bank is increasing in step with the number 
of new accounts acquired at SBI SECURITIES, reaching 
approximately 1.76 million at the end of July 2013, and the bal-
ance of deposits has grown to exceed ¥3.0 trillion. 
	 The total number of accounts at the six pure-play Internet 
banks in Japan exceeded 11.51 million at the end of March 
2013, for a compound annual growth rate of 49.8% since 2001, a 
pace of growth that outstrips that of online securities companies.
	 The example of developed countries in Europe and 
North America suggests that the shift in personal banking 
transactions from branch accounts to the Internet is likely to 
gain further impetus. 
	 Furthermore, an analysis of SBI Sumishin Net Bank’s cus-
tomers by age reveals that younger people in their 20s and 30s 
account for nearly half (49%) of all customers. At the same 
time, the amount of deposits per person dramatically increases 
with age: on an index with the average amount for people in 
their 20s as 1, the amount is 2.3 for people in their 30s, 3.1 for 
people in their 40s and 4.1 for people in their 50s. As the 
financial assets of customers now in their 20s and 30s grow 
over time, financial transactions for the purpose of investing 
those assets can be expected to increase as well. 

	 In view of the anticipated increase in the amount of 
deposits, SBI Sumishin Net Bank will pursue investment sta-
bilization and diversification by further enhancing and 
strengthening its business ecosystem. For instance, with regard 
to loans, in addition to housing loans offered through cooper-
ating real estate companies, since January 2012 the bank has 
engaged in a fee business involving the sale of housing loans 
as a banking agency of one of its parent company, Sumitomo 
Mitsui Trust Bank, which has enabled it to earn stable fee 
income while reducing risk.
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	 In the area of auto loans, SBI Holdings sold its entire 
shareholding in SBI Credit (currently Premium Financial 
Services) to an investment fund managed by a subsidiary of 
Marubeni Corporation, a general trading company. This move 
is expected to facilitate SBI Credit’s business expansion into 
areas beyond auto loans, and to contribute to the diversifica-
tion of investment alternatives at SBI Sumishin Net Bank.

SBI Insurance sets its sights on an  
IPO in FY2016.
In the insurance business, SBI Insurance has successfully 
expanded its operations. Since SBI Insurance became capable 
of solely assuming underwriting risk, owing to an increase in 
the number of insurance contracts, the company terminated its 
reinsurance agreement with Aioi Insurance (currently Aioi 
Nissay Dowa Insurance) at the end of March 2011, as well as 
the outsourcing agreement covering call center operations at 
the end of March 2012. As a result, the operating expense ratio  
dramatically decreased. 
	 The advisory rate that insurance companies use as a guide-
line when deciding insurance premiums was revised in 2012 
against a backdrop of factors, such as higher accident rates, and 
there is a growing trend to increase premiums among nonlife 
insurers. Accordingly, SBI Insurance raised its premiums by an 
average of 1% beginning April 2013, while maintaining price 
competitiveness. In addition, auto insurance product revisions 
in areas such as the suspension of the zero-100,000 yen self-pay-
ment (a payment method for a car accident of zero deductible 
for the first time, and 100,000 yen for the second time and there-
after) and covenants for comprehensive and collision insurance 

are expected to bring further improvement in the loss ratio.
	 The combined ratio, the ratio of the sum of insurance 
premium payment and expense to insurance premium 
income, is ordinarily used as a measure of the profitability of 
nonlife insurers. As a result of a series of measures imple-
mented to improve business expenses and the loss ratio, the 
combined ratio of SBI Insurance has come within range to be 
below 100% from FY2013 onward. 
	 Furthermore, SBI Insurance has worked to enhance its 
product offering and strengthen its own line of insurance prod-
ucts, by introducing cancer insurance for medical treatments 
in August 2012, and a bicycle accident compensation covenant 
for auto insurance in April 2013, as well as offering fire insur-
ance, earthquake compensation insurance and overseas travel 
insurance products from partner companies. SBI Insurance 
will work to increase the sales of its own auto insurance and 
cancer insurance products by utilizing SBI MONEY PLAZA’s 
face-to-face sales channels.
	 By implementing these activities, SBI Insurance targets 
the achievement of an effective profitability on a quarterly 
basis (IFRSs consolidated basis) in FY2013, a full-year profit-
ability in FY2015 and a FY2016 IPO.
	 In the insurance business, the Company has acquired all 
shares of IKIIKI SEDAI, a small-amount short-term insurance 
company that offers life insurance, and in July 2013, subject to 
the authorizations and such to be granted by the relevant 
authorities in Japan, the Company decided to acquire an 100% 
equity interest in PCA Life Insurance, a Japanese arm of 
Prudential plc. of the U.K. and convert it into a consolidated 
subsidiary. With this acquisition, the SBI Group will make a 
full-scale re-entry into the life insurance business.

The SBI Group’s  
Insurance Business

Special Features

+Supporting companies

Insurance

Nonlife insurance

SBI SSI Co., Ltd.

Small-amount and short-term insurance

Life insurance

IKIIKI SEDAI Inc.

Life Insurance 
Company

Planning to enter the life 
insurance business, by 
utilizing the Internet as its 
primary sales channel, 
and it will become a core 
insurance business.
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SBI MONEY PLAZA further expands  
its shop network
SBI MONEY PLAZA expanded its network of face-to-face 
shops that offer securities, insurance and housing loans to 350 
shops nationwide as of the end of June 2013. The addition of 
Insurance Clinic and Mitsubachi Insurance Farm shops oper-
ated by SBI Group investee companies brings the total to over 

600 shops, far surpassing the number of shops operated by 
competitors in Japan. Sequential conversion of directly oper-
ated Insurance Clinic and Mitsubachi Insurance Farm shops to 
SBI MONEY PLAZA shops is planned.
	 SBI MONEY PLAZA will continue to expand its shop 
network to strengthen its sales capabilities.

Special Features

previously handled customer inquiries concerning asset management at SBI 
SECURITIES, and was transferred to SBI MONEY PLAZA upon its launch. At 

the branch where I was initially assigned, I responded to inquiries from customers con-
cerning insurance and asset management. Since insurance consultation is much more 
closely connected to customers’ life planning than asset management, I felt a heavy 
burden of responsibility, and have become keenly aware that knowledge of a wide-range 
of products, not only asset management, is required to meet customers’ needs. I am cur-
rently working in the Financial Advisory Department, visiting customers to offer proposals 
concerning asset management and insurance. When I receive a telephone call from a pre-
vious customer who wants to continue buying products from me, I feel joy and satisfaction 
that is unique to face-to-face sales.

Minami Egusa
SBI MONEY PLAZA 
Financial Advisory Department

Voice

SBI Mortgage boosts its competitive 
strength through product diversification
SBI Mortgage was founded in 2001 as Japan’s first mortgage 
bank, a financial institution specializing in housing loans using 
securitization as a financing instrument, and has achieved 
rapid growth by continuing to offer “Flat 35” long-term, fixed-
rate housing loans in cooperation with the Japan Housing 
Finance Agency, at the industry’s lowest interest rates.
	 To meet the diverse needs of customers, the company is 
focusing on developing its own products to complement “Flat 
35” and seeks to further boost its competitive advantage by 
diversifying its product range. 
	 SBI Mortgage became the first Japanese company to list 
its shares on the KOSPI Market of the Korea Exchange in 
April 2012, and is currently endeavoring to set up the first 
mortgage bank in South Korea.

SBI Mortgage’s Outstanding Balance of Housing Loans
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The SBI Group pursues globalization  
as it transitions into the “World’s SBI”
Through the establishment of joint venture funds in collabora-
tion with prominent overseas financial groups, government-affil-
iated investment institutions and the investment arms of 
universities, the SBI Group has nearly completed the building 
of a global investment structure covering widespread regions, 
with a principal focus on emerging countries. We will now tran-
sition from the first phase of overseas business development, the 
establishment of funds through joint investments with these 
overseas local partners, to the second phase, the establishment 
of large funds through the recruitment of outside investors.
	 To accomplish this, we will strengthen the framework to 
recruit outside investors for new funds by assigning fund solici-
tation specialists to each overseas business site, and in Japan by 
taking full advantage of the domestic corporate network estab-
lished by SBI Investment, SBI SECURITIES, and SBI 
MONEY PLAZA.
	 Through these initiatives, we will build an investment 
structure that can cope with the recovery and anticipated fur-
ther growth of markets around the world.

Redoubling efforts to expand the  
financial services business overseas
The SBI Group is proceeding with the overseas expansion of 
the Financial Services Business through investments in overseas 
financial institutions. As of June 30, 2013, the Group held an 
89.4% stake in Hyundai Swiss Savings Bank of South Korea, a 
50.0% stake in YAR Bank of Russia (formerly Obibank), and a 
19.9% stake in Tien Phong Bank of Vietnam. In addition, upon 
approval from the financial authorities in Cambodia we plan to 
increase our current 47.6% stake in Phnom Penh Commercial 
Bank to an approximate 90% stake.
	 As for securities companies, the Group holds an 81.6% 
stake in SBI Royal Securities, the only Japanese-affiliated full-
line securities company in Cambodia, established through the 
merger of a securities subsidiary of the Royal Group of 
Cambodia and a local subsidiary of SBI Holdings. The Group 
also owns a 25.0% stake in BNI Securities, an affiliate of a 
major Indonesian bank, and a 20.0% stake in FPT Securities 
of Vietnam. 
	 Additionally, we hold a 3.0% stake in Tianan Insurance, a 
nonlife insurance company in China.

特 集Special Features

02
New Growth

n the SBI Group’s overseas investment division, I am involved in business pro-
cesses from fundraising and discovery of excellent Asia-focused investment oppor-

tunities, to post-investment development and divestment. I have the opportunity to 
interact with different business owners and intermediaries, and understand a variety of 
business models. The job is extremely challenging as it demands many skill sets, such as 
leveraging different contacts, assimilating diverse perspectives, and most importantly, intu-
ition and judgment calls. Each day is an exciting day!
	 Since we are also responsible for expanding the Group’s ecosystems outside of Japan, I 
am also working on a few key strategic initiatives. One most recent assignment was to expand 
SBI Pharmaceuticals’ footprint in Indonesia. The key to both PE and a strategic project is the 
combined wisdom and teamwork that we have in place, to achieve the best outcome.Tan Kian Hwa

SBI VEN CAPITAL (Singapore)

Voice

The Overseas Business Has Entered a New Growth Stage

I 
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Internet banking services in October 2013. 
	 In addition, the Group has dispatched personnel with 
experience gained in Japan, to BNI Securities, a subsidiary of 
Bank Negara Indonesia, the fourth largest national bank in 
Indonesia, to streamline operations and improve the Internet 
trading system. Connecting with BNI Securities has made real-
time trading in Indonesian stocks at SBI SECURITIES possi-
ble since April 2012.

Hyundai Swiss Savings Bank, the  
largest savings bank in South Korea, 
becomes a subsidiary
In March 2013, the SBI Group acquired new shares issued by 
Hyundai Swiss Savings Bank, the largest savings bank in South 
Korea, and made it a consolidated subsidiary. Whereas the 
bank has heretofore focused on the expansion of real estate-
collateralized loans for businesses and real estate project 
financing, it will now implement a business strategy shift to 
reduce bad debt risk through an exhaustive effort to reduce 
the size of its personal and business loans, as well as to launch 
an online service. To that end, the SBI Group has already dis-
patched directors to the bank, is recruiting high-caliber man-
agement personnel in South Korea, and has begun to 
strengthen risk management through strict asset assessment.
	 Savings banks in South Korea occupy a market position 

between commercial banks and consumer finance companies, 
an attractive market sector in which loans are made at interest 
rates from 8% to 30%. Accordingly, with the objective of 
increasing the loan-deposit interest margin and improving 
earnings, the bank is currently increasing the lending of uncol-
lateralized personal loans at interest rates between 20—30%, 
while at the same time reducing deposit funding costs (average 
4.3%) by lowering interest rates on new time deposits.

特 集

	 We will contribute to the enhancement of the corporate 
value of these investee companies by introducing Internet 
financial service expertise developed in Japan. For instance, in 
Russia, where Internet use has achieved critical mass, YAR 
Bank, a commercial bank affiliated with the METROPOL 
Group, a leading integrated financial group in Russia, is 
launching an online banking business. The systems require-
ment definition has been completed, and development is pro-
ceeding steadily in preparation for the start of an offering of 

Capital Investment in Overseas Financial Institutions Centered on Asian Region (as of June 30, 2013)

YAR Bank (Formerly Obibank)

* Changed name on February 15, 2013
· 50.0% shareholding
· ‌�A commercial bank of the METROPOL Group,  
a major financial group in Russia

Bank

Russia

China

Hong Kong

VietnamCambodia

Indonesia

Korea

Depiction of Hyundai Swiss Savings Bank Group after 
Absorption through Underwriting Additional Shares 
(Total amount: approx. ¥20.2 billion)

Special Features

Tianan Insurance

· 3.0% shareholding
· A major insurance company in China

Insurance

Hyundai Swiss Savings Bank

· 89.4% shareholding
· A saving bank with the largest assets in Korea

Bank

SW Kingsway Capital

· 2.8% shareholding
· ‌�A financial group developing investment banking, 

focusing on Hong Kong and China

Securities

Tien Phong Bank

· 19.9% shareholding
· ‌�A commercial bank whose major shareholder is the 

FPT Group, the largest IT company in the country

FPT Securities

· ‌�20.0% shareholding
· ‌�A major securities company of the FPT Group, the 
largest IT company in the country

Bank

Securities

BNI Securities

· ‌�25.0% shareholding
· ‌�A securities company of the BNI Group with the  

No. 4 bank in the country

Securities

Phnom Penh Commercial Bank

· 47.6% shareholding
· ‌�The first commercial bank run by a Japanese 
financial institution in the country

· ‌�SBI will hold a majority of up to 90%, upon approval 
from the Cambodian authorities

SBI Royal Securities

· 81.6% shareholding
· ‌�The only Japanese securities company in the country

Bank

Securities

Hyundai Swiss 2 Savings Bank

Hyundai Swiss 3 Savings Bank

Hyundai Swiss 4 Savings Bank

24.1% shareholding

69.8% shareholding

89.4% shareholding

Hyundai Swiss 
Savings Bank

100% shareholding

60.8% shareholding
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5-ALA is attracting attention  
at academic conferences
SBI Pharmaceuticals engages in the development of pharma-
ceuticals, health foods and other products utilizing the amino 
acid, 5-aminolevulinic acid (5-ALA). Various research projects 
concerning 5-ALA are being conducted at more than 90 uni-
versities and hospitals in Japan and abroad, and the company 
plans to continue expanding this research network. 
	 Examples of research and development involving 5-ALA 
include research on malaria at the University of Tokyo and the 
U.K.’s National Institute for Medical Research, research on 
metabolism improvers and diabetes at Kyoto Prefectural 
University and the University of Hawaii, and research on 
cancer diagnosis at the Tokyo Institute of Technology.
	 5-ALA is also attracting attention at academic confer-
ences. The 5-ALA and Porphyrin Research Society, an orga-
nization founded in May 2011 by researchers of porphyrin 
and 5-ALA, whose chairman is Professor Emeritus Ichiro 
Okura of the Tokyo Institute of Technology, has already held 
three symposiums.

	 In addition, a session concerning 5-ALA was held at the 
7th World Congress on Prevention of Diabetes and Its 
Complications, held in November 2012 in Madrid, Spain. 
	 In the Middle East, SBI Pharmaceuticals has made 
Bahrain its base of operations and plans sequential develop-
ment of 5-ALA related businesses, such as drug creation, clini-
cal research, manufacturing, and exporting. The reason for the 
emphasis on the Middle East is that Bahrain and other coun-
tries in the Middle East have an extremely high prevalence of 
diabetes patients, of three to four times that of Japan.
	 For this reason, diabetes treatment is a pressing issue, and 
in clinical research into diabetes involving 5-ALA, SBI 
Pharmaceuticals plans to begin multiple clinical research proj-
ects in collaboration with medical and research institutions, 
including the Bahrain Defense Force Royal Medical Service 
Hospital and Arabian Gulf University. The company is also 
cooperating with the Royal College of Surgeons in Ireland - 
Medical University of Bahrain and KING HAMAD 
UNIVERSITY HOSPITAL, concerning clinical research into 
photodynamic diagnosis of colorectal cancer using 5-ALA.

Projects in the pharmaceutical sector are 
underway in countries around the world
A number of projects are underway in the pharmaceutical 
sector in countries outside the Middle East as well, including 
development of a therapeutic agent for anemia in the U.K. and 
the U.S., contracted out to a contract research organization 
(CRO). In Phase I clinical testing (a safety trial) in the U.K., an 
administration trial has been completed and a report is being 
prepared. In Phase II clinical testing, scheduled to begin in the 
third quarter of FY2013, the company is considering applica-
tions for clinical trials for development as a pharmaceutical 
agent in multiple fields, including as a therapeutic agent for 

anemia. Once Phase II testing begins in the U.K., the com-
pany plans to begin clinical testing in the U.S., starting with a 
Phase II trial. 
	 SBI Pharmaceuticals is also making steady progress in 
obtaining approval from the regulatory authorities in a 
number of countries for health foods containing 5-ALA, in 
preparation for sales channel expansion.
	 Approval has been obtained for the sale of the health 
food NatuALA ONE from the local authorities in Bahrain and 
the UAE. Preparations are underway for the establishment of a 
joint venture company to sell 5-ALA products with Dawani 
Group Holdings, a major local distributor in Bahrain, as well 
as developing a sales structure in the UAE.

03
Accelerating Overseas Development for the 5-ALA Related Business

Innovation

Special Features
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	 SBI Pharmaceuticals plans to accelerate business devel-
opment in Asia as well as the Middle East. In the Philippines, 
it has obtained a certificate of product registration for 
NatuALA ONE from the local authorities with plans to begin 
sales within 2013, with a local partner that has a network of 
physicians. Preparations are proceeding to establish a joint 

venture company to sell 5-ALA products in China, and discus-
sions are underway for the development of the 5-ALA busi-
ness with major local pharmaceutical companies in South 
Korea, Malaysia, India and Indonesia.

BI Pharmaceuticals’ Bahrain Representative Office was established in October 2012 
to develop the sales of 5-ALA related products in the Middle East, conduct clinical 

trials in cooperation with universities, and eventually establish a 5-ALA production base. 
Although merely leading an ordinary life in an Islamic country, where the culture and life-
style is completely different from Japan, can be challenging, in the office, which consists of 
local employees with different work experiences and expatriate Japanese, all work 
together with the shared aspiration of popularizing 5-ALA in the Middle East, and this is 
highly stimulating. In such an environment, I hope to make some small individual contri-
bution to the entire effort.

Yusuke Asama
SBI Pharmaceuticals 
Bahrain Representative Office

Voice

40% investment in Chinese 
bio-venture Yian Biotech

China

• ‌�After the conclusion of a Phase Ⅰ clinical trial for a 
drug of 5-aminolevulinic acid hydrochloride to treat 
cancer chemotherapy-induced anemia in the U.K., 
planning start of a Phase Ⅱ study in the U.S.

• ‌�In the U.S. study on 5-ALA in relation to diabetes is 
in progress in the University of Hawaii

U.S.

Bahrain

German

Started a Phase Ⅰ clinical trial for 
a drug of 5-aminolevulinic acid 
hydrochloride to treat cancer 
chemotherapy-induced anemia

U.K.

20% investment in photonamic, 
a subsidiary of German drug 
company, medac GmbH

Started a clinical research in collaboration 
primarily with the Department of Diabetes at 
Bahrain Defense Force Royal Medical Service 
Hospital, the Arabian Gulf University Hospital

Worldwide Status of Pharmaceutical Projects and Activities

Special Features
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Review of Operations by Business Segment

Financial Services Business

In FY2012, the SBI Group integrated the former Brokerage & Investment Banking Business and 
Financial Services Business to form the Financial Services Business. By providing highly com-
petitive financial products and services that take maximum advantage of the Internet, a cus-
tomer base of over 15 million has been established.

Organizational Restructuring
In the year under review, for the purpose of sharing a common 
sales infrastructure to rigorously pursue synergies, the former 
Brokerage & Investment Banking Business and Financial 
Services Business was integrated to form the Financial Services 
Business. The Financial Services Business also includes SBI 
Mortgage, which was previously classified under the former 
Housing and Real Estate Business.
	 Additionally, the Group established SBI FINANCIAL 
SERVICES as an intermediate holding company for the 
Financial Services Business, and in September 2012 converted 
SBI Japannext from an equity-method affiliate to a consoli-
dated subsidiary. 
	 Furthermore, the Group offers asset management, insur-
ance, housing loans, and other products that would be difficult 
to market only via the Internet, as well as products for which 
customers require in person explanations from professional 
advisors.  S B I MON EY P LAZA has inherited S B I 
SECURITIES’ face-to-face division to form a one-stop 

Principal Companies

Intermediate Holding Company:
SBI FINANCIAL SERVICES

SBI SECURITIES

SBI Liquidity Market

SBI Japannext

SBI Holdings  
(Financial Services Business Division)

Morningstar Japan

SBI Sumishin Net Bank

SBI Insurance

SBI Mortgage

Major Group Companies’ Results
(Millions of yen)

FY2011 FY2012

SBI 
SECURITIES 
(JGAAP)

Operating revenue 39,738 43,401

Operating income 7,532 11,478

Net profit 5,645 6,733

SBI Liquidity 
Market 
(JGAAP)

Operating revenue 9,166 7,743

Operating income 1,905 1,512

Net profit 1,102 941

SBI 
Insurance 
(JGAAP)

Ordinary revenue 13,956 19,164

Ordinary profit (loss) (5,315) (7,543)

Net profit (loss) (5,449) (7,554)

SBI 
Mortgage 
(IFRSs)

Net operating revenue 9,224 11,527

Profit before income taxes 3,067 3,787

Profit for the year 1,757 2,340

SBI Sumishin 
Net Bank 
(JGAAP)

Ordinary revenue 34,629 40,204

Ordinary income 5,793 7,903

Net profit 5,158 4,779
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Review of Operations by Business Segment

face-to-face sales channel, and this sales network is being 
expanded through franchising.
	 By maximizing synergies among the three core businesses 
of securities, banking and insurance, the Financial Services 
Business will increase its pace of business growth by promptly 
responding to diversifying customer needs.

Financial Results for FY2012
Although the stock market in Japan remained weak from the 
start of the year under review, stock prices began to rise from 
November 2012. This uptrend, coupled with the easing of 
margin trading regulations in January 2013, led to an increased 
level of individual stock brokerage trading value on the three 
major markets (Tokyo, Osaka, and Nagoya) in the fourth quar-
ter ( January to March 2013) that was 2.4 times the level of the 
third quarter (October to December 2012), for a 38.4% year-

on-year increase in full-year trading value.
	 As a result, the Financial Services Business reported a 
FY2012 operating revenue of ¥113.3 billion, up 3.8% from the 
previous year, and a profit before income tax expense of ¥18.7 
billion, up 78.5% on an IFRSs basis, owing to its adoption 
during the fiscal year under review. Additionally, second-half 
operating revenue for the Financial Services Business was 
¥62.7 billion, up 23.9% from the first half (April to September 
2012), and profit before income tax expense was much higher 
at about 3.8 times, or ¥14.9 billion. 
	 With the stock market recovery leading to a dramatic 
increase in the customer base and number of transactions, in 
order to further increase customer satisfaction, for which the 
Financial Services Business has received high ratings from 
third party evaluation organizations, the trading systems will 
be upgraded and call centers strengthened to further enhance 
service levels.

Financial Services Business

Maximizing Group Synergies in Pursuit of Differentiation and 
Increased Competitiveness

Since starting its Internet trading services in 1999, SBI SECURITIES has established itself as the 
leader in the online securities industry, in terms of the number of accounts, stock-brokerage trad-
ing value share, and customers’ deposit assets, while keeping with the corporate mission of adher-
ing to the “Customer-centric Principle.”
	 Although the securities industry has faced an adverse business environment for the past few 
years, the environment began to improve at the end of 2012, partly as a result of rising stock 
prices coupled with the easing of margin trading regulations in January of this year. The Japanese 
version of the U.K.’s tax-exempt individual savings account system, called NISA, is scheduled to 
be introduced in January 2014, and a consequent increase in investment for long-term wealth 
building is expected. We regard this business environment as an excellent opportunity, and will 
endeavor to further expand our customer base and increase our competitiveness as well. 
	 To achieve this, we will proceed to further reinforce our Group synergies. Although we 
already provide services that draw on powerful synergies with SBI Sumishin Net Bank and the 
Group companies that provide securities-related services, we will work to maximize Group syner-
gies by further expanding service collaborations and mutual customer referrals. 
	 Whereas we already possess the best product offering in the online securities industry, we 
will focus our efforts to further expand and upgrade the product line, and will endeavor to differ-
entiate ourselves from our competitors by increasing the trading of foreign stocks, bonds, deriva-
tives, and other financial instruments.

Masato Takamura
Representative  
Director and President of 
SBI SECURITIES Co., Ltd.
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SBI SECURITIES’ Continued 
Diversification of Revenue Sources
SBI SECURITIES’ FY2012 consolidated results (based on 
JGAAP) for operating revenue was ¥43.4 billion, up 9.2% year-
on-year, operating income was ¥11.5 billion, up 52.4%, and net 
profit was ¥6.7 billion, up 19.3%.
	 The principal reasons for the growth in net profit lagging 
behind the growth in operating income were the recording of 
gains on sales of investment securities of ¥4.9 billion as extraor-
dinary income in FY2011, and an increase of ¥520 million in 
the reserve for financial products transaction liabilities, in con-
formity with the Financial Instruments and Exchange Law, 
reflecting a significant increase in stock trading value from the 
third quarter of FY2012 onward.
	 Specifically regarding the fourth quarter of FY2012, owing 
to the favorable market upturn from the end of 2012 and the 
easing of margin trading regulations in January 2013, financial 
results were particularly strong. Successful revenue diversifica-
tion, such as higher FX-related gains and investment trust fees 
resulted in an operating revenue increase of 52.3% quarter-on-
quarter, and an operating income and net profit increase of 
about 2.5 times and 2.0 times higher, respectively.
	 Full -year stock brokerage trading value at SBI 
SECURITIES was up 37.0% to ¥51 trillion, and brokerage 
commissions rose 17.0% year-on-year to ¥17.3 billion. 
Particularly in the fourth quarter, stock brokerage trading value 

and brokerage commissions rose sharply from the previous 
quarter, by 2.5 times and 1.8 times respectively, owing primar-
ily to the fourth quarter stock market upturn. 
	 The favorable market upturn from the end of 2012 and 
the easing of margin trading regulations in January 2013 
resulted in an increase in margin trading. The full-year finan-
cial revenue rose 8.2% to ¥13.0 billion, and for the fourth quar-
ter in particular, financial revenue showed a sharp quarter-on-
quarter increase of 26.1%. Outstanding open positions in 
margin trading at the end of the fourth quarter were 60.1% 
higher than in the previous quarter.
	 Full-year underwriting, offering and sales commissions were 
up 37.4% year-on-year to ¥2.2 billion. The investment trust bal-
ance reached a record high of ¥722.4 billion, and in the fourth 
quarter investment trust fees rose 17.5% from the previous quarter, 
and FX-related gains rose 35.0%, exceeding the growth rate up to 
the third quarter. The number of IPOs underwritten was 42, the 
highest in the industry (77.8% of the total number of IPOs).
	 Since the “Lehman Shock,” and the continuation of an 
adverse business environment, SBI SECURITIES has diversi-
fied its revenue sources through the expansion of product offer-
ings other than domestic equities, such as foreign exchange 
margin trading, investment trusts and foreign bonds. 
	 Compared to FY2005, when record-high profits were 
recorded in all profit categories, revenues from individual prod-
ucts have increased substantially: FX-related gains have risen 
by approximately 2.6 times, investment trust fees by about 9.6 
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Review of Operations by Business Segment

■ ‌�Customer Accounts at  
5 Online Brokers (As of March 31, 2013)

■ ‌�Stock Brokerage Trading Value ■ ‌�Commissions■ ‌�Customer Deposit Assets at  
5 Online Brokers (As of March 31, 2013)

Number of Accounts and Amount of Customer Deposit Assets 
at SBI SECURITIES

Stock Brokerage Trading Value and Commissions  
at SBI SECURITIES

Sources: Compiled by the Company from information on each company’s websites
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times, and bond trading gains by 55%, on a non-consolidated 
basis. During the same period, the contribution to operating 
revenue from brokerage commissions has fallen sharply from 
72% to 43%. These figures reflect the solidification of a revenue 
base that is more resistant to fluctuations in stock market prices.
	 Also, subsidiaries that are expected to generate powerful 
synergies with the securities business are steadily increasing their 
scale of operations. Japannext PTS, a proprietary trading system 
operated by SBI Japannext, which became a consolidated sub-
sidiary in the year under review, has experienced a surge in use 
by institutional and individual investors alike, resulting in a sharp 
increase in trading value. This was fueled by the easing of regula-
tions on take-over bids at the end of October 2012 and the 
upturn in the stock market since the end of 2012. The company 
attained profitability in the first quarter of FY2012, and recorded 
a full-year operating income of ¥230 million. Japannext PTS has 
developed into a PTS with participation by many leading securi-
ties firms, with the number of participating companies increasing 
from 16 to 20 during the year under review. In addition, two for-
eign-affiliated companies and several Japanese securities firms 
are expected to newly participate. In the interest of increasing the 
societal importance of Japannext PTS, a public share offering of 
SBI Japannext is under consideration, as well as a possible sale of 
a stake in the company to a strategic partner.
	 The establishment in May 2012 of SBI FXTRADE as a 
pure-play FX trading services provider has successfully contrib-
uted to the trading volume of SBI Liquidity Market, which 
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Deposits and the Number of Accounts at  
SBI Sumishin Net Bank

SBI Liquidity Market’s Trading Volume 
(versus Click-365)

provides a market function for FX trading. The company’s 
share of overall OTC FX trading rose from 5.6% in FY2011 to 
11.7% in March 2013 (on a single-month basis).

SBI Sumishin Net Bank’s Steady Business 
Scope Expansion through Synergies  
with SBI SECURITIES
Since it began operations in September 2007, SBI Sumishin 
Net Bank, a joint venture between SBI Holdings and Japan’s 
largest trust bank, Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank, has endeav-
ored to realize an Internet full-banking business that provides 
easier-to-use and more competitive products and services than 
any of its competitors on a “24 hours a day, 365 days a year” 
basis. Owing to the support of many customers, in March 2013 
the number of accounts reached 1.64 million, and SBI Sumishin 
Net Bank became the first pure-play Internet bank with depos-
its surpassing ¥2.6 trillion. Approximately 35% of customers 
who open a new account with SBI SECURITIES also open an 
account with SBI Sumishin Net Bank, providing a synergistic 
deposit increase contribution from SBI SECURITIES.
	 The bank’s mainstay loan products are the housing loans 
from affiliated real estate companies, as well as web-based hous-
ing loans provided as a banking agency of the Sumitomo Mitsui 
Trust Bank. The total balance of both products has surpassed 
the ¥1.2 trillion mark, and other loans are also increasing 

Source: Tokyo Financial Exchange information

Exceeds Click-365 
from November 2011 
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Establishing and Solidifying  
Our Position as the No. 1  
Pure-play Internet Bank

Despite starting operations in 2007 as a latecomer in 
the Internet banking industry, SBI Sumishin Net Bank 
has established a position as the leader in the Internet 
banking industry, both in terms of deposit balance and 
loan balance. I attribute this result to the major contri-
bution of synergies between our two parent compa-
nies. For instance, the expansion of SBI Hybrid 
Deposits through the collaboration with the SBI 
Group company SBI SECURITIES, and the expan-
sion of web-based housing loans provided as a bank-
ing agency of Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank, as well as 
efforts to enhance customer convenience through our 
own initiatives grounded in the “Customer-centric 
Principle.” These efforts have been well received by 
customers, and SBI Sumishin Net Bank enjoys strong 
support from our large customer base. We have been 
selected as No. 1 in the banking industry for four con-
secutive years, in the Japan Customer Satisfaction 
Index ( JCSI).
	 We are continuing to work to develop new prod-
ucts and services that are aligned with our customers’ 
needs. As an example, we have recently released Mr. 
Mokuteki Loans, personal loans tailored to specific life 
events, and Angelina housing loans for women. 
	 We will continue our efforts to establish steady 
profits and customer growth, to promote stabilization 
and diversification of investments, while at the same 
time working to further enhance customer conve-
nience, in order to solidify our position as the No. 1 
Internet bank.

Katsuya Kawashima
Representative Director and 
President of SBI Sumishin  
Net Bank, Ltd.

steadily. Internet loans (personal loans modified in November 
2010 that carry an annual interest rate of 3.5%, the lowest level 
in the industry) increased by approximately 1.3 times in a single 
year, with the balance reaching ¥49.4 billion as of March 31, 
2013. The cumulative total of auto loans increased by approxi-
mately 1.8 times in one year to ¥154.7 billion.
	 SBI Holdings sold its entire shareholding in SBI Credit, 
which offers auto loans through a network of 14,000 affiliates (as 
of March 31, 2013), primarily used car dealers, to an investment 
fund operated by a Marubeni Corporation subsidiary. 
However, business collaboration has continued, and SBI 
Sumishin Net Bank provides funds for their loans.
	 In terms of service development efforts, the bank is work-
ing to improve its customer convenience. For instance, it has 
begun offering a regular automatic deposit service that enables 
customers to automatically transfer funds each month to their 
SBI accounts from accounts at other banks, and has begun 
providing smartphone applications for foreign currency depos-
its and FX trading. 
	 As a result of these activities, in FY2012 ordinary revenue 
was ¥40.2 billion, up 16.1% year-on-year, and ordinary income 
was ¥7.9 billion, up 36.4%. Although net profit decreased by 7.3% 
to ¥4.7 billion, this is attributable to the elimination of cumulative 
losses and the start of income tax payments from the fourth quar-
ter of FY2011. (All financial results are based on JGAAP.) 
	 On July 25, 2013 deposits surpassed the ¥3.0 trillion mark, 
indicating that SBI Sumishin Net Bank is off to a favorable start 
in FY2013.

SBI Sumishin Net Bank’s Cumulative Total of Housing Loans
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Developing a Business Base that  
Generates Stable Earnings

Since its founding in January 2008, SBI Insurance has offered its customers auto insurance 
premiums at an affordable rate. This was achieved through the rigorous implementation of a 
low-cost operation that takes maximum advantage of the Internet, and the accumulated know-
how and experience of the SBI Group in the online financial services business. Under our 
management policy of “winning customer trust,” we have focused on qualitative improve-
ments in services, such as supporting our customers when accidents occur. As a result, we 
have grown to over 540,000 policyholders as of March 31, 2013.
	 In the fiscal year ended March 31, 2013, we implemented a series of measures to boost 
profitability, and effectively achieved a combined ratio (the ratio of the sum of insurance pre-
mium payment and expense to insurance premium income) below 100%. We will seek further 
operating efficiency and improvements in the operating expense ratio and loss ratio, by pro-
moting rigorous risk management and simultaneously focusing on service level improve-
ments, by means including expansion and upgrading of the claims support structure.
	 Unlike other financial businesses, nonlife insurance is a business that requires a length of 
time to become profitable. Nevertheless, our management and employees are mounting a 
united effort to build a business base that generates stable earnings, with the objective of 
achieving a full-year profitability in the fiscal year ending March 31, 2016 and completing an 
IPO in the following year.

Hiroyoshi Kido
Representative  
Director and President of  
SBI Insurance Co., Ltd.

SBI Insurance’s Number of Contracts  
and Insurance Premium Income  
Increases at a Rapid Pace
SBI Insurance’s mainstay product is auto insurance. Including 
contracts of customers switching from other insurers, the 
number of contracts is increasing at a rapid pace, and conse-
quently insurance premium income is also rapidly increasing.
	 Auto insurance policies in force increased by 37.7% year-
on-year as of March 31, 2013 to approximately 540,000 (com-
pletion and receipt of insurance premiums basis, excluding 
expired or cancelled policies), and the compound annual 
growth rate reached 89.0% for the period from March 31, 2009 
to March 31, 2013.
	 Insurance premium income rose correspondingly by 
36.5% year-on-year to ¥19.5 billion. The average rate of 
growth from FY2008 to FY2012 was 94.0%, a pace exceeding 
the rate of growth in the number of contracts. 

SBI Insurance’s Number of Auto Insurance Contracts
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	 As Phase I of measures to increase profitability, SBI 
Insurance terminated the reinsurance agreement with Aioi 
Insurance (currently Aioi Nissay Dowa Insurance) effective 
March 31, 2011, as well as the outsourcing agreement effective 
March 31, 2012. For Phase II, the company has sequentially 
implemented measures to further reduce business expenses 
and improve the loss ratio. Specific measures include reducing 
outsourcing costs by providing in-house accident response 
operations on holidays and outside regular business hours, 
changing call center operating hours, strengthening brick-and-
mortar sales channels through collaboration with SBI 
MONEY PLAZA, reducing postage costs through reduction 
of paper use and a review of business forms, and reducing 
advertising and promotion expenses through the reinforce-
ment of targeted marketing.
	 As a result of these measures, the combined ratio (the 
ratio of the sum of insurance premium payment and expense 
to insurance premium income), an index reflecting profitability 
of nonlife insurance companies, was 103.1% in FY2012. 
However, the combined ratio is 99.2% when the impact of a 
¥760 million cash settlement concerning reinsurance with Aioi 
Insurance is excluded, so the company has effectively achieved 
a combined ratio of below 100%.
	 Although SBI Insurance recorded a loss before income 
tax expense of ¥5.0 billion for the consolidated financial 
results for FY2012 (on an IFRSs basis), this was mainly attrib-
utable to an increase in the underwriting reserves that 

accompanies the growth of insurance premium income. The 
underwriting reserve is a reserve that must be set aside for a 
certain period as a source of payment for insurance claims that 
increases in proportion to the amount of insurance premium 
income. For this reason, in the insurance business, during the 
start-up period of rapid growth in insurance premium income, 
the financial burden of the underwriting reserve increases, 
leading to an increase in accounting loss.
	 However, the underwriting reserve is recorded as a debt, 
and the entire amount is not paid out as cash. SBI Insurance’s 
operating cash flow in the year under review was a positive 
¥190 million, the second consecutive year of positive cash 
flow.

SBI MONEY PLAZA Achieves 
Profitability in Its First Year of Operation.
SBI MONEY PLAZA, which began operations in June 2012 
in a reorganization of the SBI Group’s face-to-face businesses, 
engages in a nationwide operation of SBI MONEY PLAZA 
shops, a face-to-face channel that handles securities, insurance, 
and housing loans as a common infrastructure of the Financial 
Services Business. As a result of a sharp increase in sales in the 
securities business since the end of 2012, supported by the 
uptrend in the stock market, the company eliminated its cumu-
lative loss for the first two quarters and posted operating 
income of ¥36 million for FY2012, achieving a full-year profit-

Combined  
ratio = Operating 

expenses ratio + Net loss  
ratio

FY2010 175.9% 82.3% 93.6%

FY2012 103.1% 33.4% 69.8%

When settlement money of ¥760 million concerning 
reinsurance with Aioi Insurance is excluded

FY2012
(Adjusted) 99.2% 29.4% 69.8%

Combined Ratio Improvement at SBI Insurance SBI MONEY PLAZA’s Operating Revenue
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ability in its first year of operation. 
	 Going forward, in addition to the brokerage business that 
has been a foundation for the company, the insurance and 
housing loan businesses will be thoroughly strengthened, so 
that a more stable profit structure which is resistant to the fluc-
tuations in the business environment may be established.

Steady Growth from Other Businesses
SBI Mortgage, which offers housing loans including “Flat 35” 
long-term, fixed-rate housing loans in cooperation with the 
Japan Housing Finance Agency, recorded profit before 
income tax expense of ¥3.8 billion, up 23.5% year-on-year 
(IFRSs basis). The company has captured the highest share of 

“Flat 35” loans from amongst more than 330 financial institu-
tions, including major banks, that offer these loans (as 
announced at the end of March 2013 by the Japan Housing 
Finance Agency) for a third consecutive year (information 
compiled by SBI Mortgage). The cumulative total of housing 
loans surpassed the ¥2 trillion mark in May 2013 and contin-
ues to grow.
	 Morningstar Japan, which provides rating information on 
investment trusts and other financial products and websites, 
posted a record-high ordinary income of ¥860 million (based 
on JGAAP) for FY2012.
	 In addition, SBI Holdings operates InsWeb and E-LOAN, 
the largest financial comparison websites in Japan, and these 
businesses also continue to contribute to earnings as well.

Business Model of SBI Mortgage

SBI Mortgage “Flat 35” market share of the total number loans issued
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In the Asset Management Business, as a “New Industry Creator” the SBI Group makes focused 
investments in Japan’s next-generation growth industries, including IT, biotechnology, environ-
ment and energy, and financial services. Also, with the trust and brand reputation that has been 
established through past performance, alliances are being formed with prominent local partners 
to accelerate investments in high growth emerging market countries.

Financial Results for FY2012
The Asset Management Business invests in venture companies, 
primarily in the IT, biotechnology, environment and energy, 
and financial sectors, both domestically and internationally.
	 In the Asset Management Business, SBI Investment and 
SBI Capital established SBI Capital Management as an inter-
mediate holding company by jointly implementing a stock 
transfer. The establishment of an intermediate holding com-
pany enables the creation of a more flexible investment struc-
ture for the efficient and uniform management and 
procurement of funds, including centralized funds and foreign 
exchange management. 
	 In FY2012, the Asset Management Business recorded 
operating revenue of ¥32.2 billion and profit before income 
tax expense of ¥5.5 billion, down 43.2% and 69.6% year-on-
year, respectively.
	 The primary reason for these results was the recent adop-
tion of IFRSs. Under IFRSs, operational investment securities 
held, whether listed or unlisted, are revalued at fair value each 

Stock Market Trends

Foreign Exchange Market Trends

March 31, 
2012

September 30, 
2012

March 31, 
2013 

Change (%)

September 30, 
2012 vs. 

March 31, 2013

US $ 82.87 77.96 94.22 +20.9

EUR 110.56 100.21 120.76 +20.5

CNY 13.16 12.41 15.17 +22.2

March 31, 
2012

September 30, 
2012

March 31, 
2013 

Change (%)

September 30, 
2012 vs. 

March 31, 2013

Nikkei 225 10,083.56 8,870.16 12,397.91 +39.8

NYSE 8,206.93 8,251.00 9,107.05 +10.4

Shanghai SE 2,262.79 2,086.17 2,236.62 +7.2

Principal Companies

Intermediate Holding Company:
SBI Capital Management

SBI Investment

SBI CAPITAL

SBI Asset Management

SBI VEN CAPITAL

(1 currency unit = amount in yen)
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quarter. Valuation gains and losses are recorded as operating 
revenue, even if there is no actual sale of assets, and an equal 
amount is recognized as operating income or loss and profit or 
loss before income tax expense. For this reason, operating rev-
enue and profit before income tax expense may fluctuate sub-
stantially, according to the market environment at the end of 
each quarter. 
	 Also, companies that are acquired for investment devel-
opment purposes that are deemed as controlled entities are 
consolidated, so the financial results of such companies are 
included in the Asset Management Business results.

Market Upturn Leads to Sharply Higher 
Revenues and Profits in the Second Half
In FY2012, the business environment changed completely from 
the first half (April to September 2012) to the second half 
(October 2012 to March 2013), as a result of the dramatic 
changes in the market environment. Comparison of stock 
market indices around the world at the end of September 2012 
and the end of March 2013 shows that the Nikkei Stock 
Average, NYSE Composite Index and SSE Composite Index 
rose 39.8%, 10.4% and 7.2%, respectively. A similar comparison 

Country Partners Investment capital

China

Tsinghua Holdings (Company of the Tsinghua University) 34.5 million U.S. dollars

Peking University Beida Jade Bird Group (Strategic investment arm of Peking University) 100 million U.S. dollars

Fudan Forward (Fudan University-owned China’s first university-affiliated listed company) Offshore: 33.5 million U.S. dollars
Onshore: 18 million U.S. dollars

Shanghai Yidian Holding (Large state-owned information company directly under the Shanghai 
Municipal Government) 33 million U.S. dollars

China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd. (Major general securities company in China), 
Resource Capital China Ltd. (China’s first private management investment company), 
China CITIC Bank Corporation Ltd. (CITIC Group-owned commercial bank)

Offshore: 20.5 million U.S. dollars 
Onshore: 10 million U.S. dollars

Hong Kong Kingston Financial Group (Major financial group in Hong Kong) 100 million U.S. dollars

Taiwan Founder of a Taiwanese IT company 22.5 million U.S. dollars

Taiwan / 
Hong Kong

Shin Kong Group (Major financial group in Taiwan)
Nan Fung Group (Major real estate developer in Hong Kong) 18 million U.S. dollars

Korea SBI Investment KOREA (Equity-method affiliated company in which the Company holds 43.9% of 
shares. Shares listed on the KOSDAQ) 57 million U.S. dollars

Singapore TEMASEK (Investment company for the Singaporean government) 100 million U.S. dollars

Vietnam FPT (Vietnam’s largest high-tech company) 75.5 million U.S. dollars

Malaysia PNB Equity Resource Corporation 
(Malaysian governmental investment management company) 50 million U.S. dollars

Brunei Brunei Darussalam, Ministry of Finance 59.5 million U.S. dollars

India

Edelweiss Financial Services (Integrated financial services company in India) 100 million U.S. dollars

Nirvana Venture Advisors (Founding family of Patni Computer Systems) Offshore: 15 million U.S. dollars 
Onshore: 15 million U.S. dollars

Mahindra Satyam (Large IT service company in India) 50 million U.S. dollars

Abu Dhabi Invest AD (Subsidiary of the Abu Dhabi Investment Council)
75 million U.S. dollars

100 million U.S. dollars

Russia IFC METROPOL (Major integrated financial group in Russia) 100 million U.S. dollars

Netherlands FMO (Bilateral private sector development bank in the Netherlands) Up to 60-125 million U.S. dollars

U.S. Jefferies Group (Major U.S. securities company)
50 million U.S. dollars

150 million U.S. dollars

Outline of the SBI Group’s Overseas JV Funds

* Amount of investment capital in the local currency are calculated to U.S. dollar at the rate of May 31, 2013.
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of foreign exchange rates shows a striking yen depreciation 
trend, with the value of the U.S. dollar, euro, and the yuan rising 
against the yen by 20.9%, 20.5%, and 22.2%, respectively.
	 Owing to this favorable turn in the market environment, 
as well as to the steadily increasing corporate values of prom-
ising investee companies, the performance of the Asset 
Management Business improved in the second half, despite a 
substantial reduction in the book value of Hyundai Swiss 
Savings Bank when it was made a consolidated subsidiary. 
Revenues and profits alike rose sharply in the second half 
from the first half level, with operating revenue increasing by 
35.7% to ¥18.5 billion and profit before income tax expense 
rising tenfold to ¥5.0 billion.

Gradual Recovery of the IPO Market  
in Japan
In the IPO market in Japan, the number of IPOs in FY2012 
rose by 17 from the previous fiscal year to 54. Although much 
lower than the 99 IPOs in FY2007 before the financial crisis 
triggered by the collapse of Lehman Brothers, the domestic 

IPO market has entered a gradual recovery phase since bot-
toming out in FY2009.
	 In FY2012, 12 investee companies of the SBI Group trans-
acted IPO and M&A deals. Of these, there were 4 domestic 
IPOs, 5 overseas IPOs and 3 M&As. One example is Euglena, 
a company that has attracted tremendous media attention as an 
environmental venture company, that listed its shares on the 
Tokyo Stock Exchange’s Mothers Market in December 2012. 
Euglena is engaged in businesses including the manufacture 
and sale of food with health-promoting benefits made using the 
microalga euglena, as well as the R&D of biofuels made from 
euglena and euglena-related environmental technologies. 
Another example is Tama Home, which has achieved rapid 
growth in the low-priced, custom-built house contracting, and 
detached house subdivision and condominium businesses. It 
listed its shares on the First Section of the Tokyo Stock 
Exchange in March 2013. 
	 In addition, the Company’s subsidiary SBI Mortgage 
was listed on the KOSPI Market of the Korea Exchange in 
April 2012, and SBI AXES was listed on the KOSDAQ 
Market of the Korea Exchange in December 2012.

Results of IPO and M&A Deals on Investment Companies in FY2012

Number of 
companies Company Date IPO / M&A Business Head 

office

Japan:

9 companies

Overseas:

3 companies

SBI Mortgage Co., Ltd. April 2012 IPO 
(KOSPI)

Provision of housing loans, insurance agency business Japan

Modacom Co., Ltd. September 
2012

IPO 
(KOSDAQ)

Development and manufacture of WIMAX routers Korea

Mediaflag Inc. September 
2012

IPO 
(TSE Mothers)

Retail and in-store marketing specialist: mystery shopper surveys, sales outsourcing, 
business systems, etc. Japan

SBI AXES Co., Ltd. December 
2012

IPO 
(KOSDAQ)

Provision of credit card settlement services Japan

Syuppin Co., Ltd. December 
2012

IPO 
(TSE Mothers)

Purchase and sale of used products and sale of new products via the Internet Japan

Euglena Co., Ltd. December 
2012

IPO 
(TSE Mothers)

Manufacture and sale of food with health-promoting benefits made using the  
microalga euglena, R&D of euglena-related bio-fuel and environmental technologies Japan

Tokyo Stock Exchange 
Group, Inc. 

January 
2013 M&A Management of financial instruments exchanges Japan

i-SENS, Inc. January 
2013

IPO 
(KOSDAQ)

Development and manufacture of blood glucose meters Korea

All Japan Solution, INC February 
2013 M&A Sale to corporate customers of office equipment, LED devices and materials,  

mobile phones, and other products Japan

Support For Business 
Creation inc. 

February 
2013 M&A Operation of the Dokuritsu-shien.net business creation site, sale of mobile phones Japan

Global Display Co., Ltd. February 
2013

IPO 
(KOSDAQ)

Glass processing and surface processing of touch panels, solar cell panels,  
and other products Korea

Tama Home Co., Ltd. March 
2013

IPO 
(TSE 1st Section)

Custom-built home construction contracting and planning, development,  
and sale of home and condominium subdivisions Japan

Review of Operations by Business Segment

32 SBI Holdings   Annual Report 2013



Seventeen IPOs and M&As  
Anticipated in FY2013
The portfolio investment amount in FY2012 was ¥30.6 bil-
lion, which was invested in 101 companies. The assets under 
management as of March 31, 2013 was ¥174.8 billion, and the 
total number of investees amounted to 348 companies. Such 
investments have kept the SBI Group one of the most active 
venture capital companies in Japan. By region, Japan 
accounted for ¥98.4 billion, or 56%, of the SBI Group’s total 
assets under management, and overseas markets accounted 
for ¥76.5 billion, or 44%. 
	 The number of companies scheduled to transact IPO 
and M&A deals in FY2013 are expected to increase by 5 year-
on-year to 17 in total. The following is an overview of two of 
those companies.
	 ReproCELL, a bio-venture company listed on JASDAQ 
in June 2013, obtained its first license from Professor Shinya 
Yamanaka of Kyoto University, who received the Nobel Prize 
in Physiology or Medicine for the development of the iPS 
cell. The company engages in businesses including the sale of 

ES and iPS cell research reagents, and contract drug discov-
ery screening and toxicity testing using ES and iPS cells. The 
SBI Group subsidiaries and funds managed by the SBI Group 
own 18.1% of ReproCELL (as of May 31, 2013).
	 Acucela Inc. is a company launched in the U.S. by a 
Japanese physician that is targeting a 2013 IPO. Acucela is 
developing a new drug efficacious in the treatment of the dry 
form of age-related macular degeneration, and has already 
reached the final stage of clinical testing. According to the 
company’s CEO, Dr. Ryo Kubota, if the company is success-
ful in this drug discovery project, it expects to be able to save 
120 million people from blindness around the world.
	 Acucela is also developing therapeutics for dry eye and 
glaucoma, with Otsuka Pharmaceuticals as its product partner. 
The SBI Group owns 16.9% of Acucela Inc. (as of May 31, 
2013), and is the second largest shareholder after founder Dr. 
Ryo Kubota.
	 The SBI Group will continue to make active investments in 
such promising companies in Japan, as well as internationally.

Developing 21st Century Core Industries  
as a “New Industry Creator”

Under the management philosophy of becoming a leading company in the creation and incu-
bation of core industries of the 21st century as a “New Industry Creator,” SBI Investment is 
focusing on investments in private equities in next-generation core industries, such as the 
Internet and biotechnology, and we are expanding our investment scope into areas including 
media, image, and environment-related sectors. The cumulative number of investee companies 
in Japan and abroad was 684 companies as of March 31, 2013, including 131 exits by means of 
IPOs and mergers. The exit ratio of 19.2% reflects a high level of investment performance.
	 A key characteristic of SBI Investment is that we engage in “full hands-on” investment, 
by effectively utilizing the enterprise resources of the SBI Group to provide various manage-
ment resources that investee companies lack, and actively participating in their management.
	 We are working to increase the corporate value of the investee companies, by providing 
them with not only risk capital, but also comprehensive support, including assistance in sales, 
establishment of a framework for strengthening corporate governance and dispatch of person-
nel to their boards of directors.
	 As a venture capital firm capable of taking a full hands-on approach, SBI Investment will 
continue to invest strategically in private equities to cultivate next-generation industries.

Takashi Nakagawa
Representative  
Director and President of  
SBI Investment Co., Ltd.
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The SBI Group regards biotechnology as a next-generation core industry. In addition to invest-
ing in venture companies in this field, the Group is directly engaged in the operations of bio-
technology-related businesses, through the operations of SBI Pharmaceuticals, SBI ALApromo, 
and SBI Biotech. In FY2012, the Group made the Biotechnology-related Business one of its 
three core business segments. In particular, the Group positioned the 5-ALA related businesses 
as its most promising growth area, pursuing global business development of 5-ALA in the fields 
of cosmetics, health foods and drug research and development.

Manufacturing and Marketing Approvals 
Obtained in Japan for the First 
Pharmaceutical Agent Containing 5-ALA
The SBI Group has commercialized health foods and cosmet-
ics that contain 5-aminolevulinic acid (5-ALA), which are 
domestically distributed by SBI ALApromo. These products 
already enjoy a favorable reputation in the market. For exam-
ple, in its 2012 quality awards competition, Monde Selection 
awarded health foods NatuALA-Bio and NatuALA-BCAA the 
gold prize in the Food Supplements category, and ALAPlus 
Essential Lotion and ALAPlus Moisturizing Cream the silver 
prize in the Facial Products category.
	 The Group is also actively conducting research on the 
pharmaceutical potential of 5-ALA. In March 2013, 
ALAGLIO®, an orally-administered in vivo diagnostic agent 
used during the surgical resection of malignant glioma, 
became the first pharmaceutical agent containing 5-ALA to 
receive manufacturing and marketing approval from Japan’s 
Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare. ALAGLIO® is 

Japan’s first orally-administered brain tumor diagnostic agent 
for use during surgery.
	 In addition, clinical trials in multiple fields are underway 
or in preparation in Japan, the U.S. and Europe, with some 
conducted in partnership with an overseas contract research 
organization (CRO). Since January 2012, a consortium of five 
universities headed by Kochi University has been conducting 
a physician-led clinical study on an intraoperative diagnostic 
agent for use in bladder cancer surgery. A Phase III clinical 
trial was completed at the end of 2012, with the goal of obtain-
ing approval for the agent during the second half of 2014. A 
Phase I clinical trial for a therapeutic agent for anemia that 
occurs as a side effect of chemotherapy began in the U.K. in 
December 2012, has already concluded. Following the start of 
a Phase II clinical trial in the U.K., parallel clinical trials in the 
U.S. are planned, starting with a Phase II trial. At that juncture, 
applications for clinical trials for development as a pharmaceu-
tical agent in multiple fields will be considered.

Principal Companies

SBI Biotech

SBI Pharmaceuticals

SBI ALApromo
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Development of the 5-ALA Business in the 
Middle East with Bahrain as the Base
SBI Pharmaceuticals has made Bahrain its base of operations in 
the Middle East for the 5-ALA business and is conducting multi-
ple clinical research projects involving 5-ALA, notably in the 
field of diabetes.
	 In April 2012, SBI Pharmaceuticals reached a basic agree-
ment for a close partnership with the government of Bahrain 
to promote the 5-ALA business in Bahrain and other Gulf 
Cooperation Council (GCC) countries.
	 SBI Pharmaceuticals has concluded a basic agreement 
with Mumtalakat Holding Company, a Bahrain sovereign 
fund, concerning collaboration in the 5-ALA business, princi-
pally in the pharmaceutical field, and plans to establish a 
5-ALA manufacturing base in Bahrain for the purpose of 
exporting to neighboring countries in the Middle East. The 
company has also agreed to establish a joint venture company 
to locally market health foods and cosmetics with Dawani 
Group Holdings, a major local distributor. Furthermore, the 
company plans to jointly engage in clinical research with the 
Bahrain Defense Force Royal Medical Service Hospital, Royal 
College of Surgeons in Ireland - Medical University of 
Bahrain, and the Arabian Gulf University.

Quark Pharmaceuticals of the U.S. becomes 
a Consolidated Subsidiary of SBI Biotech
SBI Biotech primarily engages in projects to discover drugs for 
cancer and autoimmune diseases in partnership with overseas 
bio-ventures and research institutes. 
	 In the field of immunomodulator therapy (nucleotide 
drugs) R&D, SBI Biotech has partnered with Changchun Huapu 
Biotechnology Co. Ltd., a drug development venture originating 
at the Jilin University, China, and is conducting Phase I clinical 
trials at a number of U.S. universities. The company is also con-
ducting clinical trials (Phase II) in the U.S. with melanoma 
patients, in partnership with Baylor Research Institute, and con-
ducting clinical research in Japan with Kyoto University 
Hospital in preparation for clinical trials.
	 In December 2012, SBI Biotech made Quark Pharmaceuticals, 
Inc., a U.S. bio-venture company, a wholly owned subsidiary. This 
move has added Quark’s multiple drug discovery pipelines, under 
potential contingency fee agreements with leading global pharma-
ceutical companies, to SBI Biotech’s existing projects. 
	 SBI Biotech is currently preparing for a potential 2014 IPO.

Establishing the 5-ALA Related 
Business as a Major Source of 
Earnings for the SBI Group

5-ALA (5-aminolevulinic acid), the raw material of plant 
chlorophyll and human and animal heme, is intricately 
involved in energy production in plants and animals. In 
1999, a Cosmo Oil research team led by Toru Tanaka 
(currently CTO of SBI Pharmaceuticals) established a 
method for mass producing 5-ALA, which led to research 
in numerous other fields. While Cosmo Oil commercial-
ized plant fertilizers containing 5-ALA, the SBI Group 
focused on the possibilities of 5-ALA for the human 
body, and jointly established SBI Pharmaceuticals (SBI’s 
shareholding: 73.2% as of June 30, 2013) with Cosmo Oil 
in 2008. To date, SBI Pharmaceuticals has commercial-
ized supplements, cosmetics and other products that con-
tain 5-ALA, and in March 2013 received manufacturing 
and marketing approval for ALAGLIO®, the first phar-
maceutical agent made containing 5-ALA. 
	 In overseas developments, SBI Pharmaceuticals has 
made Bahrain its pharmaceuticals R&D base for the 
Middle East, and in October 2012 opened a Bahrain 
Representative Office. We are steadily developing a busi-
ness structure in Bahrain, in collaboration with the gov-
ernment of Bahrain and other local partners.
	 Research involving 5-ALA is being conducted in 
various fields. Rather than adopting an ordinary venture 
business model of licensing out products during develop-
ment, we are involved in the creation of a new frame-
work in which we are deeply involved until the final 
stage of development. We will continue to be actively 
engaged in global developments, and will work to make 
the 5-ALA related business a major source of earnings for 
the SBI Group.

Satofumi Kawata
Representative  
Director and COO of  
SBI Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd.
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2012

TOPICS

April

l	� Basic agreement reached between SBI Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd. and 
the government of Bahrain to promote the 5-ALA business

l	� SBI Mortgage Co., Ltd. listed on the KOSPI Market of the Korea 
Exchange

May

l	� The First SBI Global Strategic Conference, attended by representa-
tives of the SBI Group’s overseas partners, was held in Hong Kong

l	� Implemented a buy-back of 377,857 shares at a cost of approximately 
¥2.0 billion (buy-back period: May 25 to June 13, 2012)

l	� SBI FXTRADE Co., Ltd., a foreign exchange trading company, com-
menced business

l	� Jointly established a fund with Edelweiss Financial Services Ltd., an 
integrated financial services company in India, to invest in small and 
mid-cap listed companies in India

l	� Reached a basic agreement with Netherlands Development Finance 
Company Financierings-Maatschappij voor Ontwikkelingslanden 
(FMO) to jointly establish a fund to invest primarily in financial insti-
tutions in Asia

June

l	� Established SBI Capital Management Co., Ltd. as an intermediate 
holding company for the Asset Management Business and SBI 
FINANCIAL SERVICES Co., Ltd. as an intermediate holding com-
pany for the Financial Services Business

l	� Implemented reorganization of face-to-face sales businesses centering 
on SBI MONEY PLAZA Co., Ltd. and transferred the face-to-face 
division of SBI SECURITIES Co., Ltd. to SBI MONEY PLAZA 
Co., Ltd.

July

l	� Established PT. Strategi Bisnis Infoyasa, a joint venture company 
involved in the financial products comparison service business in 
Indonesia, together with PT. CORFINA MITRAKREASI

l	� Completed the transference of the Company’s stake in the Wall Street 
Journal Japan K.K. to Dow Jones & Company, Inc. of the U.S.

September

l	� SBI Japannext Co., Ltd. converted from an equity-method affiliate to 
a wholly owned subsidiary

l	� Transferred all shares of SBI Capital Solutions Co., Ltd. and the SBI 
Group’s equity interest in funds managed by it

A branch of SBI MONEY PLAZA 
Co., Ltd. inherited face-to-face sales 
businesses from SBI SECURITIES 
Co., Ltd.

May

The first SBI Global Strategic 
Conference held in Hong Kong

Sep

An office of the newly converted 
wholly owned subsidiary,  
SBI Japannext Co., Ltd.

Apr

Signing ceremony between SBI 
Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd. and the 
government of Bahrain

Jun
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2013

TOPICS

October

l	� Implemented a 10-for-1 stock split

l	� SBI Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd. established the Bahrain Representative 
Office

l	� SBI Searchina Co., Ltd. and SBI Asset Management Co., Ltd. were 
made subsidiaries of Morningstar Japan K.K.

November

l	� Reached an agreement to acquire a 20% stake in photonamic GmbH 
& Co. KG, which engages in pharmaceutical development using 
5-ALA in Europe

l	� SBI Insurance Co., Ltd. received three stars, the highest rank, in 
Support Portal (Official Website) Category of HDI-Japan’s Call-
Center Contact Ranking

l	� Subscribed to unsecured convertible bonds with stock acquisition 
rights issued by WebCrew Inc. and transferred a portion of shares in 
SBI Insurance Co., Ltd. to WebCrew

December

l	� SBI AXES Co., Ltd. listed on the KOSDAQ Market of the Korea 
Exchange, and established a Korean subsidiary

l	� Quark Pharmaceuticals, Inc. was made a subsidiary of SBI Biotech 
Co., Ltd.

l	� The investment fund management company established with 
Shanghai Yidian Holding (Group) Company became the first non-
Chinese company to be approved under the Renminbi Qualified 
Foreign Limited Partner (RQFLP) program

January

l	� SBI Sumishin Net Bank, Ltd. ranked No. 1 in the banking industry 
for the fourth consecutive year in the 2012 JCSI ( Japan Customer 
Satisfaction Index)

l	� SBI SECURITIES Co., Ltd. received three stars, the highest rank, in 
HDI-Japan’s Call-Center Contact Ranking, which rates company call 
centers, and Support Portal Ranking, which rates websites, in a row

March

l	� SBI Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd. signed a basic agreement with Arabian Gulf 
University of Bahrain for the joint clinical research concerning diabetes 
and reached a basic agreement to conduct joint clinical research with the 
Royal College of Surgeons in Ireland-Medical University of Bahrain.

l	� SBI Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd. signed an agreement with Dawani 
Group Holdings of Bahrain to establish a joint venture company to 
market 5-ALA products in Bahrain

l	� SBI Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd. reached basic agreements with 
Mumtalakat Holding Company, a government fund in Bahrain, and 
The Bahrain Development Bank concerning collaboration in the 
5-ALA business in Bahrain, principally in the pharmaceuticals field

l	� SBI Pharmaceuticals obtained manufacturing and marketing 
approval from the Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare for 
ALAGLIO®, an orally administered in vivo diagnostic agent used 
during the surgical resection of malignant glioma, as the first pharma-
ceutical agent made using 5-ALA

l	� Acquired shares of Hyundai Swiss Savings Bank and made it a con-
solidated subsidiary

l	� Acquired all shares of IKIIKI SEDAI and made it a consolidated 
subsidiary

l	� Transferred the Company’s entire stake in SBI Credit Co., Ltd.

The site of the SBI 
Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd. 
Bahrain Representative Office

SBI SECURITIES Co., Ltd. 
received three stars, the highest 
rank, in HDI-Japan’s Call-Center 
Contact Ranking

SBI Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd. reached 
basic agreement with Mumtalakat 
Holding Company concerning on 
collaboration in the 5-ALA business

SBI AXES Co., Ltd. listed on the 
KOSDAQ Market of the Korea 
Exchange

For the latest topics, see “News Release” at our website: (http://www.sbigroup.co.jp/english/news/)

Oct Dec Jan Mar
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Board of Directors and Statutory Auditors (As of June 27, 2013)

Representative Director and Chairman of SBI SECURITIES Co., Ltd.
Representative Director and Chairman of SBI Investment Co., Ltd.
Director of Morningstar Japan K.K.
Director of SBI Capital Management Co., Ltd.
Director of SBI FINANCIAL SERVICES Co., Ltd.
Representative Director of SBI Hong Kong Holdings Co., Limited

Representative Director,  
President & CEO

Yoshitaka  
Kitao

Director of SBI SECURITIES Co., Ltd. 
Representative Director and President of  
SBI FINANCIAL SERVICES Co., Ltd. 
Representative Director and President of  
SBI MONEY PLAZA Co., Ltd.

Director, Senior Executive 
Vice President & COO

Taro  
Izuchi

Representative Director and President of  
SBI Investment Co., Ltd.
Representative Director and President of  
SBI Capital Management Co., Ltd.
Director of SBI AXES Co., Ltd.

Director & Senior Managing 
Executive Officer

Takashi  
Nakagawa

Director & Senior Managing 
Executive Officer

Tomoya  
Asakura

Representative Director & President of  
Morningstar Japan K.K.
Representative Director of  
Morningstar Asset Management Co., Ltd.
Director of SBI Insurance Co., Ltd.
Director of SBI FINANCIAL SERVICES Co., Ltd. 

Representative Director and President of  
SBI SECURITIES Co., Ltd.

 
Director

Masato  
Takamura

Outside Director of SBI Searchina Co., Ltd.
The Chief Representative of the Company’s  
Representative Office in Shanghai
Director and CEO of CSJ-SBI Financial Media Co., Ltd.
Director of Tianan Property Insurance Company Limited of China
Representative Director of SBI (China) Co., Ltd. 
Representative Director of  
Shanghai SBI-INESA Equity Investment Management Co., Ltd.

Director & Executive  
Officer

Peilung  
Li

Representative Director, President, CEO and  
COO of SBI Mortgage Co., Ltd.

Director & Managing 
Executive Officer

Noriaki  
Maruyama

Representative Director and President of  
SBI Business Solutions Co., Ltd.
Representative Director, CEO and COO of SBI Card Co., Ltd.
Director of SBI FINANCIAL SERVICES Co., Ltd. 
Director of SBI Capital Management Co., Ltd. 

Director, Managing Executive 
Officer & CFO

Shumpei  
Morita
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Board of Directors and Statutory Auditors (As of June 27, 2013)

Representative Director of SophiaBank, Limited
Professor of Tama University Graduate School
Fellow of The Japan Research Institute, Limited

 
Director

Hiroshi  
Tasaka

Representative Director of YOSHIDAMASAKI INC.
Representative Director and Chairman of  
Watanabe Entertainment Co., Ltd.
Outside Director of KLab Inc.

 
Director

Masaki  
Yoshida

External Statutory Auditor of  
Shin-Etsu Chemical Co., Ltd
Outside Auditor of LEC, INC.

 
Outside Director

Kiyoshi  
Nagano

Independent Outside Director of  
ASAHI KOGYOSHA CO., LTD.
Outside Director of  
Aoyama Zaisan Networks Company, Limited

 
Outside Director

Keiji  
Watanabe

Representative Director of SiFA Co., Ltd.
External Corporate Auditor of  
Avex Group Holdings Inc.

 
Outside Director

Akihiro  
Tamaki

Outside Statutory Auditor of  
SBI SECURITIES Co., Ltd.
Statutory Auditor of  
SBI Investment Co., Ltd.
Statutory Auditor of  
SBI Capital Management Co., Ltd.
Statutory Auditor of  
SBI FINANCIAL SERVICES Co., Ltd.

Standing Statutory  
Auditor

Atsushi  
Fujii

Statutory Auditor of  
SBI Lease Co., Ltd.
Statutory Auditor of  
SBI MONEY PLAZA Co., Ltd.
Statutory Auditor of SBI Card Co., Ltd.

Outside Statutory  
Auditor

Ryujiro  
Shimamoto

Outside Statutory Auditor of  
SBI SECURITIES Co., Ltd.
Statutory Auditor of  
SBI FINANCIAL SERVICES Co., Ltd.

Statutory  
Auditor

Minoru  
Tada

Outside Standing Statutory Auditor of  
SBI Insurance Co., Ltd.
Statutory Auditor of  
SBI Capital Management Co., Ltd.

Outside Statutory  
Auditor

Hisashi  
Hayakawa

Counsel for SMBC Green Service Co., Ltd.
Outside Statutory Auditor of GINSEN CO., LTD
Vice-President of Japan Association of  
Employers of Persons with Severe Disabilities

 
Outside Director

Masanao  
Marumono

President and Group CEO of netprice.com, Ltd.
Director of Shop Airlines, Ltd.
Director of Open Network Lab, Inc. 
CEO and Managing Director of Beenos Partners, Inc.

 
Outside Director

Teruhide  
Sato
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Corporate Governance

In order to ensure the transparency of management and corporate governance,  
SBI Holdings recognizes that one of its most crucial management issues is to establish, 
maintain, and improve upon an organizational structure that is capable of responding 
quickly to changes in the business environment, as well as maintaining a shareholder-
oriented and fair management system.

Basic Framework for Corporate Governance

The Company’s Board of Directors consists of 15 directors (as of 
June 27, 2013), and the Company has adopted the Executive Officer 
System. A total of 14 individuals, comprised of 7 Directors and 
Executive Officers including the Representative Director, President 
& CEO, who control each business department, and 7 Executive 
Officers, have been appointed and are charged with managing the 
execution of business affairs to clarify the functions and responsibili-
ties of Directors, Executive Officers and the Board of Directors, as 
well as to respond promptly and flexibly to sudden changes in the 
business environment. As a general rule, the Board of Directors 
makes decisions on important matters and monitors the execution of 
business operations by convening once a month, and holding 
extraordinary meetings when necessary. The Company has 
appointed 5 Outside Directors, with each having a high degree of 
independence and no conflicts of interest with general shareholders, 
to fortify the supervision of management appropriateness.
	 The Board of Statutory Auditors, which comprises 4 members all 
proficient in financial affairs and includes 2 Outside Statutory Auditors, 
organically combines the audits performed by each Statutory Auditor, 
the Internal Auditing Department and the Accounting Auditors in an 
effort to maintain the appropriateness of corporate governance.
	 Based on the above, we believe that the current system allows 
us to adhere to the basic principles of corporate governance, 
namely to preserve the transparency of management and execute 
management’s third-party accountability.

Initiatives for Strengthening Corporate Governance

Internal Control System
The Company has established an internal control system to enhance 
the transparency of management and corporate governance. The 
Company is devoting its efforts to the system in recognition of the 
importance of executing business operations based on a sound inter-
nal control system in order to ensure appropriate corporate gover-
nance. The Representative Director takes the lead in ensuring that all 
officers and employees are aware that, together with working to 
maintain that system, realizing the Company’s Corporate Mission 
and Vision assume legal compliance and ethical codes of conduct.
	 Specifically, this involves regular meetings of the Board of 
Directors as well as extraordinary meetings in accordance with regu-
lations of the Board to facilitate close communication among the 
Directors and the supervision of the execution of duties of the 
Representative Director. In addition, the Company appoints a 
Compliance Officer, has established the compliance division report-
ing directly to the Compliance Officer, and sees that the division 
makes efforts in identifying compliance issues and problems. Further, 
the Company has established an internal whistleblowing system to 

enable Directors and employees to report directly to the Internal 
Auditing Department and Statutory Auditors of any violation against 
laws, regulations and the Articles of Incorporation, and any other 
important fact relating to compliance. In order to identify compli-
ance issues and problems and ensure appropriateness of operations 
in the SBI Group, the Company ensures that the Compliance Officer 
and the compliance division work in cooperation with Compliance 
Officers of the SBI Group companies, and holds a Group-wide com-
mittee for exchanging information on compliance.

Risk Management System
The Company manages risks that may impede the execution of 
business operations or the attainment of the Corporate Mission and 
Vision. The Board of Directors appoints a Risk Management 
Officer in accordance with crisis management and risk manage-
ment regulations. In addition, the risk management division was 
established to identify, properly evaluate, and manage risks on a 
cross-sectional basis for the entire Group, including the Company.
	 In the event of a potential or actual management crisis that may 
threaten the Company’s existence, the Risk Management Officer 
appointed by the Board of Directors would lead a gathering of perti-
nent information to consider and implement countermeasures and 
measures to prevent recurrences, while also reporting and disclosing 
information to related parties. For all the processes involved in the 
Company’s business activities, we have in place a mutual checking 
framework involving multiple departments, and aspire to ensure 
operations that conform to not only the respective laws and regula-
tions, but also to agreements, terms, and other rules, all as part of the 
overall system to maximize compliance efforts.
	 With regard to information management and system risk, the 
Company has in place a Group Information System Committee 
chaired by the Risk Management Officer and composed of members 
appointed from each of the divisions. The committee is engaged in 
efforts to maintain an overall information system including the man-
agement of customer information and to reinforce the system-risk 
management system. From the perspective of business continuity in 
particular, the Company has put in place a system that readily 
responds to any type of contingency through the utilization of a back-
up structure that incorporates dual systems and back-up sites.

Internal Audits, Audits by Statutory Auditors and Accounting Audits
(Internal Audits)
The Company has organized the Internal Auditing Department, 
which is independent of both the Operations Division and the 
Administrative Division. The department comprehensively and 
objectively evaluates whether the state of internal control is appro-
priate. In regard to the issues raised from the audit’s results, it imple-
ments proposals and follow-ups so that improvements may be 
made. At the time audits are implemented, the department may also 
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Corporate Governance

draw upon the assistance of outside specialists besides the employ-
ees, if required. Audit results are reported immediately after each 
audit’s conclusion to the Board of Directors via the Representative 
Director, and also periodically to the Statutory Auditors.
	 The Internal Auditing Department is comprised of a dedicated 
General Manager and other employees (total of 7) who are special-
ists in audits (internal audits, accounting audits, internal control and 
other). The department works in close association with the Board 
of Statutory Auditors and Accounting Auditors. For example, it 
periodically provides reports to the Board of Statutory Auditors, 
after completing each internal audit. 
	 The department also organically exchanges opinions with the 
Board of Statutory Auditors and incorporates requests from the 
Board in determining audit themes and scope. Whenever neces-
sary, the Internal Auditing Department shares information with the 
Accounting Auditors, particularly with respect to areas related to 
internal control over financial reporting.

(Audits by Statutory Auditors)
Statutory Auditors are independent of the Company’s executive 
bodies and bear the responsibility of securing trust from society by 
establishing a sound corporate governance system based on audits 
performed over the executive actions of Directors. The Board of 
Statutory Auditors of the Company is comprised of 4 Auditors, 
including 2 Outside Statutory Auditors. Of the 4 Auditors, 3 have 
worked in financial institutions for many years and hold a wide range 
of expertise in the overall financial industry. The remaining auditor 
possesses extensive knowledge of finance and accounting based on 
long years of experience in accounting.
	 Specifically, Statutory Auditors take the following procedures: In 
accordance with the Standards for Audits by Statutory Auditors, 
which were established by the Board of Statutory Auditors, Statutory 
Auditors attend meetings of the Board of Directors and other impor-
tant corporate meetings, review documents underlying important 
decisions, and exchange opinions with the Representative Director, 
Directors, and other senior members when appropriate. The Statutory 
Auditors perform audits of the Company’s internal control system in 
accordance with the Practice Standards for Internal Controls.
	 Statutory Auditors coordinate with the Internal Auditing 
Department through periodically exchanging information and 
opinions as described above.
	 The Board of Statutory Auditors receives explanations from 
Accounting Auditors regarding the annual audit plan and other mat-
ters based on audit reports prepared at the quarterly and year-end 
closing periods. Whenever necessary, the Board of Statutory 
Auditors also shares information and holds discussions with the 
Accounting Auditors with regard to management issues and prob-
lems. As described above, Statutory Auditors, the Internal Auditing 
Department and Accounting Auditors work together organically, 
while performing audits to ensure that the Company maintains an 
appropriate corporate governance system.

Outside Directors and Outside Statutory Auditors
The Company has 5 Outside Directors and 2 Outside Statutory 
Auditors. They assume objective and neutral positions that elimi-
nate the risk of conflict of interest with general shareholders. The 
Outside Directors and Outside Statutory Auditors monitor or audit 
and provide advice and suggestions by leveraging their respective 
expertise as well as their wide range of experience and knowledge 

on high-level management. They are charged with the roles and 
functions to ensure adequacy and appropriateness of the decision 
making and execution of duties by the Board of Directors.
	 Their appointment enables the adherence to basic principles of 
corporate governance such as ensuring management transparency 
and executing management’s accountability for providing explana-
tions to third parties, as they are selected primarily for their expert 
accounting knowledge, specialized knowledge, and independence.

Attendance at Board Meetings by Outside Directors (Fiscal Year 2012)

Kiyoshi Nagano 14/16
Keiji Watanabe 14/16
Akihiro Tamaki 15/16
Masanao Marumono* 13/13

* Director Masanao Marumono was appointed as a Director on June 28, 2012.

Compensation for Directors and Statutory Auditors

Directors (Excluding Outside Directors) 17 ¥193 million
Statutory Auditors  
(Excluding Outside Statutory Auditors) 1 ¥  12 million

Outside Directors and Statutory Auditors 5 ¥  56 million

*	�The above figures include compensation for Directors and Statutory Auditors who 
have retired during the fiscal year.

Initiatives During the Past Year to  
Enhance Corporate Governance

The Board of Directors has continued to fulfill its responsibilities as 
an organ for supervising management and fair decision making, 
holding at least one meeting each month. Also, to reinforce manage-
ment oversight functions, Statutory Auditors conduct exhaustive 
audits based on the annual auditing plan. The Internal Auditing 
Department, in conjunction with external specialists, conducts com-
prehensive internal audits that include the Group companies. In 
addition, in order to meet the requirement for a “system of internal 
control over financial reporting” stipulated in Article 24-4-4 of the 
Financial Instruments and Exchange Act, companywide efforts are 
being made to design and operate internal controls over financial 
reporting, whose implementation status is evaluated independently 
by the Internal Auditing Department. Through these activities, the 
Company is working on further improving the quality of operations 
and preventing the occurrence of financially improper errors.
	 Regarding information disclosure to investors, the Company is 
dedicated to supplying its varied investors with accurate corporate 
information. We hold a financial results briefing quarterly and 
Current Management Information Briefing following the General 
Meeting of Shareholders. Explanatory meetings (called “Information 
Meetings”) are held for individual investors in major Japanese cities, 
where information is provided directly by a representative of the 
Company. Our disclosure activities also include attendance at many 
investor relations conferences in Japan and other countries.
	 The Company is firmly committed to the transmission of infor-
mation. Financial results, press releases, streaming videos and/or 
materials of quarterly financial results briefings, and Information 
Meetings for shareholders, as well as other relevant materials, are 
promptly posted on our website.
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Message from AN Outside Director

The Role of Outside Directors and 
Independent Officers

In my view, the purpose of outside directors is to enhance a 
company’s risk management function. Independent officers, 
who are selected from among outside corporate officers, are 
expected to act to protect the interest of ordinary sharehold-
ers in situations such as the deciding of the execution of busi-
ness matters at meetings of the Board of Directors. For this 
reason, at board meetings, outside directors at times broach 
delicate subjects with the inside directors who execute busi-
ness, to discourage unwise action. However, that is not the 
only role of independent officers and outside directors. We 
share with inside directors the objective of increasing corpo-
rate value and shareholder value, and we outside directors 
seek to utilize our experience and knowledge to contribute to 
the enhancement of corporate brand value.

Corporate Governance Issues

One issue is overseas risk management as the SBI Group is 
accelerating its overseas business development and invest-
ment. It is therefore necessary to pay even more scrupulous 
attention to risks overseas than in Japan, including country 
risk. Owing to this, I believe it is crucial for the Group to fur-
ther recruit excellent personnel who combine various areas of 
specialized expertise.
	 Another issue is coping with systems risk. The SBI 
Group’s principal financial services are provided to custom-
ers via the Internet. Speaking from my experience as a top 
executive at the JASDAQ Securities Exchange (currently 
Japan Exchange Group), the Internet and IT systems entail 
the risk of trouble of some sort occurring at any time, and a 
simple human error may lead to enormous damage. For this 
reason, it is critical to take all possible measures to counter 
systems risk.
	 At present, the SBI Group’s Financial Services Business 
and Asset Management Business are benefitting from a tail-
wind, and the Biotechnology-related Business has the 

potential to become a major source of earnings in the future. 
However, it is the nature of business that good times do not 
continue forever. We should require inside directors at all 
times to exercise both prudence and boldness by taking into 
account both risk and return, when making investment deci-
sions. Additionally, I want the inside directors to always bear 
in mind financial soundness, to avoid panicking when some-
thing happens.
	 The most important factors in corporate governance are 
increasing transparency and accountability. In that sense, I 
would like the SBI Group to continue its various activities to 
fairly disclose information to all investors, such as the quar-
terly financial results briefings, Information Meetings at which 
ordinary shareholders can participate and the Current 
Management Information Briefing, following the General 
Meeting of Shareholders.
	 SBI Holdings became the first company headquartered in 
Japan to be listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange in April 
2011, and adopted the International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs) from the first quarter of the fiscal year 
ended March 2013. At each General Meeting of Shareholders 
the outside directors are asked extremely detailed questions 
by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. I think that listing the 
Company in Hong Kong and adopting IFRSs have been 
highly beneficial from the perspective of increasing transpar-
ency and strengthening corporate governance.

Kiyoshi Nagano
Outside Director
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Matters relating to the basic framework for  
internal control over financial reporting
Management, with the participation of Yoshitaka Kitao, 
Representative Director, and Shumpei Morita, Chief Financial 
Officer, are responsible for the design and operation of the 
internal control over financial reporting prepared by SBI 
Holdings, Inc. (“the Company”). The Company’s internal 
control over financial reporting of the consolidated financial 
statements is designed and operated effectively in accordance 
with the basic framework of internal control set forth in the 
report “On the Revision of the Standards and Practice 
Standards for Management Assessment and Audit Concerning 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting (Council 
Opinions)” issued by the Business Accounting Council. 
	 Internal control may not necessarily respond to unex-
pected changes in internal or external environments when 
controls were designed for non routine transactions. Internal 
control cannot provide absolute assurance with respect to the 
achievement of objectives, which can prevent or detect mis-
statements, due to the following inherent limitations, but it 
aims at achieving the objectives to a reasonable extent with 
the organized and integrated function of individual compo-
nents as a whole 

Matters relating to the scope of assessment, the basic 
date of assessment and the assessment procedures
The assessment of internal control over financial reporting 
was performed as of March 31, 2013, which is the end of this 
fiscal year. The assessment was performed in accordance with 
assessment standards for internal control over financial report-
ing generally accepted in Japan.
	 In conducting this assessment, we evaluated internal con-
trols which may have a material impact on our entire financial 
reporting in a consolidation (“company-level controls”). Based 
on that, we appropriately selected business processes to be 
evaluated. When we assessed internal controls of the selected 
business processes, we analyzed them and identified key con-
trols that may have a material impact on the reliability of the 
Company’s financial reporting, and assessed the design and 
operation of these key controls. These procedures have 
allowed us to evaluate the effectiveness of the internal controls 
of the Company.
	 The scope of evaluation for internal control over financial 
reporting was adequately set from the perspective of the 
degree of quantitative and qualitative impact on the reliability 
of financial reporting presentation and disclosure. Therefore, 
based on the results of assessment of company-level controls 
of 37 subsidiaries and associates (including 1 equity-method 
associate) which represent all the significant locations 

or business units, in principle, management determined the 
reasonable scope of assessment. Management eliminate sub-
sidiaries or affiliates from the scope of assessment that are 
found to have little relevance of the degree of quantitative and 
qualitative impact on the reliability of financial reporting.
	 When evaluating process level controls, based on the 
effectiveness of company level controls, we selected significant 
locations or business units. Specifically, the significant loca-
tions or business units are selected in descending order of total 
assets until their combined amount reaches approximately 
two thirds of the total consolidated assets. In the significant 
locations and business units selected, all business processes 
which impact the accounts that are closely associated with the 
Company’s business objectives are included in the scope. 
Further, not only at selected significant locations and business 
units but also at other locations and business units, we added 
to the scope of assessment, as business processes having 
greater materiality considering their impact on the financial 
reporting. The accounts within the scope are “Operating reve-
nue,” “Operating cost,” “Cash segregated as deposits,” 
“Margin transaction assets,” “Operational investment securi-
ties,” “Margin transaction liabilities,” “Deposits from custom-
ers,” “Guarantee deposits received,” and so on.
	 In addition, Hyundai Swiss Savings Bank Co., Ltd. and its 
subsidiaries (“the Banks”) were not included in the scope of 
assessment. As a result of the acquisition of the stock on 
March 26, 2013, the Banks became our subsidiaries immedi-
ately prior to the end of this fiscal year. Considering the scale 
of the Banks, the assessment of internal control about the 
Banks require a long-term, and it seemed impossible to com-
plete the assessment by the board of directors’ approval for 
the financial reporting of this fiscal year. In the result, we con-
sidered this event as a case in which sufficient assessment pro-
cedures for a certain part of the internal control were not able 
to be performed due to unavoidable circumstances.

Matters relating to the results of the assessment
We were not able to perform a part of the assessment proce-
dure as the above, but we concluded that the Company’s 
internal control over financial reporting was effective as of the 
end of this fiscal year.

Supplementary Information
Not applicable

Special Information 
Not applicable

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over  
Financial Reporting (Translation)
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The SBI Group is an organization that develops successful businesses, with the convic-
tion of proactively promoting a just society. Our businesses are not rooted in the sole 
purpose of making a profit, but also by our belief in “making our society a safe, fair 
and comfortable place, that is considerate of the environment.”

Basic Approach to CSR

Adopting the approach that “a business will only flourish symbioti-
cally with society,” the SBI Group recognizes its social nature as a 
structural element of the community. While responding to the 
needs of its broad range of stakeholders, and making its contribu-
tion to the growth and preservation of the community, the Group is 
expanding its businesses in pursuit of earning society’s trust from 
the fundamental perspective of the “Customer-centric Principle.”
	 To transition from a “strong company” to a “strongly 
revered company,” while at the same time giving back to soci-
ety through its core businesses, the SBI Group contributes 
directly to society in the form of improving childhood well-
being, through the “SBI Children’s Hope Foundation,” a public 
interest incorporated foundation.

Building Our Relationship with Stakeholders

The SBI Group appreciates the importance of gaining society’s 
trust from a wide range of perspectives, as it advances its busi-
ness and tackles the challenge of increasing corporate value for 
all of its stakeholders.

Social Contribution by Core Businesses

As a corporate group that endeavors to contribute to a just society, 
the core businesses themselves are intimately involved in the rein-
forcement of business activities that promote CSR.

Improving Child Welfare as a  
Direct Social Contribution

The Group not only contributes to society through its core busi-
nesses, but is also directly involved in social contribution initia-
tives directly through its activities to improve child welfare. The 
increase every year in the number of entrants to children’s institu-
tions, due to neglect and abuse, and the greater number of chil-
dren abused by those who should be their most beloved 
guardians, is becoming a matter of extreme concern. Since Japan 
is lacking in natural resources, human talent has become its great-
est resource, and if a child whose boundless potential is not raised 
with affection and in good health, this may become an immense 
liability against Japan’s future. The SBI Group, through its belief 
in the utter importance of inspiring action on behalf of the chil-
dren, who will shoulder Japan’s future, has founded the SBI 
Children’s Hope Foundation, and through the Foundation’s activi-
ties pursues solutions for child welfare issues.

The SBI Children’s Hope Foundation

The SBI Children’s Hope Foundation is actively involved in lever-
aging the networks and knowledge cultivated by the SBI Group as 
a private corporation, to assist in the development of self-reliance 
of abused children, and to foster improvements in child welfare. 
The Foundation, which has administered these activities since 
2005, was accredited in 2010 by the Office of the Prime Minister of 
Japan as a public interest incorporated foundation, and certified in 
2011 as a tax-exempt corporation. This has not only allowed the 
Foundation to maintain society’s trust, but has also given it prefer-
ential treatment under the tax code as a “designated public interest 
promotion corporation.” Our diverse set of activities includes 
donations to improve conditions at facilities that care for abused 
children, provision of on-the-job training programs for care work-
ers at childcare facilities, and public awareness activities that pro-
mote society-wide efforts against child abuse.
	 Between FY2005 and FY2012, the Foundation donated a total 
of ¥780 million towards these efforts. The SBI Children’s Hope 
Foundation has supported the Orange Ribbon Campaign, which 
raises public awareness of child abuse prevention. Every 
November, which is Child Abuse Prevention Month, SBI Group 
executives and employees wear orange ribbons to raise awareness 
of this issue within and outside the SBI Group.

The Four Pillars of the 
SBI Children’s 
Hope Foundation Public awareness 

against abuse

Worker training

Donations to 
facilities

Support for 
self-reliance

Forum for the Prevention of 
Child Abuse

The SBI Group’s CSR activities
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Based on our belief that talent recruitment emphasizing a range of human qualities 
and the nurturing of valuable human resources is indispensable for providing value 
and services that suit our customers’ needs, the SBI Group has embarked on a Human 
Capital Value Campaign.

Furnishing Open Employment Opportunities

The SBI Group’s recruitment process values not only the work 
experience and skills as professionals, but also places great 
emphasis on human qualities. Qualities such as being standout 
personalities who also demonstrate competency in their work, are 
valued regardless of sex, educational background, or nationality. 
In the college recruitment process, we have been hiring new grad-
uates from a diversity of backgrounds, who possess future prom-
ise, under the hiring standards introduced in FY2006. We follow 
the policy of providing opportunities for the best people who are 
hired without prejudice, whether mid-career or newly graduating.

Dealing Fairly with Aspirations

Our dealings with employees emphasize not only the result, but 
the process that leads to the result. Every six months, assessments 
are conducted in which a total grading is made according to expe-
rience, ability, and contribution to the bottom line, based on 
achievement of the period’s objectives, in a policy we call 
“Rewarding success to those who make a difference and offering 
positions to knowledgeable people with good business sense.”

Initiatives toward Development of Promising Talent

The promising talent we endeavor to develop extends beyond 
those who contribute to the bottom line in a given department or 
company, and covers employees with strong aspirations to make 
broad contributions to the economy and society. We have found 
that such individuals possess high-level business expertise, share 
an international perspective and are equipped with a solid moral 
viewpoint, as well as the ability to execute. SBI Graduate School, 
which is entrusted with certain in-house training primarily for new 
employees and offers self-motivated employees a place for train-
ing, provides an opportunity for human learning through an 
emphasis on moral training with a key focus on enhancing people 
skills, in addition to a focus on intellectual training. The educa-
tional program incorporates the latest knowledge in running a 
business, and provides an opportunity for jitsu-gaku, or practical 
study. The general intent is to foster “promising talent” through 
diligent studies and mutual dialog among people with diverse 
backgrounds and personalities, and not just to absorb knowledge.

SBI Graduate School

The SBI Graduate School focuses on businesspersons with high 
aspirations by placing a key focus on nurturing promising talent, 
and assisting them to direct their energy towards the good of the 

economy and society in Japan and the world. Its objective is to 
produce talented individuals who are endowed with a solid 
knowledge base, encompassing a moral viewpoint and execution 
ability, who can extend their talents beyond profit contributions 
in any given department or company, with a sense of initiating 
broad contributions to the economy and society, who possess a 
high-level of business expertise, and have an international per-
spective. A wide variety of professors and lecturers are invited 
with the intent of developing “the human personality” through 
promotion of a broad-minded moral education, and cultivating a 
moral standpoint and human ability that a business manager or 
leader cannot do without, through a study of such subjects as 
Chinese classics as represented by the “Analects of Confucius” 
and “the Art of War,” as well as providing a practical education 
related to the field of business.
	 One special feature of the SBI Graduate School is instruction 
offered through the leading e-learning system, where anyone with 
an Internet connection and a PC can attend a class. Since the 
Graduate School is certified by the Ministry of Education, Culture, 
Sports, Science and Technology, it grants the degree of MBA in 
Business Management to those who fulfill graduation requirements.
	 In the pursuit of enabling promising talent to positively dem-
onstrate their abilities, the SBI Group further provides its full sup-
port to graduates with a superior record, who take the initiative to 
start a new business or expand a line of business.

Training hall for implementing  
business plans

SBI Graduate School 
commencement and 
entrance ceremonies

Initiatives Towards Developing Talent
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Early Adoption of International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs) to Become the “World’s SBI” 
The difference from JGAAP realized after the  
first year of adopting IFRSs

Shumpei Morita
Director, Managing Executive Officer & CFO

An Interview with the CFO

What is the background to and significance 
of the voluntary adoption of IFRSs?

The SBI Group is accelerating its overseas expansion under the 
motto of becoming the “World’s SBI,” and in April 2011 the 
Company was listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. The list-
ing in Hong Kong prompted the Company to proceed with an 
early voluntary adoption of IFRSs beginning in the fiscal year 
ended March 2013. 
	 An important characteristic of IFRSs is high transparency in 
financial reporting. Under IFRSs, assets and liabilities are 
appraised at fair value each period, and the SBI Group’s financial 
position is reflected in a timely manner. In addition, international 
comparability of financial information is now possible. 

What impact has IFRSs adoption had in 
each business sector?

The impact has been greatest in the Asset Management Business. 
Under Japanese Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 
( JGAAP), in principle, at the time of sale of operational invest-
ment securities, any difference from acquisition cost is recognized 
as a gain or loss. Under IFRSs, the fair value of assets held is mea-
sured quarterly, whether or not the assets are sold. For this reason, 
business performance is now affected by the markets and fluctu-
ates considerably. This also affects management judgment. Since a 
change in assessed value from the end of the previous quarter is 
recognized as gain or loss regardless of acquisition cost, prompt 
and timely decision making is required; a company will continue 
to hold assets if it judges that their value is likely to rise and will 
promptly sell assets if it judges that their value is likely to decline.
	 In the Financial Services Business, the conservative aspects 
of IFRSs compared to JGAAP affects its performance. Under 
IFRSs, it is necessary to proportionally divide and defer earnings, 
and deferral of expenses allowed under JGAAP is not allowed. 
Furthermore, as for the impact of fair value assessment, a charac-
teristic of IFRSs, companies holding assets or liabilities affected 
by fluctuations in interest rates, stock prices, exchange rates, and 
other factors are subject to market impact to that extent. 
	 The change from JGAAP to IFRSs has made no major 

Q

Q

difference in the Biotechnology-related Business and Other 
businesses.
	 In addition, the Company changed its business segments at 
the time of IFRSs adoption in the fiscal year ended March 2013. I 
think that this change has clarified the characteristics of each busi-
ness segment. The Financial Services Business is a sector that 
generates stable earnings and expands on the basis of business 
assets accumulated over time, the Asset Management Business is 
a sector in which the most recent fluctuations in asset value are 
reflected in the financial statements in a timely manner and earn-
ings vary substantially from quarter to quarter, and the 
Biotechnology-related Business is a high-potential sector that the 
SBI Group intends to develop into a future core business.

Are any aspects of the financial statements 
more difficult to understand under IFRSs 
than under JGAAP?

There are two premises affecting the statements of income under 
IFRSs that should be understood. 
	 The first premise is that the concepts of ordinary income 
and loss and extraordinary income and loss do not exist under 
IFRSs. For this reason, not only income and loss from main busi-
ness activities, but also, for instance, gains or losses on the sale of 
subsidiaries are reflected in operating income and loss.
	 The second premise is the meaning of “profit for the year” 
under IFRSs. Under JGAAP, “net income” is income after the 
deduction of minority interests. Under IFRSs, “profit for the year” 
includes “profit attributable to non-controlling interests,” and 
“profit attributable to owners of the Company” is equivalent to “net 
income” in JGAAP. “Net income per share” in JGAAP is called 
“basic earnings per share attributable to owners of the Company” 
under IFRSs. The expression “owners of the Company” refers to 
the shareholders of SBI Holdings. This terminology is used since 
in IFRSs the entire corporate group is considered as a single eco-
nomic entity, and shareholders’ equity includes both parent com-
pany shareholders’ interest and minority shareholders’ interest, 
with minority shareholders being shareholders of subsidiaries.

Q
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During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2013, the business environ-
ment surrounding the Group continued to be weak in the domestic 
market, but stock prices started to increase from November 2012. 
Individual stock brokerage trading value on three major markets, 
Tokyo, Osaka and Nagoya, in the fourth quarter (from January to 
March 2013) achieved a high level of 2.4 times that of the third 
quarter (from October to December 2012) and annual trading value 
increased 38% since last year.
	 In overseas markets, while growth recessions in some emerging 
countries, the U.S. economy’s ongoing gradual recovery shows 
signs of a hopeful future. The Group’s consolidated results of opera-
tions for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2013 were as follows. 
Operating revenue declined 13.5% year-on-year to ¥153,476 mil-
lion, operating income decreased 5.4% to ¥16,577 million, profit 
before income tax expense declined 8.9% to ¥14,213 million and 
profit attributable to owners of the Company increased 955.9% to 
¥3,202 million.

(Financial Service Business)
Operating revenue in the Financial Service Business rose 3.8% 
year-on-year to ¥113,340 million, and profit before income tax 
expense rose 78.5% year-on-year to ¥18,741 million. SBI 
SECURITIES Co., Ltd. maintained a stable expansion in its cus-
tomer base with 220,930 new accounts opened during the fiscal 
year ended March 31, 2013 and the total account number reaching 
2,608,716 at year-end. The consolidated financial performance of 
SBI SECURITIES Co., Ltd. for the fiscal year ended March 31, 
2013 (under “JGAAP”*) resulted in operating revenue of ¥43,401 
million (a 9.2% year-on-year increase) and operating income of 
¥11,478 million (a 52.4% year-on-year increase), which primarily 
resulted from the growth in commission income due to an increas-
ing trend since December 2012 in individual brokerage fees. SBI 
Insurance Co., Ltd. continued to achieve growth in the number of 
contracts for car insurance, which resulted in ordinary revenue of 
¥19,164 million (a 37.3% year-on-year increase), though the corre-
sponding increase in provision of statutory reserve still led to an 
ordinary loss under “JGAAP.”
	 SBI Sumishin Net Bank, Ltd., accounted for using the equity 
method, achieved a total deposit balance of ¥2,691 billion with the 
number of accounts reaching 1,647 thousand. The consolidated 
financial performance of SBI Sumishin Net Bank, Ltd. under 
JGAAP resulted in ordinary revenue of ¥40,204 million (a 16.1% 
year-on-year increase), ordinary income of ¥7,903 million (a 36.4% 
year-on-year increase) and net income of ¥4,779 million (a 7.3% 
year-on-year decrease), mainly due to growth in income tax 
expense which resulted from elimination of tax loss carryforwards.
*(“JGAAP” refers to accounting principles generally accepted in Japan)

(Asset Management Business)
Operating revenue in the Asset Management Business fell 43.2% 
year-on-year to ¥32,202 million, and profit before income tax 
expense fell 69.6% year-on-year to ¥5,450 million. Due to the 
European sovereign debt problem and stagnation in growth of 
emerging markets, the number of IPO cases worldwide decreased 
sharply by 382 to 751 cases for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2013, 

however, the domestic market continued to show signs of recovery 
with the number of IPO cases increased by 17 reaching 54 cases, 
among which the Group was involved in 9 IPO and M&A cases in 
the domestic market and 3 in the overseas market under its Asset 
Management Business. Operating revenue and operating income 
decreased by comparison with those of last year, primarily due to a 
large gain on sales of stocks of KLab Inc. and VSN, Inc. recorded in 
the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012, however, with sound improve-
ments in corporate value of promising investees and a significant 
upturn in the stock market since November 2012, the second half of 
the year achieved profound improvement in both operating revenue 
and operating income, compared with the first half, regardless of the 
large loss recorded on valuation of several unlisted stocks.

(Biotechnology-related Business) 
Operating revenue in the Biotechnology-related business rose 
104.3% year-on-year to ¥970 million, and profit before income tax 
expense was a loss of ¥3,900 million. SBI Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd. 
has obtained manufacturing and marketing approval for the orally-
administered in vivo diagnostic agent “ALAGLIO®” for Malignant 
Glioma, made using 5-aminolevulinic acid (“5-ALA”), in March 
2013, and also finished a Phase III clinical trial for intraoperative 
diagnosis drug for bladder cancer in its domestic operations. As for 
overseas, SBI Pharmaceuticals has started a Phase I clinical trial on 
a formulation for treating anemia caused by cancer chemotherapy 
in the U.K. and is planning to also start a Phase II clinical trial in the 
U.S. after the conclusion of the Phase I trial. At the same time, SBI 
Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd. worked closely with the government of 
Bahrain, as its base in the Middle Eastern countries to develop a 
business framework concerning 5-ALA related clinical research, 
drug development, manufacturing and exports. SBI Biotech Co., 
Ltd. acquired the U.S. company, Quark Pharmaceuticals, Inc. as a 
wholly owned subsidiary in December 2012. The acquisition will 
strengthen R&D capabilities and improve operating efficiency by 
producing synergies and integrating management resources, as well 
as accelerate R&D on promising drug pipelines held by both 
parties.

As of March 31, 2013, total assets amounted to ¥2,494,387 million 
and increased by ¥838,819 million from total assets of ¥1,655,568 
million as of March 31, 2012. This increase was attributable primarily 
to acquisition of shares of Hyundai Swiss Savings Bank in March 
2013, which thereafter became a subsidiary. The Group’s equity 
increased ¥8,630 million to ¥360,535 million from the balance as of 
March 31, 2012. As of March 31, 2013, the Group’s cash and cash 
equivalents amounted to ¥133,362 million a decrease of ¥26,471 
million from that of ¥159,833 million as of March 31, 2012. The 
changes in cash flows for each activity and the reasons for changes 
are as follows:

(Operating Cash Flows)
Cash flows used in operating activities amounted to ¥36,984 mil-
lion of net cash outflows (¥9,818 million of net cash inflows for the 
fiscal year ended March 31, 2012). The net cash outflows were 
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primarily due to ¥72,300 million cash outflows for increase in 
assets/liabilities related to securities business, despite ¥14,213 mil-
lion cash inflows for profit before income tax expense, ¥10,614 mil-
lion cash inflows for decrease in accounts receivables and other 
receivables and ¥14,167 million cash inflows for increase in opera-
tional liabilities and other liabilities.

(Investing Cash Flows)
Cash flows used in investing activities amounted to ¥19,060 million 
of net cash outflows (¥16,021 million of net cash outflows for the 
fiscal year ended March 31, 2012). The net cash outflows were pri-
marily due to ¥18,451 million cash outflows for acquisition of sub-
sidiaries, net of cash and cash equivalents acquired.

(Financing Cash Flows)
Cash flows from financing activities amounted to ¥25,699 million 
of net cash inflows (¥7,387 million of net cash inflows for the fiscal 
year ended March 31, 2012). The net cash inflows were primarily 
due to ¥32,305 million cash inflows for increase in short term loans 
payable and ¥28,437 million cash inflows for proceeds from long-
term loans payable despite ¥42,968 million cash outflows for 
repayment of long-term loans payable.

(1)	� Reclassification from JGAAP of  
operating revenue and operating expense

Under IFRSs, no revenue or expense items may be presented as 
extraordinary items in the statement of income, and items that 
express the amounts of finance costs and equity in earnings of affili-
ates must be included in the statement of income.
	 In addition, the total amount of interest income and expense 
related to financial assets measured at amortized cost or financial 
liabilities other than financial liabilities measured at fair value 
through profit or loss shall be either disclosed in the consolidated 
statement of income or in the notes.
	 Furthermore, in order to disclose appropriately the financial 
performance of the Group, which operates various businesses 
including the financial business, revenues presented as “Net sales,” 
“Non-operating income” and “Extraordinary income” under 
JGAAP, except for the investment gains on equity method, and the 
financial income that cannot be allocated to certain segments, are 
reclassified into operating revenue in the consolidated statement of 
income prepared in accordance with IFRSs (hereinafter “operating 
revenue under IFRSs”).
	 Due to these reclassifications, operating revenue under IFRSs 
for the year ended March 31, 2012 and 2013 increased by ¥16,161 
million and ¥10,059 million, respectively, compared to the “Net 
sales” under JGAAP.
	 In addition, expenses presented as “Cost of sales,” “Selling, 
general and administrative expenses,” “Non-operating expense” 
and “Extraordinary expense” under JGAAP except for the invest-
ment losses on equity method and the financial expenses which 
cannot be allocated to certain segments are reclassified into operat-
ing expense in the consolidated statement of income prepared in 
accordance with IFRSs (hereinafter “operating expense under 

IFRSs”).
	 Due to these reclassifications, operating expense under IFRSs for 
the year ended March 31, 2012 and 2013 increased by ¥6,830 million 
and ¥5,456 million, respectively, compared to the total amount of 
“Cost of sales” and “Selling, general and administrative expenses” 
under JGAAP (hereinafter, “operating expense under JGAAP”).

(2)	� GAAP difference of operating revenue  
other than reclassification

(a)	 Scope of consolidation
	� Under JGAAP, when investment companies such as venture 

capital companies invest operationally to stock or equity of 
other companies to acquire capital gains through corporate 
revitalization and business development even if controlling the 
organization for decision making of the other company, the 
company may not be recognized as a subsidiary. On the other 
hand, under the same conditions, IFRSs requires investment 
companies to include the other company within the scope of 
consolidation when controlling the other company.

	�	  Due to the scope of consolidation being expanded under 
IFRSs, operating revenue under IFRSs for the year ended 
March 31, 2012 and 2013 increased by ¥34,600 million and 
¥23,840 million, respectively.

(b)	 Profit or loss regarding evaluation of financial instruments
	� Under JGAAP, listed available-for-sale securities were measured 

at fair value, with fair value gains and losses, net of applicable 
taxes, reported as—unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sales 
securities, a separate component of net assets, while unlisted 
available-for-sale securities were principally stated at cost less 
impairment, determined by the moving average cost method. 

	�	  Thus, except for the case of significant decline in fair value, 
no valuation loss is recorded.

	�	  In addition, the Group provided allowance for investment 
losses for operational investment securities and investment 
securities based on the estimated losses of the investments con-
sidering the financial condition of the investees. Substantially, 
only the downside of the valuation difference was evaluated 
and the related losses were recorded.

	�	  As a result of the application of IFRS 9, financial instruments 
are measured at fair value through profit or loss except for the 
financial instruments designated as financial instruments at 
FVTOCI at initial recognition, and the valuation gain or loss of 
equity securities including unlisted securities are recorded in 
the operating revenue.

(c)	� Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without  
losing control

	� Under IFRSs, changes in a parent’s ownership interest in a 
subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted 
for as capital transactions, with no recognition of gain or loss.

(d) 	�Approximate amount of GAAP difference between operating 
revenue under IFRSs and net sales under JGAAP other than 
reclassification

	� Except for the impact from reclassification discussed in (1), due 
to the GAAP differences including (2) (a) to (c) operating reve-
nue under IFRSs for the year ended March 31, 2012 and 2013 
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by the seller.
	�	  On the other hand, under IFRSs, tax effects in relation to 

elimination of intragroup unrealized gain are recognized as 
deferred tax assets by the buyer considering the recoverability 
and calculated using the buyer’s tax rate. Tax effects in relation 
to intragroup unrealized loss shall be recognized as deferred 
tax liabilities with some exceptions.

(c)	� GAAP difference between IFRSs and JGAAP related  
to income tax expense

	� Due to the GAAP differences including (4) (a) and (b), income 
tax expense under IFRSs for the year ended March 31, 2012 
and 2013 increased by ¥920 million and ¥6,273 million, 
respectively, compared to the amount under JGAAP.

The Group has completed the creation of a business structure in 
Japan as a comprehensive financial conglomerate centered on 
Internet-based financial services. Overseas, the Group has been 
rapidly expanding its investment business and establishing an 
investment framework primarily in Asian countries with remark-
able growth.
	 Going forward, we will aggressively promote further expansion 
of our overseas investment business and provide local foreign 
financial institutions we invest in with innovative know-how on 
Internet financial services fostered through our businesses in Japan. 
By so doing, we expect to become a comprehensive financial group 
that can make contributions globally with a focus in Asia.
	 The Company became the first listed company in Japan to be 
listed on the Main Board market of the Hong Kong Exchanges and 
Clearing on April 14, 2011. We will maximize this opportunity to 
enhance our credibility and recognition in Asia to further develop 
businesses of the Group. 
	 In Japan, we will accelerate growth as a provider of diverse 
low-cost, high-quality financial products and services by effectively 
taking into account the growing sentiment among consumers to cut 
back on their spending and the increased use of the Internet for 
executing various financial transactions, and further provoking syn-
ergistic effects among businesses we have developed in the Group.
	 In the Financial Services Business, we will aim to achieve 
greater growth even under unstable conditions in the Japanese 
stock markets. SBI SECURITIES Co., Ltd. will continue to expand 
its overseas product lineup and strengthen foreign exchange trans-
actions in order to achieve diversification of revenue sources and 
further enhance its call center operations that receive high recogni-
tion from evaluating agencies in heightening its service level even 
more. SBI Liquidity Market Co., Ltd., which began its operation in 
November 2008, provides not only liquidity but convenient and 
competitive market infrastructure for FX transactions to SBI 
SECURITIES Co., Ltd., SBI Sumishin Net Bank, Ltd., and SBI 
FXTRADE Co., Ltd., which started operations in May 2012. The 
firm will make improvements to the transaction environment, 
enhance liquidity, and focus on building further cost-effective, 
secure and safe FX transaction environment with a view to provid-
ing its services to overseas private investors. We also established 

increased by ¥16,174 million and ¥26,823 million, respec-
tively, compared to the “Net sales” under JGAAP.

(3)	� GAAP difference of operating expense  
other than reclassification

(a)	 Scope of consolidation
	� As described in (2) (a), due to the scope of consolidation being 

expanded under IFRSs, operating expense under IFRSs for 
the year ended March 31, 2012 and 2013 increased by ¥34,991 
million and ¥24,004 million, respectively.

(b)	� Impairment and amortization of goodwill and  
negative goodwill

	� Under JGAAP, goodwill is generally amortized over an esti-
mated useful life of up to 20 years and shall be tested for 
impairment if there is an indication that the asset may be 
impaired, and consequently not required to be tested for 
impairment every fiscal year. 

	�	  Under IFRSs, goodwill is required to be tested for impair-
ment regardless of an indication of impairment, instead of no 
periodical amortization.

(c)	 Insurance contract
	� Under JGAAP, an insurance company newly established may 

defer the business expenditure incurred within 5 years after 
establishment, recorded as deferred assets, which can be amor-
tized within 10 years through profit or loss in conformity with 
Article 113 of Insurance Business Act. Under IFRSs, those 
business expenditures do not meet the recognition criteria. 
Thus, no deferred assets are recorded and those expenditures 
will be recognized as expense at the time of occurrence.

(d)	� Approximate effect amount of GAAP difference between operat-
ing expense under IFRSs and JGAAP other than reclassification

	� Except for the impact from reclassification discussed in (1), 
operating expense under IFRSs for the year ended March 31, 
2012 and 2013 increased by ¥15,777 million and decreased by 
¥881 million, respectively, compared to the operating expense 
under JGAAP.

(4)	I ncome tax expense
(a)	 Scope of consolidation
	� As discussed in (2) (a), due to the scope of consolidation being 

expanded under IFRSs, income tax expense under IFRSs for 
the year ended March 31, 2012 and 2013 increased by ¥415 
million and ¥306 million, respectively, compared to the 
amount under JGAAP.

(b)	 Tax effect related to unrealized gain or loss
	� Since unrealized gains or losses arising from intercompany 

transactions are eliminated in consolidation, a temporary differ-
ence between book value for accounting purposes and book 
value for tax purposes occurs.

	�	  Under JGAAP, tax effects in relation to elimination of intra-
group unrealized gain are recognized as deferred tax assets 
paid by the seller, and the tax effects in relation to elimination 
of intragroup unrealized loss, which is deducted in the calcula-
tion of taxable income, are recognized as deferred tax liabilities 
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increasingly important to secure highly competent individuals that 
support the rapid expansion of our businesses and to continue 
developing the skills of our employees. For this purpose, we have 
been exerting greater efforts in hiring excellent individuals who are 
willing to share the management philosophy of the Group as well 
as recruiting university graduates to secure human capital for pass-
ing on the Group’s unique corporate culture from one generation 
of employees to the next. The Group started recruiting university 
graduates in April 2006, and they already play an active role in 
various business fields and are expected to be one of the future 
leaders of the Group. We will continue to secure highly competent 
and global-oriented human resources and promote career develop-
ment of our staff in pursuing perpetual growth and development of 
the Group.

	 Forward-looking statements provided herein are based on judg-
ments of the Company as of June 27, 2013.

The following principal categories of business risks and other risks 
affecting our Group’s business may have a material impact on your 
investment decisions. From the point of disclosing information, we 
have also listed risk factors below, which may not completely 
match these investment decisions. In recognizing these latent risks, 
we will work to avoid any such risks and take appropriate measures 
in the event that any such risk arises. 
	 Also, the following contains content about the future but it is 
considered as of June 27, 2013.

1 )	� Our corporate structure, which consists of a large number 
of public and private companies in multiple business lines, 
exposes us to challenges not found in companies with a 
single business line

Our Group consists of portfolio companies operating in multiple 
industries, including the Financial Services Business, Asset 
Management Business, Biotechnology-related Business and other 
businesses. Our Group also comprises some publicly traded subsid-
iaries. Due to the diverse characteristics of our portfolio companies, 
we face challenges not found in companies with a single business 
line. In particular, there are three aspects:
•	 �we are exposed to business, market and regulatory risks relating to 

different industries.
	�	  We need to devote substantial resources to monitor changes in 

different operating environments, so that we can react with appro-
priate strategies that fit the needs of the portfolio companies affected;

•	 �due to our large number of portfolio companies involved, suc-
cessful operation of our Group requires an effective management 
system that emphasizes accountability, imposes financial disci-
pline on portfolio companies, and incentivizes management to 
create value. As we continue to grow through acquisitions of busi-
nesses in an increasing number of different industries, our opera-
tions will become more complex, which increases the difficulty of 
implementing our management system; and

•	�our portfolio companies in different operating segments may deter-
mine that it is in their respective shareholders’ interests to pursue 

SBI Sumishin Net Bank, Ltd. and SBI Insurance Co., Ltd. during 
2007 to 2008 for undertaking new businesses in our aim to build an 
earning structure that does not depend solely on the stock markets. 
It is our key objective to further develop these businesses by pro-
voking stronger synergistic effects among the Group companies. 
For certain financial products, online sales alone are not sufficient, 
and there is a need for face-to-face consultations to explain the 
products to the customer directly. SBI MONEY PLAZA Co., Ltd., 
which provides a one-stop response to all customers needs for asset 
management, insurance and housing loans, will take the lead in 
developing the operation of the SBI Group’s face-to-face channels. 
	 In the Asset Management Business, we recognize that a high pri-
ority lies in expanding our investments in emerging countries, pri-
marily in Asia, and establishing an effective investment system. The 
Company will pursue setting up funds jointly with our leading local 
partners while monitoring the economic conditions of such countries 
as we continue to push establishment and penetration of our global 
network. We pursue private equity investment by identifying targets 
and concentrating our investments in growth areas with the aim to 
contribute in developing industries while benefiting from high invest-
ment performance. The Group will continue to invest in four key 
areas of IT, biotechnology, environment and energy, and finance 
going ahead. In the financial sectors, we will transfer the know-how 
of the Group and pursue direct investment in overseas financial insti-
tutions by which we can expect to enhance the value of corporations 
we invest in. The Group will also invest in promising domestic small 
and medium-sized corporations through operating buy-out funds. In 
undertaking these business activities, the Group will strive for further 
growth by continuing to aggressively utilize the resources both inside 
and outside of the Group and heightening the performance of the 
funds we operate, as we promptly improve the corporate value of 
companies we invest in.
	 In the Biotechnology-related Business which was determined as 
a new reportable segment from the beginning of this fiscal year, the 
Group conducts sales of health foods and cosmetics that contain 
5-aminolevulinic acid (5-ALA), and SBI Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd. 
carries out research and development of pharmaceutical products 
using 5-ALA. Research activities have recently been extended in 
domestic and foreign universities and research institutes to discover 
new applications of 5-ALA, and we strive to develop the products 
that serve customer’s healthy and enjoyable life focusing on 5-ALA 
with possible applications in a wider range of fields. SBI Biotech 
Co., Ltd. dedicates its efforts to developing new pharmaceutical 
products using the most advanced biotechnology in collaboration 
with leading research institutes around the world.
	 Furthermore, in July 2010, the Group launched a concept 
called the “Brilliant Cut Initiative.” By modeling the Group compa-
nies and businesses on facets of a diamond, namely a “58 brilliant-
cut diamond,” known to be the brightest and the most beautiful, 
with each of the facets giving the best shine when cut this way. The 
58 major companies and business entities of the Group’s business 
ecosystem reflect the 58 facets of a brilliant-cut diamond, which 
together shine most beautifully as one. In the aim to give out the 
best shine as a Group, we will pursue the “Brilliant Cut Initiative” 
in shifting our management emphasis from the traditional group-
wide expansion to profitability.
	 The Group recognizes that continuous enhancement of human 
resources is an essential group-wide initiative. It has become 
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alliances may adversely affect our reputation and our financial 
condition and results of operations.

5 )	 Risks relating to business reputation
We are vulnerable to poor market perception and reputational risk 
since we operate in industries where integrity and the trust and 
confidence of our customers are of utmost importance. Negative 
publicity (whether or not justified) associated with us or any of our 
funds, products, services, officers or employees, partners or alli-
ances, or the occurrence of any of the risks set out in this section 
could result in a loss of customers and/or mandates. Our business 
operations are highly dependent on our officers, employees, part-
ners and/or alliances. The actions, misconduct, omissions, failures 
or breaches of any of our officers or employees, partners and/or 
alliances may, by association, create negative publicity in relation 
to our Group. Accordingly, any mismanagement, fraud or failure to 
discharge legal, contractual, regulatory or fiduciary duties, responsi-
bilities, liabilities or obligations, or the negative perception resulting 
from such activities or any allegation of such activities, could have 
an adverse effect on our Group’s business, growth prospects, results 
of operations and/or financial condition. Such cases could 
adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.
	 In addition, there are some frauds or fraudulent acts, which use 
trade names of our Group companies, with our business expansion 
and increasing our publicity. Therefore, we may be hit hard by 
rumours even if we have no fault. It could have an adverse effect 
our financial condition and results of operations.

6 ) Risks relating to business restructuring and expansion
As a “Strategic Business Innovator,” one of our Group’s basic poli-
cies is to perpetuate “Self-Evolution.”
	 In addition to business restructurings including acquisitions of 
one-hundred percent ownership through the share exchange, we 
intend to aggressively pursue business expansion, including merg-
ers and acquisitions of businesses that we believe offer favourable 
synergies with our core businesses. We face the risk that our 
restructurings and business expansion activities may not produce 
the results that we expect. Failure to achieve expected results 
could have an adverse effect on our financial condition and results 
of operations.
	 We may not be able to identify suitable investment opportuni-
ties, partners or acquisitions candidates. Even if we do identify suit-
able investment opportunities, partners or acquisitions candidates, 
we may be unable to negotiate terms that are commercially accept-
able to us or complete those transactions at all. With respect to our 
acquisitions, we could have difficulty in integrating these companies 
or businesses, including internal operations, distribution networks, 
product lines and personnel, with our existing business, and there is 
no assurance that the expected strategic benefits of any acquisitions 
or alliances will be realized. The acquired companies may have low 
margins and require significant restructuring to increase efficiency. In 
addition, the key personnel of an acquired company may decide not 
to work for us. The acquired company could involve a number of 
specific risks, including diversion of management’s attention, higher 
costs, unanticipated events or circumstances, legal liabilities, failure 
of the business of the acquired company, fall in value of investments 
and amortization of acquired intangible assets, some or all of which 
could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and 

business ventures together. We cannot assure you that such business 
ventures will be successful or generate the synergies expected. 

2 )	� Our voting interests in our  
portfolio companies may be diluted

Our portfolio companies may become publicly traded, which will 
dilute our voting interests in these entities. In addition, our portfolio 
companies may from time to time need additional capital to achieve 
their expansion plans or other business objectives and may issue addi-
tional shares or other equity securities to meet their capital needs. We 
may choose not to, or be unable to, subscribe for the securities offered 
in any such additional issuances by our portfolio companies. If we fail 
to subscribe for additional securities of a portfolio company on a pro-
rata basis to our existing shareholding in such company, our equity 
interest in the portfolio company will be diluted.
	 A dilution in our equity interest in a portfolio company would 
reduce our share of the profits earned by such portfolio company, 
which may have an adverse effect on our financial condition and 
results of operations. Further, if our ownership were reduced signifi-
cantly, it may cause our representation on such company’s annual 
general meeting to be reduced, or otherwise reduce our ability to 
direct or influence the operations of that portfolio company.

3 )	� The growth we expect in the market for our  
online products and services may not materialise

The market in Japan for online financial products and services con-
tinues to evolve. Our success depends substantially on continued 
growth in the use of online products and services, such as online 
brokerage services, Internet banking, Internet-based insurance 
products and services by individuals. If this growth does not mate-
rialize, our financial condition and results of operations will suffer. 
Factors that could discourage Japanese individuals from using 
online products and services include security or privacy concerns, 
inconsistent quality of service and frustration with actual or per-
ceived difficulties in using the Internet to conduct brokerage and 
other financial transactions.

4 )	� Changes in the legal or financial stability of, or cultural or 
business strategic differences with, any counterparties 
with whom we enter into joint ventures or alliances

We operate joint ventures and enter into alliances with foreign and 
domestic counterparties and the success of these operations is 
often dependent upon the financial and legal stability of our coun-
terparties. If one of the counterparties with whom we operate a 
joint venture or continue a business alliance suffers a decline in its 
financial condition for any reason, or is subject to instability owing 
to a change to the laws governing its operations after we have 
invested in the joint venture or the business alliance, we may be 
unable to successfully operate the joint venture or alliance, or we 
may be required to invest additional capital or cease operations 
altogether. Likewise, significant differences in corporate culture 
and business strategy between ourselves and such partners may 
come to light and may result in significant changes to the assump-
tions that we made when we decided to enter into the joint venture 
or alliance. If our joint venture or counterparties are unable to per-
form as expected, or if any unexpected events relating to the alli-
ances occur, then we may be unable to continue those businesses 
successfully. Our inability to successfully operate joint ventures or 
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further strengthening its risk management and compliance systems 
in order to maintain financial soundness, and to conduct business 
activities properly. However, if we are subject to an administrative 
action or other punishment by FSA, for whatever reason, we may 
have difficulty conducting its business operations, or it could 
adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

9 )	 Risks relating to investment securities
We hold a large amount of investment securities, including invest-
ments in affiliated companies. We could experience impairment 
losses on our investment securities as a result of declines in their 
value, which could adversely affect our financial condition and 
results of operations.

10)	Litigation risk
We are exposed to litigation risk relating to the operations of our 
business segments on an on-going basis. While we cannot predict 
the outcome of any pending or future litigation, given the inherent 
unpredictability of litigation, it is possible that an adverse outcome 
in any one or more matters could have an adverse effect on our 
financial condition and results of operations.

11)	Risk relating to risk management and internal control
We have established risk management and internal control systems 
and procedures. Certain areas within our risk management and 
internal control systems may require constant monitoring, mainte-
nance and continual improvements by our senior management and 
staff. If our efforts to maintain these systems are provided to be 
ineffective or inadequate, we may be subject to sanctions or penal-
ties and our financial condition, results of operations, business pros-
pects and reputation may be adversely affected.
	 Our internal control system, no matter how sophisticated in 
design, still contains inherent limitations caused by misjudgment 
or fault. As such, there is no assurance that our risk management 
and internal control systems are adequate or effective notwith-
standing our efforts and any failure to address any internal control 
matters and other deficiencies could result in investigations and/
or disciplinary actions or even prosecution being taken against 
our Group and/or our employees, disruption to our risk manage-
ment system, and have an adverse effect on our financial condi-
tion and results of operations.

12)	Risks relating to funding liquidity
We raise working capital through various means, including equity 
finance in the capital markets, loans from financial institutions, and 
issuances of corporate bonds. Due to the global economic crisis and 
the resulting deterioration in the global credit markets, including 
reduced lending by financial institutions, we may face difficulty 
raising funds under favourable conditions or at all. In addition, 
potential downgrades to our credit ratings could interfere with our 
ability to raise funds from external sources. In such circumstances 
our access to funds could be restricted, and our financing costs 
could increase. Any such events could adversely affect our financial 
condition and results of operations.

13)	Derivatives risk
We utilize derivative instruments to reduce investment portfolio 
price fluctuations and to manage interest rate and foreign exchange 

results of operations. In the event that we plan to acquire or invest in 
other company, we may be required to obtain the prior approval of 
the relevant regulators and/or the government and there can be no 
assurance that such approvals will be obtained in a timely manner or 
at all. In addition, any acquisition of an overseas company will 
expose us to foreign exchange risks, foreign regulations applicable to 
its business and different environments that we are not familiar with. 
In the event that any such risk arises, it could adversely affect our 
financial condition and results of operations.
	 In addition, we may raise working capital through various 
means, including equity finance in the capital markets, share 
exchange, loans from financial institutions, and issuances of corpo-
rate bonds. Such cases could adversely affect our financial condi-
tion and results of operations.
	 Furthermore, on March 2013, we acquired additional shares of 
Hyundai Swiss Savings Bank which we held as investment for 
income/capital gain. In the meantime, we acquired shares of 
Hyundai Swiss 2 Savings Bank, subsidiary of Hyundai Swiss 
Savings Bank, on March 2013. So, Hyundai Swiss Savings Bank 
and its subsidiaries (the Hyundai Swiss Group) have become sub-
sidiaries of our Group. We subscribed capital increases of the two 
banks when they were required to enhance governance and 
improve capital adequacy ratios under government-led tightening 
of regulations and promotions of restructurings in Korean savings 
bank business.
	 We are now preceding enhancement of governance, such as 
dispatch of responsibility person. We plan to improve business val-
uation of Hyundai Swiss Group by increasing earning capacity 
through business alliances with our Group, but Hyundai Swiss 
Group is exposed to several risks for banking business in Korea, 
such as condition of real estate market or economic trend in Korea. 
Therefore, if enhancement of governance and increasing of earning 
capacity are unable to perform as expected, it could have an 
adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. 
In addition, we may be required to invest into Hyundai Swiss 
Group additionally for keeping their capital adequacy ratios prop-
erly through strengthening their assets prudentially. Therefore, it 
could have an adverse effect on our financial condition and results 
of operations.

7 )	 Risks relating to entering new businesses
Based on the management principle of aiming to be a “New 
Industry Creator,” we are aggressively creating and nurturing new 
businesses. If our new businesses are unable to achieve their busi-
ness plans as originally formulated, and if they are unable to record 
earnings commensurate with their initial investments, such failure 
could have an adverse effect on our financial condition and results 
of operations. In addition, our new businesses could become sub-
ject to new laws and regulations or be placed under the guidance of 
particular regulatory authorities. Any violations by our new busi-
nesses of the laws, regulations or guidance that is applicable to 
them, and any administrative or legal actions directed at them, 
could impede the conduct of their operations and have an adverse 
effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

8 )	 Risks relating to being a financial conglomerate
We are classified as a financial conglomerate as defined by the reg-
ulations of Financial Services Agency (FSA). As a result, we are 
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18)	�Risks relating to enactment of, or changes in,  
laws, regulations and accounting standards

Enactment of, or changes in, laws and regulations may affect the 
way that we conduct our business, the products or services that we 
may offer in Japan or overseas, as well as our customers, borrow-
ers, portfolio companies and funding sources. Such enactment or 
changes are unpredictable and may cause our costs to increase. As 
a result of such enactment or changes, our business activities, finan-
cial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.
	 Withdrawal or amendment of any regulatory approval or of 
any exemption from registration in respect of any part of our 
Group’s activities or any of our funds in any jurisdiction might 
oblige us to cease conducting a particular business or change the 
way in which it is conducted. Similarly, the withdrawal of either a 
license or an approval of one or more individuals would hinder 
their ability to perform their current role. The carrying on of regu-
lated activities by unauthorized persons could have a number of 
consequences including the possibility of agreements made in the 
course of carrying on such activities being unenforceable.
	 Enactment of, or changes in, accounting standards may have a 
significant effect on how we record and report our financial condi-
tion and results of operations, even if our underlying business fun-
damentals remain the same. As a result of such enactment or 
changes, our business activities, our financial condition and results 
of operations could be adversely affected.

19)	Risks relating to deferred tax assets
Temporary differences occurring between the financial statements 
and the tax bases of assets and liabilities are posted to deferred tax 
assets using the statutory effective tax rate applied when the differ-
ence is dissolved. 
	 If there is a tax reform and change in the statutory effective tax 
rate, we may reduce or increase the deferred tax assets. Such events 
could have an adverse effect on our financial condition and results 
of operations.
	 A valuation allowance is provided for the portion of recorded 
deferred tax assets in respect of temporary differences and losses 
carried forward that is more likely than not to remain unrealized. 
Loss carried forward can be posted as deferred tax assets to the 
extent of the amount recoverable, and our Group posts deferred 
tax assets based on the assumption of recoverability.
	 Each Group company calculates the estimated future recover-
able tax amount based on the expected amount of future taxable 
income. While we presume that it is quite possible to realize the 
deferred tax assets after valuation allowance, the amount of valuation 
allowance may fluctuate depending on any changes in the expected 
amount of future taxable income. Such changes could have an 
adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

20)	Risks relating to insurance coverage
To manage operating risks, we maintain in our portfolio companies 
insurance coverage of various kinds. However, we cannot assure you 
that all claims under their insurance policies will be honoured fully 
or on time. Furthermore, we are generally unable to insure against 
certain types of losses, including losses caused by earthquakes, 
typhoons, floods, wars and riots, and we do not have business inter-
ruption insurance. To the extent that any of our portfolio companies 
suffer loss or damage that is not covered by insurance or that exceeds 

rate risk. However, we may not be able to successfully manage our 
risks through the use of derivatives. Counterparties may fail to 
honour the terms of their derivatives contracts with us. 
Alternatively, our ability to enter into derivative transactions may 
be adversely affected if our credit ratings are downgraded.
	 We may also suffer losses from trading activities, a part of which 
includes the use of derivative instruments. As a result, our financial 
condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

14)	�We depend in part on dividends from our  
subsidiaries and other entities

We depend in part on dividends, distributions and others from our 
subsidiaries and other entities, such as partnerships and other 
investment vehicles, to fund payments on our obligations, includ-
ing our debt obligations. Regulatory and other legal restrictions, 
including contractual restrictions, may limit our ability to transfer 
funds to or from our subsidiaries and other entities. Some of our 
subsidiaries and other entities which we depend on, in part, for 
payments are subject to laws and regulations that authorize regula-
tory bodies, such as board of directors, to block or reduce the flow 
of funds to us, or that prohibit such transfers altogether in certain 
circumstances. These laws and regulations may hinder our ability 
to access funds that we may need to make payments on our obliga-
tions. Such payments could adversely affect our financial condition 
and results of operations.

15)	Reliance on key personnel
Our business operations depend on the leadership of our 
Representative Director, President and Chief Executive Officer, 
Mr. Yoshitaka Kitao, and other key members of our management 
team. If one or more of our current management teams becomes 
unable to continue operating our businesses, such event could 
adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations. 
Any remedial action adopted by management to deal with a loss of 
key personnel may not take effect immediately or at all.

16) Risks relating to employees
We employ who we consider highly skilled and qualified personnel 
to work under our management team. If we are unable to continue 
to engage highly skilled and qualified personnel of the requisite cal-
ibre and skills, this could adversely affect our financial condition 
and results of operations.

17)	�Risks relating to trademarks and  
other intellectual property rights

Our businesses involve various types of intellectual property, 
including patents, copyrights and other forms of intellectual prop-
erty, particularly those related to our “SBI” brand. We rely on our 
ability to protect the intellectual property we own and use in our 
business. If we fail to sufficiently protect our intellectual property, 
or if we are unable to acquire the necessary licenses for the use of 
third-party intellectual property, we may experience difficulty in 
developing technologies or providing services. Also, we may be the 
subject of legal actions brought by third parties alleging infringe-
ment of their intellectual property. In addition, we may experience 
increased costs in connection with intellectual property, especially 
those related to copyright. Such additional costs could have an 
adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.
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The Foreign Corrupt Practices Act in US, might extend into our 
Group in other countries including Japan. We have responded to a 
variety of these laws and regulations after careful investigations and 
examinations for these risks, but some unexpected events may 
occur. Such events could have an adverse effect on our financial 
condition and results of operations.

24)	�We cannot guarantee the accuracy of facts and statistics 
with respect to certain information obtained from official 
governmental sources and other data

Facts and statistics relating to Japan, the Japanese economy and the 
financial sector (including the financial services industry) and other 
sectors in which we operate derived from official government or 
other industry sources are generally believed to be reliable. 
However, we cannot guarantee the quality or reliability of such 
information. We have not prepared or verified the accuracy of the 
information received from such sources. We make no representa-
tion as to the accuracy or completeness of such facts and statistics 
from these sources. Furthermore, there can be no assurance that 
these sources have stated or compiled such facts and figures on the 
same basis or with the same degree of accuracy or completeness as 
may be the case elsewhere. In all cases, you should not unduly rely 
on these facts and statistics.

the limit of its insurance coverage, our financial condition and results 
of operations and cash flow may be adversely affected.

21)	Past results may not be indicative of future performance
Our historical financial information may not necessarily reflect our 
financial condition or results of operations in the future. We may 
experience slower growth in some of our businesses and we may 
not be successful in launching new businesses. New businesses may 
not achieve as quick or as large growth as anticipated, and our mul-
tiple business strategy may not be successful and we may not be 
able to successfully integrate future businesses or assets into our 
existing operations.

22)	�We may suffer substantial losses in the event of a natural 
disaster, such as an earthquake, terrorist attack or other 
casualty event in Japan or other markets in which we operate

A substantial portion of our assets, as well as our head office, are 
located in Japan and a substantial portion of our total equity is 
derived from our operations in Japan. Our overseas operations are 
subject to similar or other disaster risks. Additionally, large disas-
ters, outbreaks, terrorist attacks or other casualty events affecting 
our operational network, either in Japan or overseas, could disrupt 
our operations even in the absence of direct physical damage to 
our properties or cause a material economic downturn in the 
affected area or country, which in turn could result in significant 
interruptions to or an adverse effect on our businesses, financial 
condition and results of operations.

23)	�Risks relating to our investments, development of our  
business, funding and legal regulations in overseas operation

We are actively investing and promoting business development in 
overseas countries. In these cases, in addition to foreign currency 
risks, we also have risks relating to increasing cost or losses unique 
to overseas business due to different factors from factors in Japan, 
such as systems including laws and regulations, business practice, 
economic status, corporate culture, consumer attitude and others in 
overseas countries. We implement investments and business devel-
opment of our operations in overseas countries after careful investi-
gations, examinations and taking countermeasures for these risks. 
Nevertheless, if some events, which we could not estimate at the 
beginning, occur, such events could have an adverse effect on our 
financial condition and results of operations.
	 In addition, there is an increasing tendency of ratios of foreign 
shareholders in our shareholders. Therefore, it may be expected 
that we perform as the result the financing in foreign countries 
regardless of our intention. As a result, we may be affected by for-
eign laws and regulations, particularly those for investor protection, 
and may incur increased expenses or restrictions on our business to 
comply with those laws and regulations. In addition, fund-raising 
by means such as borrowing from overseas financial institutions or 
the issuance of corporate bonds overseas for the purpose of hedg-
ing foreign exchange risk may increase. Even if we implement 
these after careful investigations and examinations for these risks, 
but some events, which we could not estimate at the beginnings, 
may occur. Such events could have an adverse effect on our finan-
cial condition and results of operations.
	 Recently, in addition to above, application of laws and regula-
tions in overseas countries, such as Bribery Act 2010 in UK and 

	� For risks specific to each business segment, please refer to 
the Securities Report at

	 http://www.sbigroup.co.jp/english/investors/library/filings/
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE GROUP
(Amounts in millions of Japanese Yen, rounded off to the nearest million except for per share information, unless otherwise stated)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Millions of Yen

Notes
As at 1 April  

2011
As at 31 March 

2012
As at 31 March  

2013

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 16 160,398 159,833 133,362 
Trade and other accounts receivable 6, 7, 8, 16 166,090 180,385 412,477 
Assets related to securities business

Cash segregated as deposits 347,866 663,066 846,445 
Margin transaction assets 139,960 166,652 164,935 
Other assets related to securities business 9 228,664 160,490 422,265 
Total assets related to securities business 6 716,490 990,208 1,433,645 

Other financial assets 16 16,885 13,086 26,694 
Operational investment securities 6, 7, 10 108,138 121,951 119,268 
Other investment securities 6, 7, 10 13,036 10,548 57,209 
Investments in associates 11, 16 23,367 29,097 35,689 
Investment properties 12, 16 19,291 18,529 36,355 
Property and equipment 13 10,879 9,462 10,517 
Intangible assets 14 67,976 64,502 185,581 
Other assets 16 47,065 37,101 29,928 
Deferred tax assets 15 22,114 20,866 13,662 
Total assets 1,371,729 1,655,568 2,494,387 

Liabilities
Bonds and loans payable 6, 7, 16 276,978 285,188 344,360 
Trade and other accounts payable 7, 17 42,525 39,073 48,894 
Liabilities related to securities business

Margin transaction liabilities 79,189 113,002 153,612 
Loans payable secured by securities 61,798 76,593 135,609 
Deposits from customers 36,717 331,489 387,310 
Guarantee deposits received 309,135 289,405 372,440 
Other liabilities related to securities business 18 176,482 123,342 255,634 
Total liabilities related to securities business 6, 7 663,321 933,831 1,304,605 

Customer deposits for banking business 6, 7 — — 376,177 
Income tax payable 5,099 4,847 2,192 
Other financial liabilities 6, 7 24,947 29,916 35,371 
Other liabilities 5,609 4,937 15,430 
Deferred tax liabilities 15 5,362 5,871 6,823 
Total liabilities 1,023,841 1,303,663 2,133,852 

Equity
Capital stock 20 73,236 81,665 81,668 
Capital surplus 20 155,525 160,471 160,550 
Treasury stock 20 (247) (3,180) (5,117)
Other component of equity 20 571 (1,363) 6,196 
Retained earnings 20 60,951 58,930 60,002 
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 290,036 296,523 303,299 
Non-controlling interests 57,852 55,382 57,236 

Total equity 347,888 351,905 360,535 
Total liabilities and equity 1,371,729 1,655,568 2,494,387 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME

Millions of Yen

Notes
Fiscal Year ended 

31 March 2012
Fiscal Year ended 

31 March 2013

Operating revenue 5, 23 177,409 153,476 

Operating expense
Operating cost 24 (73,766) (55,275)
Financial cost 24 (5,229) (4,612)
Selling, general and administrative expenses 24 (74,092) (75,231)
Other expenses 24 (7,017) (2,339)
Total operating expense  (160,104) (137,457)

Share of results of associates using the equity method 5, 11 225 558 
Operating income 17,530 16,577 

Other financial income and cost
Other financial income 25 504 604 
Other financial cost 25 (2,434) (2,968)
Total other financial income and cost  (1,930) (2,364)

Profit before income tax expense 5 15,600 14,213 

Income tax expense 26 (12,838) (7,251)
Profit for the year 2,762 6,962 

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company 303 3,202 
Non-controlling interests 2,459 3,760 

Profit for the year 2,762 6,962 

Earnings per share attributable to owners of the Company
Basic (Yen) 28 1.38 14.75 
Diluted (Yen) 28 1.38 14.75 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Millions of Yen

Notes Attributable to owners of the Company

Capital 
Stock

Capital 
Surplus

Treasury 
Stock

Other 
Component 

of Equity
Retained 
Earnings Total

Non-
controlling 
Interests

Total 
Equity

As at 1 April 2011 73,236 155,525 (247) 571 60,951 290,036 57,852 347,888 
Profit for the year — — — — 303 303 2,459 2,762 
Other comprehensive income/(loss) — — — (1,867) — (1,867) 31 (1,836)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) — — — (1,867) 303 (1,564) 2,490 926 
Issuance of new stock 20 8,429 8,298 — — — 16,727 — 16,727 
Change in scope of consolidation — 223 — — — 223 (1,556) (1,333)
Dividends paid 21 — — — — (2,391) (2,391) (2,156) (4,547)
Treasury shares purchased 20 — — (2,939) — — (2,939) — (2,939)
Treasury shares sold 20 — — 6 — — 6 — 6 
Changes of interests in  
   subsidiaries without losing control

— (3,575) — — — (3,575) (1,248) (4,823)

Transfer from other component  
   of equity

20 — — — (67) 67 — — —

As at 31 March 2012 81,665 160,471 (3,180) (1,363) 58,930 296,523 55,382 351,905 

Profit for the year — — — — 3,202 3,202 3,760 6,962 
Other comprehensive income/(loss) — — — 7,637 — 7,637 741 8,378 
Total comprehensive income/(loss) — — — 7,637 3,202 10,839 4,501 15,340 
Issuance of new stock 20 3 3 — — — 6 — 6 
Change in scope of consolidation — 1 — — — 1 (7,909) (7,908)
Dividends paid 21 — — — — (2,208) (2,208) (3,004) (5,212)

Treasury shares purchased 20 — — (2,021) — — (2,021) — (2,021)
Treasury shares sold 20 — 0 84 — — 84 — 84 
Changes of interests in  
   subsidiaries without losing control

— 75 — — — 75 8,266 8,341 

Transfer from other component  
   of equity

20 — — — (78) 78 — — —

As at 31 March 2013 81,668 160,550 (5,117) 6,196 60,002 303,299 57,236 360,535 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Millions of Yen

Notes
Fiscal Year ended 

31 March 2012
Fiscal Year ended 

31 March 2013

Profit for the year 2,762 6,962 

Other comprehensive income/(loss)
Currency translation differences 27 (1,236) 7,181 
FVTOCI financial assets 27 (397) (250)
Hedging instruments for cash flow hedges 27 (2) 49 
Proportionate share of other comprehensive income/(loss) of associates 27 (201) 1,398 

Other comprehensive income/(loss), net of tax (1,836) 8,378 
Total comprehensive income/(loss) 926 15,340 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to owners of the Company (1,564) 10,839 
Non-controlling interests 2,490 4,501 

Total comprehensive income/(loss)  926 15,340 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Millions of Yen

Notes
Fiscal Year ended 

31 March 2012
Fiscal Year ended 

31 March 2013

Net cash from (used in) operating activities
Profit before income tax expense 15,600 14,213 
Depreciation and amortization 7,660 7,624 
Share of results of associates using the equity method (225) (558)
Interest and dividend income (18,644) (18,454)
Interest expense 7,644 7,565 
Decrease (increase) in operational investment securities (5,220) 557 
Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable and other receivables (992) 10,614 
Increase in operational liabilities and other liabilities 11,664 14,167 
Increase in assets/liabilities related to securities business (2,771) (72,300)
Others (5,758) (3,898)
Subtotal 8,958 (40,470)
Interest and dividend income received 17,783 17,854 
Interest expense paid (7,396) (6,884)
Income taxes paid (9,527) (7,484)
Net cash from (used in) operating activities 9,818 (36,984)

Net cash used in investing activities
Purchases of intangible assets (5,499) (4,279)
Purchases of investment securities (11,180) (9,876)
Proceeds from sales of investment securities 2,226 4,580 
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash and cash equivalents acquired 29 792 (18,451)
Proceeds from sales of subsidiaries, net of cash and cash equivalents disposed of 29 (4,076) 10,062 
Payments of loans receivable (11,560) (8,215)
Collection of loans receivable 13,178 5,987 
Others 98 1,132 
Net cash used in investing activities (16,021) (19,060)

Net cash from financing activities
Increase in short-term loans payable 8,421 32,305 
Proceeds from long-term loans payable 6,020 28,437 
Repayment of long-term loans payable (27,861) (42,968)
Proceeds from issuance of bonds payable 89,937 63,945 
Redemption of bonds payable (69,680) (60,540)
Proceeds from stock issuance 16,716 6 
Proceeds from stock issuance to non-controlling interests 844 3,679 
Contributions from non-controlling interests in consolidated investment funds 1,057 2,052 
Cash dividend paid (2,660) (2,213)
Cash dividend paid to non-controlling interests (187) (467)
Distributions to non-controlling interests in consolidated investment funds (5,164) (2,431)
Purchase of treasury stock (2,939) (2,021)
Proceeds from sale of interests in subsidiaries to non-controlling interests 611 7,603 
Payments for purchase of interests in subsidiaries from non-controlling interests (6,411) (295)
Others (1,317) (1,393)
Net cash from financing activities 7,387 25,699 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,184 (30,345)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 160,398 159,833 
Effect of changes in exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents (1,749) 3,874 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 159,833 133,362 
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1. Reporting Entity

SBI Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated in Japan. 
The consolidated financial statements of the Company consist 
of the Company, its subsidiaries (hereinafter referred to as the 
“Group”) and interests in the Group’s associates and joint ven-
tures. The Group is engaged in various businesses, which pri-
marily consist of three key businesses: “Financial Services 
Business”, “Asset Management Business” and “Biotechnology-
related Business”. See Note 5 “Segment Information” for 
detailed information on each business.

2. Basis of Preparation

(1)	 First year of adoption of IFRSs
Since the Company meets the criteria of “Specific company” 
defined in item 1 under the first clause of Article 1-2 of the Rules 
Governing Term, Form and Preparation of Consolidated 
Financial Statements (Financial Ministerial Order the 28th, 1976), 
the consolidated financial statements of the Group were prepared 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRSs”) pursuant to Article 93 of the Rules Governing Term, 
Form and Preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Financial Ministerial Order the 28th, 1976).
	 The Group determined to first adopt IFRSs for this fiscal 
year ended 31 March 2013 and the consolidated financial state-
ments for this fiscal year ended 31 March 2013 are the first con-
solidated financial statements prepared under IFRSs.
	 The date of transition to IFRSs is 1 April 2011 (hereinafter 
referred to as the “transition date”) and IFRS 1 “First time 
Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards” (here-
inafter referred to as “IFRS 1”) has been applied.
	 An explanation of the first application of IFRSs and the 
effect of the transition to IFRSs on the Group’s financial posi-
tion, financial results and cash flows is provided in Note “33 
Explanation of Transition to IFRSs”.
	 The consolidated financial statements were approved and 
authorized for issue by the Company’s Representative Director, 
President and CEO, Yoshitaka Kitao and Director, Managing 
Executive Officer and CFO, Shumpei Morita on 24 June 2013.

(2)	 Basis of measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on 
the historical cost basis except for the below:
• ‌�Financial instruments are measured at fair value through profit 

or loss (“FVTPL”) 
• ‌�Financial instruments are measured at fair value through other 

comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”)
	 The measurement basis of fair value of the financial instru-
ments are provided in Note 6 “Fair value of financial instruments”.

(3)	 Reporting currency
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Japanese 
Yen, which is the functional currency of the Company and 
rounded off to the nearest million yen, unless otherwise stated.

(4)	 Use of estimates and judgments
In the preparation of the Group’s interim condensed consoli-
dated financial statements in accordance with IFRSs, manage-
ment of the Company are required to make estimates, 
judgments and assumptions about the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on 
historical experience and other factors that are considered to be 
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
	 The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed 
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the 
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revi-
sion and future periods if the revision affects both current and 
future periods.
	 The following are key assumptions concerning the future, 
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of 
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabil-
ities in the current period and future periods.

(a)	 Measurement of financial instruments
	� Unlisted equity securities held by the Group are primarily 

included in operational investment securities and classified 
as fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). Fair values of 
those unlisted equity securities are measured using valua-
tion techniques in which some significant input may not be 
based on observable market data.

(b)	 Deferred tax assets
	� Temporary differences which arise from differences between 

the assets and liabilities on the financial statements and tax 
basis and tax losses carryforwards are recorded as deferred 
tax assets up to the ceiling of the recoverable amount based 
on the future taxable income using the effective tax rate of 
when the temporary differences and tax losses carryfor-
wards are estimated to be utilized.

(c)	 Evaluation of goodwill
	� The Group estimates the recoverable amount of its goodwill 

regardless of an indication of impairment. The recoverable 
amount is calculated based on the future cash flows.

(d)	 Impairment on financial assets at amortized cost
	� Impairment on financial assets at amortized cost is mea-

sured using carrying amount less present value of the future 
cash flows discounted based on the financial assets’ initial 
effective interest rate.

3. Significant Accounting Policies

The Group’s accounting policies complied with IFRSs effective 
at 31 March 2013, except for IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” 
(issued in November 2009, revised in October 2010 and 
December 2011) (“IFRS 9”), which the Group adopted early.
	 The accounting policies listed below, if not otherwise stated, 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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are applied consistently in the preparation of these consolidated 
financial statements (including the consolidated statement of 
financial position as at the transition date).

(1)	 Basis of consolidation
(a)	 Subsidiaries
	� Name of main subsidiaries are listed in Section of Corporate 

Profile, “3. SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES.” 
Subsidiaries refer to the entities under control of the Group. 
Control is defined as the Group having the power to govern 
the financial and operating policies of the investee so as to 
obtain benefits from the investee’s activities. Subsidiaries are 
fully consolidated from the date on which control is obtained 
by the Group. They are deconsolidated on the date that the 
Group loses control. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have 
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the 
accounting policies adopted by the Group.

	�	  Investments in funds operated by the Group are 
excluded from the scope of consolidation if they are not 
controlled by the Group.

	�	  Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealized 
gains on transactions among Group companies are elimi-
nated in the consolidated financial statements. Unrealized 
losses are also eliminated and the related impairment is 
assessed.

	�	  Comprehensive loss arising from subsidiaries are allo-
cated to the owners of the Company and non-controlling 
interests even if the balance of non-controlling interests are 
a negative figure. 

(b)	 Associates and joint ventures
	� Associates are entities over which the Group has significant 

influence, and that are neither a subsidiary nor an interest 
in a joint venture.

	�	  Significant influence is the power to participate in the 
financial and operating policy decision of the investee but is 
not control or joint control over those policies, which are 
generally assumed to be holding of between 20% and 50% 
of the voting rights.

	�	  Joint venture is a contractual agreement whereby the 
Group and other parties undertake an economic activity 
that is subject to joint control (i.e., when the strategic finan-
cial and operating policy decisions relating to the activities 
of the joint venture require the unanimous consent of all the 
parties sharing control.)

	�	  Investments in associates and joint ventures are initially 
recognized at cost and accounted for using the equity 
method of accounting. However, investments held by ven-
ture capital organizations and other similar entities in the 
Group are accounted for at fair value through profit or loss 
according to IFRS 9.

	�	  Under the equity method, investor’s share of the profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income (after adjustments for 
the purpose of conforming with the Group accounting poli-
cies), during from the date of having significant influence or 
entering into a joint venture to the date of losing significant 
influence or ceasing a joint venture agreement, of the associ-
ates and joint ventures (hereinafter referred to as “equity 

method associates”) were recognized and recorded as adjust-
ments to the carrying amounts of investments. 

	�	  When the Group’s share of losses in an equity method 
associate exceeds its interest in the associate, losses are not 
recognized to exceed the carrying amount of the invest-
ments. The Group does not recognize further losses, unless 
it has incurred legal or constructive obligation or made pay-
ments on behalf of the associate.

	�	  Unrealized gain on inter-company transactions with 
equity method associates are deducted from the balance of 
carrying amount of investments only to the extent of inves-
tor’s interests in the associates. 

 
(c)	 Special purpose entities
	� Special purpose entities (“SPE”) are consolidated in the 

Group’s financial statements when the Group has the right 
to obtain substantial rewards and is exposed to relevant 
risks, which indicate the actual control of the SPE.

(d)	 Business combination
	� With the transition to IFRSs, according to IFRS 1, the 

Group determined to apply IFRS 3 “Business combination” 
(“IFRS 3”) retrospectively for those business combination 
incurred on or after 31 March 2008. 

	�	  Acquisition method is applied for acquisitions incurred 
on or after 31 March 2008. The consideration transferred 
for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the total of acquisition 
date fair value of the assets transferred, the liabilities 
incurred to the former owner of the acquiree and the equity 
interests issued by the Group. 

	�	  Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a 
business combination are measured initially at their acquisi-
tion date fair value except for the below.

	 • ‌�Deferred tax assets (or deferred tax liabilities) and assets (or 
liabilities) related to employee benefits are required to be 
recognized and measured in accordance with IAS 12 
“Income Tax” and IAS 19 “Employee benefits”.

	 • ‌�Share based payment plan of the acquiree, or liabilities or 
equity financial instruments issued for the purpose of 
replacement of acquiree’s share based payment plan were 
measured according to IFRS 2 “Share Based Payments”.

	 • ‌�Non-current assets or disposal group categorized as held 
for sale were measured according to IFRS 5 “Non-current 
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations”.

	� Goodwill is initially measured at the excess of the aggregate 
of the consideration transferred and the fair value of non-
controlling interest over the net identifiable assets acquired 
and liabilities assumed. If negative excess is occurred, the 
difference is recognized in profit.

	�	  The Group recognized non-controlling interest in the 
acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either at fair 
value or at the proportionate share of the recognized 
amount of acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

	�	  Acquisition-related cost is expensed as incurred, except 
for the costs related to the issuance of debt securities and 
equity securities.

	�	  If the business combination is achieved in stages, the 
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acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is 
remeasured at fair value at the acquisition date and resulting 
gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss.

(e)	� Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without loss 
of control

	� The Group determined to apply IFRS 3 retrospectively for 
the business combination occurred on or after 31 March 
2008. Transaction with non-controlling interests that do not 
result in loss of control are accounted for as equity transac-
tion according to IAS 27 “Consolidated and separate finan-
cial statements” (“IAS 27”). The carrying amount of the 
Group’s share and non-controlling interests are adjusted as 
according to the change of interest. The difference between 
“fair value of consideration paid or received” and “adjust-
ments of the carrying value of non-controlling interests” is 
recorded in equity and attributed to owners of the 
Company.

	�	  For the transactions occurred before 31 March 2008, 
changes in interests in subsidiaries without change of con-
trol are accounted for under Japanese GAAP and recog-
nized as goodwill or in profit or loss in accordance with 
IFRS 1.

( f )	 Loss of control
	� When the Group loses control, the difference between the 

“total fair value of consideration received and the retained 
interest” and “the previous carrying amount of subsidiary’s 
assets (including goodwill), liabilities and non-controlling 
interests” are recognized in profit or loss.

	�	  In addition, any amount previously recognized in other 
accumulated comprehensive income in relation to the sub-
sidiary is accounted for as if the Group had directly dis-
posed of each related assets or liabilities.

	�	  The fair value of the retained interest in the former sub-
sidiary is measured in accordance with  IFRS 9.

(2)	 Foreign currency
(a)	 Foreign currency translation
	� In preparing the financial statements of each individual 

Group entity, transactions in currencies other than the func-
tional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are trans-
lated in the respective functional currency (i.e. the currency 
of the primary economic environment in which the entity 
operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of 
the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, mone-
tary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the year end date. 
Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at fair 
value in a foreign currency shall be retranslated using the 
exchange rate at the date when the fair value was measured. 
The exchange differences arising from the retranslation 
were recognized in profit or loss, except for retranslation 
differences on financial instruments, the change in the fair 
value of which is recognized in other comprehensive 
income and exchange differences arising from transactions 
for the purpose of hedging certain foreign exchange risk.

(b)	 Foreign operations
	� The assets and liabilities, including goodwill and fair value 

adjustments arising on business combinations, of all the 
Group entities that have a functional currency that is differ-
ent from the presentation currency (mainly foreign opera-
tions) are translated into the presentation currency using the 
rates of exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting 
period. Income and expenses of foreign operations are 
translated into the presentation currency at the average 
exchange rates.

	�	  Exchange differences arising are recognized as other 
comprehensive income. On or after 1 April 2011, the 
Group’s transition date, the differences are recorded and 
accumulated as translation reserve in equity and will be 
reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal of the 
foreign operation. The Group applied the exemption for 
cumulative translation reserve in IFRS 1, and resetting 
cumulative translation gains and losses to zero at the transi-
tion date.

(3)	 Financial instruments
The Group decided to early adopt IFRS 9 from 1 April 2011, 
the transition date as the date of initial application of IFRS 9.
	 IFRS 9, “Financial instruments” applies to all financial 
assets which are currently addressed in IAS 39, “Financial 
instruments: Recognition and Measurement”, to be subse-
quently measured either at amortized cost or at fair value. Debt 
instruments are measured at amortized cost if both of the fol-
lowing conditions are met: (i) the debt instruments are held in 
order to collect contractual cash flows as according to the 
Group’s business model for managing the financial assets and (ii) 
the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified 
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
	 Debt instruments and equity instruments other than those 
above are subsequently measured at fair value. 

(a)	 Initial recognition and measurement
	� The Group recognizes a financial asset or financial liability 

in its statement of financial position when, and only when, 
the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 
the instrument.

	�	  A regular way purchase or sale of financial assets is rec-
ognized and derecognized, as applicable, using trade date 
accounting. A regular way purchase or sale is a purchase or 
sale of a financial asset under a contract whose terms 
require delivery of the asset within the time frame estab-
lished generally by regulation or convention in the market-
place concerned.

	�	  At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial 
asset or financial liability at its fair value plus or minus, in 
the case of a financial asset or financial liability not at 
FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability. 
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of 
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recog-
nized immediately in profit or loss.

	�	  The Group decided to apply the exemptions of IFRS 1 
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stated below in respect of adopting IFRS 9.
	�	  Based on the facts and circumstances that exist as at the 

transition date and in accordance with IFRS 9, financial 
instruments held for the purpose of gaining appreciation 
through changes of fair value are designated as financial 
assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL.

	�	  Based on the facts and circumstances that exist as at the 
transition date and in accordance with  IFRS 9, equity 
instruments held for purposes other than trading are desig-
nated as financial assets at FVTOCI.

(b)	 Offsetting
	� Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount 

is reported in the statement of financial position when there 
is a legally enforceable right of offset the recognized 
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or 
to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

(c)	 Non-derivative financial assets
	� Non-derivative financial assets are initially designated as 

“Financial assets measured at amortized cost”, “Financial 
assets at FVTPL” or “Financial assets at FVTOCI” on the 
basis of the Group’s business model for managing the finan-
cial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of 
the financial asset.

	 Financial assets measured at amortized cost
	� Financial assets are subsequently measured using the effec-

tive interest method at amortized cost less accumulative 
impairment loss if both of the following conditions are met: 
(i) the debt instruments are held in order to collect contrac-
tual cash flows according to the Group’s business model for 
managing the financial assets and (ii) the contractual terms 
of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash 
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on 
the principal amount outstanding.

	 Financial assets at FVTPL
	� A financial asset is subsequently measured at fair value 

unless it is measured at amortized cost.

	 Financial assets at FVTOCI
	� Within financial instruments other than financial instru-

ments held for trading, equity instruments are designated as 
financial instruments at FVTOCI at initial recognition. This 
is an irrevocable election, which means the accumulative 
changes of fair value recorded as other comprehensive 
income cannot be reclassified to profit or loss. Dividends 
from the above mentioned equity instruments are recog-
nized in profit or loss when there is no apparent evidence 
showing that the dividends are repayments of the original 
investment. At derecognition of equity instruments at 
FVTOCI or when the decline of fair value is not temporary 
compared with their initial cost, the recognized amount of 
changes in fair value accumulated in other comprehensive 
income is reclassified directly to retained earnings.

(d)	 Cash and cash equivalents
	� Cash and cash equivalents are cash and highly liquid 

financial assets with original maturities of three months 
or less. 

(e)	 Non-derivative financial liabilities
	� Non-derivative financial liabilities include corporate bonds 

and loans, trade and other accounts payable, which are sub-
sequently measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method.

(f)	 Trading assets and liabilities
	� Financial assets and liabilities are classified as trading assets 

and trading liabilities in the below situation:
	 • ‌�Financial assets acquired for the purpose of sale or repur-

chase mostly in the short term
	 • ‌�At initial recognition, the financial assets are managed 

together by the Group as part of a certain financial instru-
ment portfolio, from which an actual short term gain has 
been realized.

	 • ‌�Derivative (either not classified as hedging instruments or 
proved to be not effective as hedging instruments) 

	� Trading assets and trading liabilities are classified as finan-
cial assets and liabilities at FVTPL, changes in amounts of 
which are recognized in profit or loss. Trading assets and 
trading liabilities are presented in “Other assets (or liabili-
ties) related to securities business” in the statement of finan-
cial position.

(g)	 Derecognition
	� The Group derecognizes a financial asset when, and only 

when, the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 
financial asset expire or the Group no longer retains the 
contractual rights to receive the cash flows and transfers all 
the risks and rewards related to the financial asset.

	�	  If, as a result of a transfer, which satisfies the criteria for 
derecognition, a financial asset is derecognized but the 
transfer results in the Group obtaining or retaining certain 
rights and responsibilities, the Group recognizes them as 
new financial assets or liabilities. 

(h)	 Fair value measurement
	� The Group measures the fair value of a financial asset or lia-

bility using the market price from an active market if avail-
able. Fair value of financial assets held and liabilities to be 
issued by the Group are measured at bid price as the appro-
priate market price while financial assets to be obtained and 
liabilities already issued are determined at ask price.

	�	  The Group uses valuation techniques to measure fair 
value if the financial assets are not traded in an active market. 
Valuation techniques include utilization of a quoted price of a 
recent actual transaction in an active market, current fair 
value of an identical or similar financial instruments, dis-
counted cash flow analysis and option pricing models. When 
there is evidence that market participants use valuation tech-
niques to determine the price of a financial asset and liability 
and provide a reliable estimated market price, fair value 
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should be determined based on that valuation technique. To 
ensure the validity and the effectiveness of the valuation tech-
niques used in determining fair value, the Group reassess the 
valuation techniques based on observable market data on a 
regular basis.

	�	  The Group adopted an exemption for fair value on ini-
tial recognition of financial assets and liabilities in IFRS 1, 
electing to apply valuation techniques for transactions 
without an active market occurring on or after the transi-
tion date.

(i)	 Impairment on financial assets measured at amortized cost
	� The Group recognizes impairment losses for financial assets 

measured at amortized costs after the initial recognition 
when there is objective evidence that a loss event has 
occurred and it is reasonably predictable that a negative 
impact will be exerted on the estimated future cash flows 
arising from the financial assets. The Group assesses 
whether there is objective evidence indicating that financial 
assets measured at amortized cost are impaired on a quar-
terly basis. 

	�	  Financial assets measured at amortized cost are assessed 
for impairment individually or together depending on the 
significance of the financial assets. While significant finan-
cial assets are assessed for impairment individually, financial 
assets which are not assessed individually are grouped by 
risk characteristic and assessed together for impairment. 

	�	  For financial assets measured at amortized cost, the 
amount of the impairment loss recognized is the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value 
of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial 
asset’s original effective interest rate. An impairment loss is 
recognized in profit or loss in the period and the carrying 
amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment 
loss directly. 

	�	  Interest on the impaired asset is recognized as the 
adjustments to discounts realized through the passage of 
time. When the adjustment to impairment loss after recog-
nizing an impairment loss has occurred, which decreases 
the impairment loss, the adjustments to impairment loss is 
recognized in profit or loss. 

(j)	 Hedge accounting
	� The Group uses interest rate swap contracts to hedge inter-

est rate risk. 
	�	  At the inception of the hedge, the Group has a formal 

documentation of the hedging relationship between 
hedged item or transaction and hedging instrument, which 
is the interest rate swap contracts, in compliance with our 
risk management objective and strategy. In addition, the 
Group has a formal documentation on the effectiveness of 
the interest rate swap contracts to hedge the risks of 
changes in fair value and cash flows at the inception and 
on an ongoing basis. 

	�	  The changes in fair value of interest swap contracts, 
which are designated as hedging instruments for fair value 
hedge, are recognized in profit or loss. The gain or loss on 
the hedged item attributable to the risk of changes in 

interest rates shall adjust the carrying amount of the hedged 
item and be recognized in profit or loss.

	�	  Among the changes in fair value of interest swap con-
tracts, which are designated as hedging instruments for 
cash flow hedges, the portion of the gain or loss on the 
hedging instrument that is determined to be an effective 
hedge shall be recognized in other comprehensive income, 
while the ineffective portion shall be recognized in profit 
or loss.

	�	  The amount that has been recognized in other compre-
hensive income shall be deducted from other comprehen-
sive income in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income and reclassified to profit or loss in the same period 
during which the hedged item of cash flows affects profit or 
loss.

	�	  The Group shall discontinue prospectively the hedge 
accounting when the criteria for hedge accounting are no 
longer satisfied. In such situation, amounts accumulated in 
other comprehensive income remain unadjusted until the 
anticipated transaction finally affects profit or loss, or that 
the anticipated transaction is not expected to occur, when 
the underlying amount shall be immediately recognized in 
profit or loss. 

(k)	 Capital stock
	 Common stock 
	� Common stocks issued by the Group are classified as equity 

and stock issuance costs, after  tax effects, are recognized as 
deduction to equity. 

	 Treasury stock
	� The Group’s own equity instruments which are reacquired 

are recognized at cost including acquisition related costs, 
after tax effects, as a deduction from equity. When the 
Group sells treasury stocks, the consideration proceeded is 
recognized as an addition to equity. 

(4)	 Inventories
Inventories held by the Group are mainly real estate invento-
ries. Real estate inventories are stated at lower of cost and net 
realizable value. Cost is determined upon individual identifica-
tion of inventory. Net realizable value is the estimated selling 
price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs 
to completion and estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

(5)	 Lease
(a)	 Accounting by lessor as financial lease
	� A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substan-

tially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. A 
receivable is recognized at an amount equal to the net 
investment in the lease and presented as an operating 
receivable or other receivable in the consolidated statement 
of financial position. 

(b)	 Accounting by lessee as financial lease
	� A lease is classified as a financial lease when the Group 

assumes the risks and rewards according to the lease con-
tract. Lease assets are initially recognized at the lower of fair 
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value of the leased property and the present value of the 
minimum lease payments. In subsequent measurement, 
lease assets are accounted for under the standards applied 
to the assets.

(6)	 Property and equipment
(a)	 Initial recognition and measurement
	� Property and equipment are presented at acquired cost less 

by accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
loss. Acquired cost includes the costs incurred directly 
related to the acquisition of the assets. Any gain or loss aris-
ing on the disposal of an item of property and equipment is 
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds 
and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognized in 
profit or loss.

(b)	 Depreciation
	� Depreciation is measured based on the depreciable amount, 

which is calculated as the initial cost of items of property 
and equipment less their residual values. Depreciation is 
recognized using the straight-line method to allocate their 
depreciable amounts over the estimated useful life of each 
component, and charged to profit or loss. Land is not 
depreciated.

	�	  The estimated useful lives of major classes of property 
and equipment are as follows:

	 • ‌�Buildings	 3 – 50 years
	 • ‌�Furniture and equipment	 2 – 20 years

	� The amortization method, estimated useful life and residual 
value are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end 
of each reporting period.

(7)	 Intangible assets
(a)	� Intangible assets arising on business combination (goodwill 

and other intangible assets)
	� Goodwill arising on acquisition of subsidiaries is recognized 

as an intangible asset. Initial recognition and measurement of 
goodwill are stated in (1) (d) Business combination. Intangible 
assets arising from a business combination, other than good-
will, are recognized at fair value at the acquisition date.

	�	  After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost 
less accumulated impairment loss. For investees to which 
the equity method is applied, goodwill is included in the 
carrying amount of the investment.

	�	  Intangible assets other than goodwill with a finite useful 
life that arise on a business combination are measured at 
initial cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated 
impairment loss.

(b)	 Research and development
	� Expenditure during the research phase for the purpose of 

learning the most updated science and technology is recog-
nized as an expense when incurred. Capitalized development 
expenditures are measured at initial cost less accumulated 
amortization and accumulated impairment loss.

(c)	 Other intangible assets (separately acquired)
	� Other intangible assets acquired by the Group are measured 

at initial cost less accumulative amortization and accumula-
tive impairment loss.

(d)	 Amortization
	� Amortization of intangible assets other than goodwill with a 

finite useful life is recognized in profit or loss using the 
straight-line method over the expected useful life, which 
begins when the assets are available for use.

	�	  The estimated useful lives of major classes of intangible 
assets are as follows:

	 • ‌�Software			   3 – 5 years
	 • ‌�Customer Relationship		  4 – 16 years

	� The amortization method, estimated useful life and residual 
value are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end 
of each reporting period.

(8)	 Investment properties
Investment properties are defined as property held to earn rent-
als or for capital appreciation or both, rather than for (a) use in 
the production of supply of goods or services or for administra-
tive purposes; or (b) sale in the ordinary course of business. 
Investment properties are measured at initial cost less accumu-
lated depreciation and accumulated impairment loss.
	 Depreciation is measured based on the depreciable amount, 
which is calculated as the initial cost of assets less their residual 
values. Depreciation is recognized using the straight-line method 
to allocate their depreciable amounts over the estimated useful 
life of each component, and charged to profit or loss.
	 The estimated useful lives of a major component of invest-
ment properties is as follows:
• ‌�Buildings	 8 – 50 years

An investment property shall be derecognized on disposal or 
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn from 
use and no future economic benefits are expected from its dis-
posal. Gain or losses arising from the derecognition of invest-
ment properties are determined as the difference between the 
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and 
are recognized in profit or loss at the time of derecognition.
	 However, the Group applied the exemptions in IFRS 1, 
electing to measure the part of investment properties at transi-
tion date fair value as its deemed cost.

(9)	 Impairment of non-financial assets
Other than inventories and deferred tax assets, the Group’s non-
financial assets are subject to impairment tests at year end. When 
an indication of impairment exists, the recoverable amounts of 
the assets are estimated in order to determine the extent of the 
impairment losses, if any. For a cash-generating unit (“CGU”) 
with allocated goodwill and intangible assets, for which the useful 
life cannot be determined or that is still in the status of not avail-
able for use, the recoverable amount shall be estimated at a cer-
tain time, regardless of the indication of impairment. A CGU is 
defined as the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates 
cash flows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from 
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other assets or group of assets.
	 The recoverable amounts of assets or CGUs are determined 
as the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In 
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are dis-
counted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of 
future cash flows have not been adjusted. If it is not possible to 
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the 
Group determines the recoverable amount of the minimum 
CGU to which the asset belongs.
	 If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is esti-
mated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount 
of the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. 
An impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss. 
The impairment loss recognized in relation to the CGU shall be 
allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the assets of the unit 
in such order that (a) first, to reduce the carrying amount of any 
goodwill allocated to the CGU and (b) then to the other assets 
of the unit pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each 
asset in the unit.
	 An impairment loss recognized for goodwill shall not be 
reversed in a subsequent period. An entity shall assess at the 
end of each reporting period whether there is any indication 
that an impairment loss recognized in prior periods for an asset 
other than goodwill may no longer exist or may have decreased. 
An impairment loss recognized in prior periods for an asset 
other than goodwill shall be reversed if, and only if, there has 
been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s 
recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recog-
nized. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the 
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate 
of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying 
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have 
been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for 
the asset in prior years. 
	 Because goodwill that forms part of the carrying amount of 
an investment in an associate or a joint venture is not separately 
recognized, it is not tested for impairment separately. Instead, 
the entire carrying amount of the investment is tested for 
impairment as a single asset, whenever there is an indication 
that the investment may be impaired.

(10) Employee benefits
(a)	� Defined contribution plans and defined benefit plans of 

multi-employer
	� The Company and certain of its subsidiaries have defined 

contribution plans for employee benefits. Defined contribu-
tion plans are post-employment benefit plans under which an 
entity pays fixed contributions into a separate entity and will 
have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further 
amounts. Contributions related to defined contribution plans 
are expensed over the period during which employees render 
service to the entity. Also, the Company and certain of its 
subsidiaries participate in defined benefit multi-employer 
plans, under which contributions paid during the period are 
recognized in profit or loss as pension expense and contribu-
tions payable are recorded as liabilities.

(b)	 Short-term employee benefits and share-based payment
	� The Group recognizes the undiscounted amount of short-

term employee benefits as an expense of the period during 
which the related service is rendered. Also, the Company 
operates share-based compensation plan as an incentive for 
board members and employees, however, there is no 
impact to profit or loss of the current period.

	�	  The Group decided to adopt exemptions stated in 
IFRS 1 and does not apply IFRS 2 “Share-based pay-
ments” to the share-based payments vested on or before 
31 March 2011.

(11) Provisions
	� Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present 

legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events and 
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required 
to settle the obligation. Provisions are measured at the pres-
ent value of the expected future cash flow using a pre-tax 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the obligation.

 
(12) Revenue recognition
(a)	� Financial income related to investment portfolio (excluding 

trading assets)
	� Financial assets at FVTPL are initially recognized at their 

fair value with related transaction costs charged to profit or 
loss as incurred. Gains and losses related to the sale of finan-
cial assets at FVTPL are measured as the difference between 
fair value of consideration proceeded and the carrying 
amount.

	�	  Changes in fair value of financial assets at FVTOCI are 
presented in other comprehensive income. When such 
financial assets are derecognized (sold) or the decline in fair 
value is not temporary compared with the initial cost, the 
cumulative gains or losses previously recognized in other 
comprehensive income are directly transferred into retained 
earnings.

	�	  However, dividends from financial assets at FVTOCI 
are recognized as financial income in profit or loss.

(b)	 Net trading income
	� Securities included in trading assets are classified as finan-

cial assets at FVTPL and any changes in fair value are rec-
ognized in profit or loss.

(c)	 Commission income
	� Commission income is the income arising from transactions 

that the Group is involved in as agent instead of a principal 
who gains the main part of the profit from the transaction. 
Revenue from commission income is recognized in confor-
mity with the progress of the transaction at the end of the 
reporting period if the result of the transaction can be reli-
ably estimated. 

	�	  If the below criteria are met, the transaction is regarded 
as the Group acting as an agent.

	 • ‌�The Group neither retains ownership of the goods nor 
assumes any responsibility for after service.

	 • ‌�Though the Group ultimately collect consideration from 
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customers, all the credit risk is assumed by the supplier of 
the goods.

(d)	 Sale of goods
	� Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 

received or receivable, taking into account the amount of 
any sales return, trade discount and volume rebates. 
Normally, revenue is recognized when there is persuasive 
evidence showing that a sales contract has been concluded, 
that is (i) significant risks and rewards of ownership of the 
goods have been transferred to the buyer; (ii) it is probable 
that the economic benefits associated with the transaction 
will flow to the Group; (iii) the cost incurred and possibility 
of sales returns can be reliably estimated; (iv) the Group 
retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the 
degree usually associated with ownership nor effective con-
trol over the goods sold; and (v) the amount of revenue can 
be measured reliably. When there is a probability that a 
sales discount is allowed by the Group, the amount shall be 
deducted from the original amount of revenue if it can be 
reasonably estimated.

(13) Income tax expense
Income tax expense consists of current and deferred tax 
expense, which are recognized in profit or loss, except for those 
arising from a business combination or recognized directly in 
equity and other comprehensive income. Current income tax 
expense is measured at the amount expected to be paid to or 
recovered from the taxation authorities using the tax rate that 
has been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the 
reporting period. Deferred income tax is recognized on tempo-
rary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and lia-
bilities and their carrying amount. However, deferred tax assets 
are not accounted for if they arises from initial recognition of an 
asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combina-
tion that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting 
nor taxable profit or loss, or from deductible temporary differ-
ences related to the investment in subsidiaries and joint ven-
tures, under which it is probable that the difference cannot be 
recovered in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax liabilities are 
not recognized if they arise from the initial recognition of good-
will. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined using tax 
rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted 
by the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply 
when the related deferred tax assets are realized or the deferred 
tax liabilities are settled. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred 
tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the 
same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or dif-
ferent taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the 
balances on a net basis, or the deferred tax assets and liabilities 
are expected to be realized simultaneously.
	 A deferred tax asset is recognized for the unused carryfor-
ward tax losses, unused tax credits and expected deductible 
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that future 
taxable profit will be available against which the unused carry-
forward tax losses, unused tax credits and expected deductible 

temporary differences can be utilized. The carrying amount of a 
deferred tax asset shall be reviewed at the end of each reporting 
period. The Group reduces the carrying amount of a deferred 
tax asset to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient 
taxable profit will be available to allow the related tax benefit to 
be utilized.
	 The Group recognizes a deferred tax liability for all taxable 
temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiar-
ies, associates, and interests in joint venture, except to the extent 
that both of the following conditions are satisfied: (i) the Group 
is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary dif-
ference; and (ii) it is probable that the temporary difference will 
not reverse in the foreseeable future. 
	 The Group shall recognize a deferred tax asset for all 
deductible temporary differences arising from investments and 
interests mentioned above, to the extent that, and only to the 
extent that, it is probable that (i) the temporary difference will 
reverse in the foreseeable future; and (ii) taxable profit will be 
available against which the temporary difference can be 
utilized.

(14) Earnings per share
The Group discloses both the basic earnings per share and 
diluted earnings per share. Basic earnings per share is calculated 
by dividing profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity 
holders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding (issued shares adjusted by the treasury shares) 
during the period. For the purpose of calculating diluted earn-
ings per share, the Group adjusts profit for the year attributable 
to ordinary equity holders and the weighted average number of 
shares outstanding, for the effects of all dilutive potential ordi-
nary shares.
	 The Group’s potential ordinary shares are issued in relation 
to its stock option plan.

(15) Segment reporting
An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages 
in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur 
expenses (including revenues and expenses relating to transac-
tions with other components of the Group). Discrete financial 
information of all the segments is available so that the operating 
results are regularly reviewed by the board of directors to make 
decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and 
assess its performance. Operating results reported to the board of 
directors include items that directly belong to the segment and 
items allocated to the segment on a reasonable basis. Items not 
allocated to any reporting segment mainly consist of corporate 
assets such as expenses of the headquarter.

(16) Non-current assets held for sale
The Group classifies a non-current asset or asset group as held 
for sale if (i) its carrying amount will be recovered principally 
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use; (ii) 
the assets are available for immediate sale and their sale within 
one year is highly probable; and (iii) management of the Group 
is committed to a plan to sell the asset.
	 When the Group is committed to a plan to sell a subsidiary 
with a loss of control and all the above criteria are satisfied, it 
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classifies the subsidiary’s entire assets and liabilities as held for 
sale regardless of retaining any non-controlling interest of the 
subsidiary.

	 Non-current assets (or asset groups) held for sale are mea-
sured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less 
costs to sell.

(17) ‌�New standards, amendments to existing standards and interpretations that are published but have not yet been 
adopted by the Group

The new standards, amendments to existing standards and interpretations have been published before the approval date of the con-
solidated financial statements, but the Group has not early adopted are as follows. It is considered that there is no significant impact 
to the consolidated financial statements through adoption, though details are still under investigation.

IFRS

Mandatory for 
fiscal year beginning 

on or after

Adopted by the 
group from 

fiscal year ended Summary of new standards and amendments

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: 
Disclosure 1 January 2013 March 2014 Disclosures requirement relating to offsetting financial assets and 

financial liabilities

IFRS 10 Consolidated 
Financial Statements 1 January 2013 March 2014 Clarifications on definition of control as the basis for consolidation, 

which shall be adopted by all companies

1 January 2014 March 2015

Parent company that qualifies for investment entity does not consolidate 
certain subsidiaries and measures the investment at fair value through 
profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 9 “Financial instruments” or IAS 
39 “Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement” instead in its 
consolidated or non-consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 11 Joint 
Arrangements 1 January 2013 March 2014 Classification and accounting treatment relevant to arrangement under 

joint control based on contractual agreement rather than legal form 

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests  
in Other Entities 1 January 2013 March 2014 Broaden the disclosure with regard to interests in other entities 

including unconsolidated entities

1 January 2014 March 2015 Amendment with regard to addition of investment entities to IFRS 10

IFRS 13 Fair Value 
Measurement 1 January 2013 March 2014 Provide guidance for measurement of fair value applied 

in all the standards

IAS 1 Presentation of 
Financial Statements 1 July 2012 March 2014 Amendment to presentation of items of other comprehensive income 

IAS 19 Employee 
Benefits 1 January 2013 March 2014 Recognition of actuarial differences and past service cost 

Presentation and disclosure of post-employment benefits

IAS 28 Investments in Associates 
and Joint Ventures 1 January 2013 March 2014 Amendments based on the publishing of IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12

IAS 32 Financial Instruments: 
Presentation 1 January 2014 March 2015 Clarification of offsetting criteria and supplement to interpretations

4. Business Combination

(1)	 For the year ended 31 March 2012
Total consideration at acquisition dates in relation to business 
combinations amounted to ¥4,087 million and were settled in 
cash for the year ended 31 March 2012. Fair value of assets and 
liabilities acquired through business combinations and non-con-
trolling interests were ¥12,360 million, ¥513 million and ¥624 
million, respectively.

(2)	 For the year ended 31 March 2013
The Group has undertaken a third-party allocation of new 
shares and accepted all the forfeited shares related to the issu-
ance of acquired shares in Hyundai Swiss Savings Bank, which 
operates services of a savings bank in South Korea (hereinafter 
referred to as “Hyundai Swiss 1 Savings Bank”) and Hyundai 
Swiss 2 Savings Bank on 26 March 2013 and 25 March 2013, 

respectively. The ratio of voting rights of the two banks held by 
the Group are 89.4% and 94.0%, respectively.
	 By obtaining control over Hyundai Swiss 1 Savings Bank, 
two banks under the control of Hyundai Swiss 1 Savings Bank, 
namely Hyundai Swiss 3 Savings Bank and Hyundai Swiss 4 
Savings Bank, have also become subsidiaries of the Group.
	 Through the acquisition, the Group will provide support to 
Hyundai Swiss Savings Bank Group, consisting of the four banks 
mentioned above, to continue sustainable business operations. 
	 The Group aimed to improve the profitability as well as the 
corporate value through utilizing its know-how in transformation 
of business strategy and enhancing the Bank Group’s network.
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Consideration paid at acquisition date, previously held equity 
interests, fair value of acquired assets and liabilities, and non-con-
trolling interests in relation to the business combination men-
tioned above are as follows. Consideration was paid in cash.

Millions of Yen

Fair value of consideration paid 20,449
Fair value of previously held equity interests 530

Total 20,979

Cash and cash equivalents 1,237
Trade and other accounts receivable 270,745
Other investment securities 44,920
Other assets 42,762
Total Assets 359,664

Bonds and loans payable 43,555
Customer deposits for banking business 376,177
Other liabilities 18,098
Total Liabilities 437,830

Equity (78,166)
Non-controlling interests 8,802
Goodwill 90,343

Total 20,979

Goodwill is recognized mainly for excess earning power and 
the synergy effects with existing business, and is recorded under 
the asset management segment. Costs in relation to the business 
combination, amounting to ¥58 million were included in 
“Selling, general and administrative expenses”. Non-controlling 
interests are measured at the interest share of the acquiree’s 
identifiable net assets.
	 Loans receivable included in “Trade and other accounts 
receivable” with a fair value of ¥203,959 million were mainly 
real estates loan provided to individual and corporate custom-
ers and unsecured loans to individual customers. The con-
tracted financing amount was ¥375,585 million with ¥171,626 
million recorded as an accumulated impairment loss.
	 Consideration transferred for business combinations other 
than the above mentioned amounted to ¥1,756 million, which 
were settled in cash. Fair value of acquired assets and liabilities 
and non-controlling interests were ¥15,692 million, ¥8,001 mil-
lion and ¥2,588 million, respectively.

5. Segment Information

The Group engages in a wide range of business activities, primar-
ily online financial service businesses and investment activities in 
Japan and overseas. Based on the similarities or economic char-
acteristics of business or nature of services, “Financial Services 
Business”, “Asset Management Business”, and “Biotechnology-
related Business”, which is the most growing business in the 
Group, are determined as reportable segments.
	 The reporting segments of the Group represent businesses 
activities for which separate financial information of the Group’s 
components is available and reviewed regularly by the board of 
directors for the purpose of allocation of financial resources and 
performance evaluation.
	 The following is a description of business activities for the 
reporting segments.

“Financial Services Business”
The Financial Services Business consists of a wide range of 
finance related business and the provision of information 
regarding financial products, including securities brokerage 
business, banking services business, property and casualty insur-
ance business, financing business offering mortgage loans, credit 
card business, and leasing business.

“Asset Management Business”
The Asset Management Business primarily consists of fund 
management and investment in internet technology, biotechnol-
ogy, environmental energy and finance-related venture compa-
nies. The Group includes venture companies acquired in the 
Asset Management Business in the Group’s consolidation; thus, 
the businesses operated by the venture companies are included 
in this segment.

“Biotechnology-related Business”
The Biotechnology-related Business represents development and 
distribution of pharmaceutical products with 5-aminolaevulinic 
acid (ALA), a kind of amino acid which exists in vivo, and cancer 
and immune related pharmaceutical products.
	 Business segments classified into “Others” mainly consists 
of development and trading of investment property and opera-
tion of online intermediate service, which were included in the 
former Housing and Real Estate Business segment. They are 
not classified as a reporting segment based on the quantitative 
criteria for the fiscal year ended 31 March 2013. 
	 “Elimination” includes profit or loss that is not allocated to 
certain business segments and the elimination of the inter-com-
pany transactions within the Group, at a price based on the 
actual market price.



70 SBI Holdings   Annual Report 2013

The following represents segment information of the Group:

Millions of Yen

For the fiscal year ended 31 March 2012 Financial 
Services 
Business

Asset 
Management 

Business
Biotechnology-
related Business Others Total Elimination

Consolidated 
Total

Net Sales
Revenue from customers 106,391 56,447 456 14,115 177,409 — 177,409 
Inter-segment revenue 2,795 252 19 411 3,477 (3,477) —
Total 109,186 56,699 475 14,526 180,886 (3,477) 177,409 

Segment operating income (loss)
Profit (loss) before income tax expense 10,498 17,928 (1,984) (2,220) 24,222 (8,622) 15,600 

Other Items
Interest income 20,163 1,007 4 2 21,176 (1,786) 19,390 
Interest expense (5,457) (489) — (1,156) (7,102) (561) (7,663)
Depreciation and amortization (5,663) (1,178) (25) (1,059) (7,925) 314 (7,611)
Gain or loss from investments applying 
   the equity-method 118 161 — (54) 225 — 225 

Millions of Yen

For the fiscal year ended 31 March 2013 Financial 
Services 
Business

Asset 
Management 

Business
Biotechnology-
related Business Others Total Elimination

Consolidated 
Total

Net Sales
Revenue from customers 110,898 32,183 950 9,222 153,253 223 153,476 
Inter-segment revenue 2,442 19 20 18 2,499 (2,499) —
Total 113,340 32,202 970 9,240 155,752 (2,276) 153,476 

Segment operating income (loss)
Profit (loss) before income tax expense 18,741 5,450 (3,900) 1,659 21,950 (7,737) 14,213 

Other Items
Interest income 19,845 752 43 1 20,641 (1,484) 19,157 
Interest expense (5,298) (556) (56) (546) (6,456) (1,124) (7,580)
Depreciation and amortization (6,010) (912) (7) (366) (7,295) (242) (7,537)
Gain or loss from investments applying 
   the equity-method 1,680 (1,087) (23) (12) 558 — 558 

Geographical information regarding non-current assets and rev-
enues from customers are presented as below.

Millions of Yen

Non-current assets As at 1 April 
2011

As at March 31 
2012

As at March 31 
2013

Japan 97,674 91,690 92,620
Korea 53 43 125,320
Others 419 760 14,513
Consolidated total 98,146 92,493 232,453

Note: ‌�Non-current assets excluding financial assets and deferred tax assets are allocated 
depending on the location of the assets.

Millions of Yen

Revenue from customers For the year 
ended 

31 March 2012

For the year 
ended 

31 March 2013

Japan 173,573 146,789
Overseas 3,836 6,687
Consolidated total 177,409 153,476

Note: Revenue is recognized at the destination of sales.
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6. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

(1)	 Fair value measurement
Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are deter-
mined based on quoted market prices. If quoted market prices 
are not available, fair values are calculated with valuation 
models such as discounted cash flow analysis. The Group deter-
mined fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities as 
follows:

Cash and cash equivalents, Other financial assets, Trade and 
other accounts payable, and Other financial liabilities
The fair values are determined at the carrying values as they 
approximate the carrying values due to their short maturities.

Trade and other accounts receivable
The fair values are determined based on the future cash inflows 
discounted at adequate rates, such as government bond risk free 
rates considering credit risk. 

Assets and liabilities related to securities business
The fair values of loans on margin transactions are determined 
at the carrying value as the interest rates of the loans are float-
ing rate and reflect the market interest rate within a short 
period. The fair values of assets and liabilities related to securi-
ties business, except for loans on margin transactions, are con-
sidered to approximate the carrying values as those assets and 
liabilities are settled within a short period. The fair values of 
trading assets and trading liabilities are determined as described 
in “Operational investment securities and other investment 
securities” and “Derivatives”.

Operational investment securities and other investment securities
The fair values of listed equity securities are determined based 
on quoted market prices of the stock exchange. The fair values 
of unlisted equity securities, bonds with share options and stock 
warrants are determined using valuation models including dis-
counted cash flow analysis, an analysis based on revenues, prof-
its and net assets, pricing analysis by reference to comparable 
industry prices. The fair values of investments in funds are 
determined at the fair values of partnership net assets based on 

the Group’s percentage share in the contributed capital, if such 
fair values are available. 

Bonds and loans payable
The fair values of bonds and loans payable with floating interest 
rates are determined at carrying values as the interest rates of 
the bonds and loans reflect the market interest rate within a 
short period and as the credit condition of companies that 
obtained the bonds and loans are not expected to change signif-
icantly. With respect to bonds payable with fixed interest rates, 
the fair values are determined based on the future cash outflows 
considering remaining periods and discount rates adjusted for 
credit risk. The fair values of loans payable with fixed interest 
rates are determined at the present value of the future cash out-
flows, where the sum of principal and interest of loans are 
grouped according to their maturities and discounted using 
interest rates with reference to similar type loans. The fair value 
of bonds payable and loans payable with short maturities are 
determined at the carrying values since they approximate the 
fair values. 

Customer deposits for banking business
The fair values of demand deposits are determined at carrying 
values, which are equivalent to the amount paid on demand at 
the reporting date. The fair values of time deposits are deter-
mined based on the future cash inflows discounted at adequate 
rates, such as government bond yield considering credit risk. 
The fair value of time deposits with short time maturities are 
determined at carrying values since they approximate the fair 
values. 

Derivatives
The fair values of foreign currency forward contracts are deter-
mined based on future exchange rates at the reporting date, 
whereas the fair values of foreign currency spot contracts are 
determined using spot rates at the reporting date. The fair 
values of index futures and options are determined based on 
the market closing price in major stock exchanges at the report-
ing date. The fair values of swaps are determined by reference 
to prices offered by financial institutions.

(2)	 Financial instruments measured at amortized cost
The carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and liabilities measured at amortized cost were as follows:

Millions of Yen

As at 1 April 2011 As at 31 March 2012 As at 31 March 2013

Carrying  
amount

Fair  
value

Carrying  
amount

Fair  
value

Carrying  
amount

Fair  
value

Financial assets measured at amortized cost
Trade and other accounts receivable 163,742 164,350 179,276 180,147 412,477 413,240

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost
Bonds and loans payable 276,978 276,896 285,188 285,493 344,360 344,885
Deposits from customers — — — — 376,177 376,177
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(3)	 Financial instruments measured at fair value
“IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures” requires measurement of fair value be categorized into three levels with reference to the 
fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making fair value measurements. 

The fair value hierarchy is defined as below:
• Level 1: ‌�quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
• Level 2: ‌�inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., 

as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices). 
• Level 3: ‌�inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

The level of hierarchy used in fair value measurement is determined at the lowest level with relevant significant inputs to the 
measurement.
	 The table below presents the fair value hierarchy of financial assets and liabilities measured at the fair values in the consolidated 
statement of financial position of the Group.

Millions of Yen

As at 1 April 2011

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets
Trade and other accounts receivable — — 2,348 2,348
Assets related to securities business 531 — — 531
Operational investment securities and other investment securities

Financial assets at FVTPL 22,627 53 92,611 115,291
Financial assets at FVTOCI 3,934 — 1,949 5,883

Total financial assets 27,092 53 96,908 124,053

Financial liabilities 
Liabilities related to securities business 2 — — 2
Other financial liabilities 74 — — 74
Total financial liabilities 76 — — 76

Millions of Yen

As at 31 March 2012

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets
Trade and other accounts receivable — — 1,109 1,109
Assets related to securities business 1,537 — — 1,537
Operational investment securities and other investment securities

Financial assets at FVTPL 13,751 51 111,298 125,100
Financial assets at FVTOCI 5,534 — 1,865 7,399

Total financial assets 20,822 51 114,272 135,145

Financial liabilities 
Liabilities related to securities business 36 — — 36
Other financial liabilities 76 — — 76
Total financial liabilities 112 — — 112
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Millions of Yen

As at 31 March 2013

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets
Assets related to securities business 3,407 — — 3,407
Other financial assets 270 — — 270
Operational investment securities and other investment securities

Financial assets at FVTPL 19,797 — 149,399 169,196
Financial assets at FVTOCI 4,663 — 2,618 7,281

Total financial assets 28,137 — 152,017 180,154

Financial liabilities 
Liabilities related to securities business 225 — — 225
Total financial liabilities 225 — — 225

The movement of financial instruments categorized as level 3 is presented as follows:

Millions of Yen

For the year ended 31 March 2012 Trade and 
other accounts 

receivable

Operational investment  
securities and other  

investment securities Total

Financial assets 
at FVTPL

Financial assets 
at FVTOCI

Balance as at 1 April 2011 2,348 92,611 1,949 96,908 
Acquired through business combinations — 961 — 961 
Purchase — 26,419 — 26,419 
Comprehensive income

Net profit (Note1) 196 6,425 — 6,621 
Other comprehensive income/(loss) — — (19) (19)

Dividends — (3,217) — (3,217)
Sale — (8,284) — (8,284)
Settlement (1,435) — — (1,435)
Currency translation differences — (84) (65) (149)
Others (Note 2) — (154) — (154)
Transferred from Level 3 (Note 3) — (3,379) — (3,379)
Transferred to Level 3 — — — —
Balance as at 31 March 2012 1,109 111,298 1,865 114,272 



74 SBI Holdings   Annual Report 2013

Millions of Yen

For the year ended 31 March 2013 Trade and 
other accounts 

receivable

Operational investment  
securities and other  

investment securities Total

Financial assets 
at FVTPL

Financial assets 
at FVTOCI

Balance as at 1 April 2012 1,109 111,298 1,865 114,272 
Acquired through business combinations — 34,298 474 34,772 
Purchase — 12,439 — 12,439 
Comprehensive income

Net profit (loss) (Note1) (5) 7,801 — 7,796 
Other comprehensive income/(loss) — — — —

Dividends — (4,599) — (4,599)
Sale — (4,401) — (4,401)
Liquidation — (43) 0 (43)
Settlement (1,104) — — (1,104)
Currency translation differences — 3,167 279 3,446 
Others (Note 2) — (5,422) — (5,422)
Transferred from Level 3 (Note 3) — (5,139) — (5,139)
Transferred to Level 3 — — — —
Balance as at 31 March 2013 — 149,399 2,618 152,017 

Notes:	1. ‌�Gains and losses recognized for the current fiscal year in relation to financial instruments are included in “Operating revenue” in the consolidated statement of income. 
Gains and losses recognized arising from financial assets at FVTPL held as at 31 March 2012 and 2013 were ¥1,876 million and ¥20,910 million, respectively.

	 2. Transfer due to obtaining of control.
	 3. Transfer due to significant input used to measure fair value becoming observable.

7. Financial Risk Management

(1) ‌�Risk management policy over capital management 
and financing 

In order to maintain financial strength, the Group has basic 
capital management policies to maintain an appropriate level of 
capital and debt equity structure.
	 The balances of interest-bearing debt (Bonds and borrowings), 
cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the 
Company which the Group manages were as follows: 

Millions of Yen

As at 1 April 
2011

As at March 31 
2012

As at March 31 
2013

Interest-bearing debt 
(�Bonds and borrowings) 276,978 285,188 344,360 

Cash and 
   cash equivalents (160,398) (159,833) (133,362)

Net 116,580 125,355 210,998 
Equity attributable 
   to owners 
   of the Company

290,036 296,523 303,299 

Pursuant to the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act 
(“FIEA”) and Insurance Business Act of Japan, domestic subsid-
iaries of the Group are obligated to maintain a certain level of 
capital adequacy ratio.

Significant capital adequacy regulations under which domestic 
subsidiaries of the Group are obligated are as follows:
	 1. ‌�SBI SECURITIES CO., Ltd. is required to maintain a 

certain level of capital-to-risk ratio set forth under the 
FIEA. If the ratio falls below 120%, the Financial Services 
Agency (“FSA”) may order changes to operational meth-
ods and other changes.

	 2. ‌�SBI Insurance Co., Ltd. is required to maintain a certain 
level of Solvency Margin Ratio in conformity with the 
Insurance Business Act of Japan. If the Solvency Margin 
Ratio falls below 200%, the FSA may order submission 
and implementation of a reasonable improvement plan 
for sound management.

Hyundai Swiss Savings Bank whose headquarters is in the 
Republic of Korea, is obligated to maintain a certain level of 
capital adequacy ratio in conformity with the Main Shareholder 
eligibility standard or standard of KIPCO Asset Management 
Company KSC (KAMCO) or other standards. If the capital 
adequacy ratio falls below a certain level, Korean Financial 
Supervisory Service may give warning or order business sus-
pension. Hyundai Swiss Savings Bank Co., Ltd. was ordered to 
take prompt corrective measures by Korean Financial 
Supervisory Service on 6 May 2013 and is striving to be delisted 
by enhancing its capital.
	 The Group engages in a wide range of finance related busi-
nesses, such as investment business, fund management business, 
securities business, banking business, leasing business, loan 
business, credit card business and insurance businesses, to avoid 
excessive concentration of risk on specific entities or businesses. 
To operate these businesses, the Group raises funds by indirect 
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financing such as bank borrowing, direct financing such as bond 
issuance and equity financing, transactions with securities 
financing companies, and receiving customer deposits for bank-
ing business. The Group also considers the market environment 
and maintains an appropriate strategy for short and long term 
financing.
	 The Group entered into foreign currency forward contracts 
and interest swap transactions to hedge foreign exchange risk 
and to manage its interest rate exposures on borrowings, respec-
tively. The Group does not hold or issue them for speculative 
purposes. Index futures and commodity futures were entered 
into for the purpose of day trading or capping of the size of 
their transactions. Index futures were mainly daily trading 
under a limited trading scale. Foreign currency spot contracts 
were entered into for managing exposures on foreign currency 
brokerage transactions. Transactions were conducted with indi-
vidual counterparties based on the Group’s “Position 
Management Rule.”
	 In order to maintain financial strength and appropriate oper-
ational procedures, the Group has risk management policies to 
identify, analyze and manage the relevant risks integrally. 

The Group is exposed to the following risks over financial 
instruments:
• Credit risk
• Market risk
• Liquidity risk

(2)	 Risks arising from financial instruments
Financial assets held by the Group primarily consist of invest-
ment-related assets, securities-related assets and financing-
related assets.
	 Investment-related assets include operational investment 
securities, other investment securities, and investments in asso-
ciates which primarily represent investments in stocks and 
funds. These assets are held for the purpose of fostering the 
development of venture capital portfolio companies or earning 
capital gains. These assets are exposed to the issuer’s credit risk 
and the stock price fluctuation risk. Furthermore, unlisted equity 
securities are exposed to liquidity risk and investment assets 
denominated in foreign currency are exposed to the risk of for-
eign exchange fluctuations.
	 Securities-related assets consist of cash segregated as depos-
its, margin transaction assets, trading instruments, trade date 
accrual, and short-term guarantee deposits. These assets are 
exposed to the credit risk and the interest rate risk of the bro-
kerage customers of the Group, securities financing companies, 
and financial institutions. Trading instruments, trade date 
accrual, and short-term guarantee deposits are presented as 
other assets related to the securities business in the consolidated 
statement of financial position.
	 Financing-related assets consist of operational loans receiv-
able, finance leases receivable and accounts receivable. These 
assets include real estate loans for companies and individuals, 
unsecured personal loans, finance leases receivable for domestic 
operational companies and the receivable arising from the sales 
of the leasing business or credit card business. These assets are 
exposed to interest rate risk and credit risk of accounts, such as 

default due to worsening economic conditions with higher 
credit risk exposure. Financing-related assets are presented as 
trade and other accounts receivable in the consolidated state-
ment of financial position.
	 Financial liabilities of the Group primarily consist of loans 
payable, bonds payable, customer deposits for the banking busi-
ness and securities-related liabilities. The loans payable of the 
Group are exposed to liquidity risk from changes in the pricing 
policy of the financial institutions to the Group. Also, the bonds 
payable are monitored due to liquidity risk from market condi-
tions or reducing the credit rating of the Group. Customer 
deposits for the banking business are important financing 
arrangements and are managed considering adequate safety. 
However, customer deposits for the banking business are 
exposed to liquidity risk which makes it difficult to arrange req-
uisite finance due to withdrawals or other reasons.
	 Securities-related liabilities consist of margin transaction lia-
bilities, loans payable secured by securities on repurchase 
agreement transactions, deposits from customers, guarantee 
deposits received from margin transactions, and trade date 
accrual. The financing environment of the security business 
operated by the Group is affected by the business policy of 
security financing companies and its investment strategy. The 
Group exercises control by matching the financing with the 
related security assets. Trade date accrual is presented as other 
liabilities related to the securities business in the consolidated 
statement of financial position.
	 The Group enters into foreign currency forward contracts 
and interest swap transactions primarily to hedge foreign 
exchange risk associated with receivables, payables and securi-
ties denominated in foreign currencies and to manage its inter-
est rate exposures on borrowings, respectively.
	 The Group manages index futures as a part of its invest-
ment business, which is exposed to market risk. Because the 
counterparties of foreign currency forward contracts and inter-
est rate swap agreements are limited to creditworthy major 
Japanese financial institutions and index futures are traded in 
the public market, the credit risk arising from default is consid-
ered to be minimal.
	 The Group also enters into foreign currency spot contracts 
in the course of ordinary operations, and for hedging risks 
arising from the business. The transactions are subject to inter-
est rate risks and foreign currency risks as well as exposed to 
credit risks with customers and credit and settlement risks with 
counterparties.

(3)	 Risk management system over financial instruments
The Company assigns a risk management officer who is in 
charge of risk management and sets up a risk management 
department in line with the risk management rules and the 
group risk control rules in order to properly analyze and control 
these risks. The risk management department analyzes and 
monitors the Group’s risk on a timely basis.

(4)	 Credit risk management
Credit risk is the risk that the Group may suffer losses from 
decrease or losses of assets due to deteriorated financial condi-
tions of investees/debtors. Credit risk includes country risk that 
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the Group may suffer losses from changing the currency, politi-
cal or economical circumstances of a country where investees/
debtors operate.

Credit risk management policies of the Group are as follows:
(a)	� Accurately analyze financial conditions of investees/debtors 

and quantify relevant credit risk.
(b)	� Appropriately manage the Group’s own capital and the 

related risks by periodic monitoring.
(c)	� Under foreign investments or lending transactions, the 

Group identifies intrinsic risk of investees/debtors with 
domestic/foreign offices as well as overseas partners fol-
lowed by periodic monitoring.

(d)	� Recognize investment risk as significant risk to be con-
trolled among various credit risks and perform detailed 
analysis of fluctuation in risk associated with operational 
investment securities.

The Group operates in line with the above risk management 
policies. Subsidiaries which allow credits to corporate or indi-
vidual customers as a part of business, are monitored in accor-
dance with respective basic rules as needed.
	 The maximum exposure to credit risk for financial assets 
excluding the evaluation value of collateral is the carrying 
amount after impairment loss presented in the consolidated 
statement of financial position. The maximum exposure to a 
financial guarantee contract, which the Group grants, and the 
loan commitment is the amount of the financial guarantee con-
tract and fixed transaction amount of the loan commitment pre-
sented in Note 31 “Contingent liability”. 
	 The Group evaluates recoverability of operating receivables 
and other receivables by considering the credit condition of 
customers and recognizes impairment losses. The Group is not 
extremely exposed to credit risk from a specific customer.
	 Impairment losses and analysis of the age regarding trade 
and other accounts receivable presented on the consolidated 
statement of financial position are as follows:
There are no financial assets that are past due related to the 
securities business.

Impairment losses regarding trade and other accounts receiv-
able as at 1 April 2011, 31 March 2012 and 2013 were as 
follows:

Millions of Yen

1 April 2011 31 March 2012 31 March 2013

Trade and 
   other accounts 
   receivable (gross) 

181,078 189,440 420,856

Impairment losses (14,988) (9,055) (8,379)
Trade and 
   other accounts 
   receivable (net) 

166,090 180,385 412,477

The analysis of the age of financial assets that are past due but 
not impaired as at 1 April 2011, 31 March 2012 and 2013 were 
as follows:

Millions of Yen

1 April 2011 31 March 2012 31 March 2013

No later than 6 months 67 11 3,214

Later than 6 months and 
   not later than 1 year 105 12 25

Later than 1 year 12 39 12
Total 184 62 3,251

Trade and other accounts receivable include the amount recov-
erable by insurance or collateral. Collateral received mainly 
consists of real estate assets received on loan to small-middle 
real estate companies or individual or other assets. Evaluation 
on receiving collateral is made by an independent third party 
appraiser and the amount of the loan is determined to be filled 
with evaluation value. However, the value of the collateral may 
be inadequate due to a declining real estate market. If the 
Group obtains collateral assets by exercise of security interests, 
the Group immediately collects the loan by conducting sales or 
auction of the assets.

(5)	 Market risk management
Market risk is the risk that the Group may suffer losses from 
fluctuation of interest rate, stock price, foreign exchange rate or 
other factors.

Market risk management policies of the Group are as follows:
(a)	� Understand underlying currency and term of assets and 

quantify market risk.
(b)	� Appropriately manage the balance between the Group’s 

own capital and its related risk by periodic monitoring.
(c)	� Never enter into derivative transactions for speculative pur-

poses in the absence of established operating rules.
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q	 Stock Market Risk
The Group is exposed to stock market risk arising from its 
investment portfolio. The investment portfolios as at 1 April 
2011, 31 March 2012 and 2013 were as follows. If the market 
price of operational investment securities and other investment 
securities held by the Group as at 31 March 2012 and 2013 
increased by 10%, profit before income tax expense in consoli-
dated statement of income would have increased by ¥1,375 mil-
lion and ¥1,980 million, respectively.

Millions of Yen

1 April 2011 31 March 2012 31 March 2013

Operational 
   investment securities 

Listed equity securities 20,769 12,558 7,617
Unlisted  
   equity securities 54,453 80,837 78,690

Bonds 519 180 650
Investments in funds 31,658 27,774 31,448
Others 739 602 863

Total 108,138 121,951 119,268

Other investment 
   securities 

Listed equity securities 4,534 5,740 8,456
Unlisted 
   equity securities 5,517 2,145 2,974

Bonds 261 252 43,137
Investments in funds 2,170 1,922 2,102
Others 554 489 540

Total 13,036 10,548 57,209

w	 Foreign Exchange Risk
The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk with regard to 
assets and liabilities dominated in currencies used by various 
entities other than the Group’s functional currency, mainly 
including USD and HKD.  The Group’s main exposures to for-
eign exchange risk are as follows:

Millions of Yen

As at 1 April 2011 USD HKD Others

Monetary financial 
   instruments dominated
   in foreign currency

Assets 16,995 4,569 9,272
Liabilities 62 1 28

Millions of Yen

As at 31 March 2012 USD HKD Others

Monetary financial 
   instruments dominated
   in foreign currency

Assets 16,822 4,486 10,950
Liabilities 59 1 60

Millions of Yen

As at 31 March 2013 USD HKD Others

Monetary financial 
   instruments dominated
   in foreign currency

Assets 20,001 5,045 6,557
Liabilities 233 1 122

If the foreign currencies strengthened by 1% against the func-
tional currency with all other variables (such as interest rate) 
held constant, consolidated post-tax profit for the year ended 31 
March 2012 and 31 March 2013 would have increased by ¥321 
million and ¥312 million, respectively, mainly as a result of 
monetary financial instruments dominated in foreign currency 
held by the Group.

e	 Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash 
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in market interest rates. The Group is exposed to interest rate 
risk related to certain financial assets and liabilities, which pri-
marily represent bank balances, money in trust held by subsid-
iaries in the financial service business, call loans, and loans 
receivable from individual and corporate customers, borrow-
ings from financial institutions, bonds payable, and customer 
deposits for the banking business.
	 In management’s sensitivity analysis, if interest rates had 
been 100 basis points higher and all other variables were held 
constant, the Group’s profit before taxation for the years ended 
31 March 2012 and 2013 would have increased by ¥1,159 mil-
lion and ¥74 million, respectively. 
	 The analysis is prepared assuming the financial instruments 
subject to interest rate risk and all other variables were held 
constant throughout the years ended 31 March 2012 and 2013.

(6)	 Liquidity risk management
Liquidity risk is defined as the Group’s exposure to the below 
situations:
– ‌�Necessary financing cannot be secured due to deterioration of 

the Group’s financial condition
– ‌�Risk of loss from financing at higher interest rate than usual 

with no option
– ‌�Risk of loss from transaction at significantly unreasonable 

price with no option or unable to conduct transactions due to 
severe situation such as market turmoil.

	 The Group manages its liquidity risk through the following 
policies.

(a) ‌�Secure various financing arrangements such as bank overdraft 
facility, bond issuance registration or stock issuance.

(b) ‌�Collect information on the Group’s working capital require-
ment and understand the cash flow positions.

(c) ‌�Obtain reports from the department responsible for cash 
management based upon the liquidity risk management poli-
cies stated in (a) and (b) above to monitor cash flow risks.



78 SBI Holdings   Annual Report 2013

Liquidity risk rises from financial liabilities settled by transfer of cash and other financial assets. Balances of financial liabilities held 
by the Group by maturity are as follows:

Millions of Yen

As at 1 April 2011

Carrying  
amount

Contractual  
cash flow

Due in 
one year 
or less 

Due after 
one year through 

two years

Due after 
two years 
through 

three years 

Due after 
three years 

through 
four years 

Due after 
four years 
through 

five years 
Due after 
five years 

Bonds and loans payable (Note) 276,978 279,985 186,643 22,857 8,209 1,818 7,055 53,403
Trade and 
   other accounts payable 42,525 42,525 35,658 2,271 2,014 1,659 893 30

Liabilities related 
   to securities business 663,321 663,321 663,321 — — — — —

Other financial liabilities 24,947 24,947 24,947 — — — — —

Note:	� The amounts of the interest included in Bonds and loans payable due in five years or less and due after five years as at 1 April 2011 are ¥2,971 million and ¥4 million, 
respectively.

Millions of Yen

As at 31 March 2012

Carrying  
amount

Contractual  
cash flow

Due in 
one year 
or less 

Due after 
one year through 

two years

Due after 
two years 
through 

three years 

Due after 
three years 

through 
four years 

Due after 
four years 
through 

five years 
Due after 
five years 

Bonds and loans payable (Note) 285,188 289,560 192,814 9,595 33,190 8,001 1,035 44,925
Trade and 
   other accounts payable 39,073 39,073 34,611 2,073 1,493 795 98 3

Liabilities related 
   to securities business 933,831 933,831 933,831 — — — — —

Other financial liabilities 29,916 29,916 29,916 — — — — —

Note:	� The amounts of the interest included in Bonds and loans payable due in five years or less and due after five years as at 31 March 2012 are ¥4,227 million and ¥3 million, 
respectively.

Millions of Yen

As at 31 March 2013

Carrying  
amount

Contractual  
cash flow

Due in 
one year 
or less 

Due after 
one year through 

two years

Due after 
two years 
through 

three years 

Due after 
three years 

through 
four years 

Due after 
four years 
through 

five years 
Due after 
five years 

Bonds and loans payable (Note) 344,360 350,393 223,363 75,022 6,547 1,162 9,063 35,236
Trade and 
   other accounts payable 48,894 48,894 45,922 1,567 1,004 298 98 5

Liabilities related 
   to securities business 1,304,605 1,304,605 1,304,605 — — — — —

Customer deposits 
   for banking business 376,177 384,230 343,295 37,387 3,510 17 15 6

Other financial liabilities 35,371 35,371 35,371 — — — — —

Note:	� The amounts of the interest included in Bonds and loans payable due in five years or less and due after five years as at 31 March 2013 are ¥13,771 million and ¥225 million, 
respectively.

The Group has lines of credit such as overdraft facilities to ensure an efficient operating funds procurement and to mitigate liquidity 
risk. On the other hand, the Group has contracts to provide loan commitments to conduct the credit card business.
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Contractual amounts and used amounts of overdraft facilities as 
at each reporting date are as follows:
	 Refer to Note 31 “Contingent liabilities” for contracts of 
loan commitments.

Millions of Yen

1 April 2011 31 March 2012 31 March 2013

Lines of credit 161,300 198,630 215,920
Used balance 85,024 81,606 115,159

Unused portion 76,276 117,024 100,761

8. Trade and Other Accounts Receivable

Trade and other accounts receivable as at 1 April 2011, 31 
March 2012 and 2013 consisted of the following: 

Millions of Yen

As at 1 April 
2011

As at 31 March 
2012

As at 31 March 
2013

Trade accounts 
   receivable and 
   installment receivables

28,427 19,950 9,473

Loans receivable 99,311 105,132 303,211
Operational receivables 11,350 35,621 16,172
Finance lease obligation 15,975 13,805 13,898
Deposits in relation 
   to banking business — — 66,404

Others 11,027 5,877 3,319
Total 166,090 180,385 412,477

Maturity analysis to the collection or the settlement of the trade 
and other accounts receivable as at 1 April 2011, 31 March 2012 
and 2013 consisted of the following:

Millions of Yen

As at 1 April 
2011

As at 31 March 
2012

As at 31 March 
2013

No later than 1 year 67,406 91,988 271,088
Later than 1 year 98,684 88,397 141,389

Total 166,090 180,385 412,477

9. Other Assets Related to Securities Business

Other assets related to securities business as at 1 April 2011, 31 
March 2012 and 2013 consisted of the following: 

Millions of Yen

As at 1 April 
2011

As at 31 March 
2012

As at 31 March 
2013

Trade date accrual 222,878 142,251 414,030
Short-term 
   guarantee deposits 5,241 16,701 4,723

Others 545 1,538 3,512
Total 228,664 160,490 422,265

10. ‌�Operational Investment Securities and  
Other Investment Securities

“Operational investment securities” and “Other investment secu-
rities” in the consolidated statement of financial position as at 1 
April 2011, 31 March 2012 and 2013 consisted of the following:

Millions of Yen

As at 1 April 
2011

As at 31 March 
2012

As at 31 March 
2013

Operational 
   investment securities

FVTPL 108,138 121,951 119,268
Total 108,138 121,951 119,268

Other investment 
   securities

FVTPL 7,153 3,149 49,928
FVTOCI 5,883 7,399 7,281

Total 13,036 10,548 57,209

Investments in equity instrument for the purpose of maintaining 
and improving business relations with the investees are desig-
nated as financial assets at FVTOCI by the Group.

Fair values of financial assets at FVTOCI presented as “Other 
investment securities” in the consolidated statement of financial 
position and related dividends income presented as “Operating 
revenue” in consolidated statement of income consisted of the 
followings, respectively:

Millions of Yen

As at 1 April 
2011

As at 31 March 
2012

As at 31 March 
2013

Fair value
Listed 3,934 5,534 4,663
Unlisted 1,949 1,865 2,618

Total 5,883 7,399 7,281

Millions of Yen

For the year 
ended 

31 March 2012

For the year 
ended 

31 March 2013

Dividends income
Listed 117 103
Unlisted 94 98

Total 211 201
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Name of investee and related fair values of financial assets at FVTOCI presented as “Other investment securities” in consolidated 
statement of financial position mainly consisted of the following:

Millions of Yen

As at 1 April 
2011

As at 31 March 
2012

As at 31 March 
2013

Other investment securities
Kingston Financial Group Limited — 2,706 2,166
Golden Sun Profits Limited 1,480 1,466 1,678
PION CO., LTD. 386 540 475
Sunwah Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited 318 130 224
Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Holdings, Inc. 1,871 780 —

For fair value at disposal, cumulative gain and dividends income of financial assets at FVTOCI disposed during the years ended 31 
March 2012 and 2013 are as follows:

Millions of Yen

For the year ended 31 March 2012 For the year ended 31 March 2013

Fair value at disposal Cumulative gain Dividends income Fair value at disposal Cumulative gain Dividends income

1,195 67 32 1,214 314 32

Financial assets at FVTOCI are sold (derecognized) to enhance the effective operation and efficiency of assets. 
	 Cumulative gains (net of tax) transferred from other components of equity to retained earnings for the years ended 31 March 
2012 and 2013 were ¥67 million and ¥78 million, respectively.

11. ‌�Investments Accounted for Using the Equity 
Method 

Summarized financial information of investments in equity 
method associates were as follows: 

Millions of Yen

Transition Date
(As at 1 April 

2011)
As at 31 March 

2012
As at 31 March 

2013

Statement of 
   Financial position

Total assets 1,732,018 2,441,318 2,934,917
Total liabilities 1,688,964 2,386,843 2,872,015
Total equity 43,054 54,475 62,902

Millions of Yen

For the year 
ended 

31 March 2012

For the year 
ended 

31 March 2013

Statement of income 
Operating revenue 39,859 54,531
Profit for the year 1,309 834

The fair values of investments accounted for using the equity 
method with available market prices as at transition date, 31 
March 2012, and 31 March 2013 are ¥3,314 million, ¥3,587 
million and ¥3,511 million, respectively. The carrying amounts 
of such investments were ¥4,231 million, ¥4,479 million and 

¥3,884 million, respectively. 
	 The major investment in joint venture is a 50% share of 
common stock of SBI Sumishin Net Bank, Ltd. in the financial 
service business. 

12. Investment Property

The movement of cost and accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses of investment property consisted of the 
following: 

Millions of Yen

Cost For the year 
ended 

31 March 2012

For the year 
ended 

31 March 2013

Balance, beginning of year 19,325 21,144
Acquisitions — 328
Business combinations — 18,522
Sales or disposals — (899)
Reclassification 1,819 —
Balance, end of year 21,144 39,095



81SBI Holdings   Annual Report 2013

Millions of Yen

Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses

For the year 
ended 

31 March 2012

For the year 
ended 

31 March 2013

Balance, beginning of year (34) (2,615)
Depreciation expenses (303) (287)
Impairment (2,278) (14)
Sales or disposals — 176 
Balance, end of year (2,615) (2,740)

Impairment losses recognized for the years ended 31 March 
2012 and 2013 were ¥2,278 million and ¥14 million, respec-
tively, due to a non-temporary decline in fair value of certain 
investment properties, and were recorded in “Other expenses” 
in the consolidated statement of income. 
	 The impaired assets belong to the Real Estate business, which 
is classified into “Others” in segment information. The recover-
able amount of the investment properties is measured at fair 
value less sales related expenses through real estate valuation.

“Business combinations” for the year ended 31 March 2013 refers to the acquisition of the Company’s subsidiary, Hyundai Swiss 
Savings Bank Co., Ltd., and its subsidiaries.

Millions of Yen

As at 1 April 2011 As at 31 March 2012 As at 31 March 2013

Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value

19,291 19,639 18,529 18,842 36,355 37,169

Korea are DAIWA REAL ESTATE APPRAISAL CO.,LTD. 
and Kaaram Appraisal Co., Ltd, respectively.
	 Rental income from investment property for the years 
ended 31 March 2012 and 2013 was ¥1,152 million and ¥1,218 
million, respectively, which was included in “Operating reve-
nue” in the consolidated statement of income. Expenses 
incurred in direct relation to the rental income (including 
repairs and maintenances) for the years ended 31 March 2012 
and 2013 were ¥720 million and ¥823 million, respectively, 
which were included in “Operating cost” and “Selling, general 
and administrative expenses”.

The fair value as at the end of each reporting period is based on 
a valuation conducted by independent valuation appraisers with 
appropriate qualifications, who have had recent experience in 
local practice for relative categories of assets. The valuations are 
performed in accordance with evaluation standards of the coun-
try where the properties are located, with the results based on 
market prices reflecting actual transaction price of similar 
properties.
	 The investment properties of the Group are located in 
Japan and Korea. The names of the major appraisers which 
conducted the valuation of investment properties in Japan and 

13. Property and Equipment

The movements of cost, accumulated depreciation and impairment loss of property and equipment were as follows:

Millions of Yen

Cost
Buildings

Furniture 
and fixtures Land Others Total

Balance as at 1 April 2011 7,189 11,853 2,583 153 21,778 
Acquisition 404 904 — 329 1,637 
Sales or disposals (1,218) (2,009) — (23) (3,250)
Foreign currency translation adjustment on foreign operations (1) (2) (4) 0 (7)
Others 217 (733) 0 (79) (595)

Balance as at 31 March 2012 6,591 10,013 2,579 380 19,563 
Acquisition 723 632 — 134 1,489 
Acquisitions through business combinations 832 747 667 47 2,293 
Sales or disposals (1,361) (570) — (31) (1,962)
Foreign currency translation adjustment on foreign operations 0 (36) 39 67 70 
Others 225 (643) 68 16 (334)

Balance as at 31 March 2013 7,010 10,143 3,353 613 21,119 
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Millions of Yen

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
Buildings

Furniture 
and fixtures Land Others Total

Balance as at 1 April 2011 (4,052) (6,330) (456) (61) (10,899)
Sales or disposals 733 1,731 — 21 2,485 
Depreciation expenses (524) (1,800) — (8) (2,332)
Impairment losses (10) (15) — — (25)
Foreign currency translation adjustment on foreign operations (1) 0 — (0) (1)
Others (11) 682 — — 671 

Balance as at 31 March 2012 (3,865) (5,732) (456) (48) (10,101)
Sales or disposals 1,022 465 — 15 1,502 
Depreciation expenses (847) (1,484) — (13) (2,344)
Impairment losses (10) — — — (10)
Foreign currency translation adjustment on foreign operations (7) 28 — (65) (44)
Others 156 323 (68) (16) 395 

Balance as at 31 March 2013 (3,551) (6,400) (524) (127) (10,602)

Millions of Yen

Carrying amount
Buildings

Furniture 
and fixtures

Land 
(Note) Others Total

Balance as at 1 April 2011 3,137 5,523 2,127 92 10,879
Balance as at 31 March 2012 2,726 4,281 2,123 332 9,462
Balance as at 31 March 2013 3,459 3,743 2,829 486 10,517

Note: Land is consisted of the land held freehold outside Hong Kong.

The carrying amount of property and equipment as at 1 April 2011, 31 March 2012 and 2013 includes the 
carrying amount of the following leased assets:

Millions of Yen

Carrying amount
Buildings

Furniture 
and fixtures Total

Balance as at 1 April 2011 296 3,057 3,353
Balance as at 31 March 2012 315 2,403 2,718
Balance as at 31 March 2013 336 1,604 1,940

Impairment losses recognized for the years ended 31 March 31 2012 and 2013 were ¥25 million and ¥10 
million, respectively, due to no expectation of initially expected profits and were included in “Other 
expenses” in the consolidated statement of income. Impairment losses recognized for the year ended 31 
March 2012 were ¥3 million in the asset management business and ¥22 million in the financial services 
business, respectively. Impairment losses recognized for the year ended 31 March 2013 were in the asset 
management business.
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14. Intangible Assets

(1)	 The movement of cost and accumulated impairment losses of intangible assets including goodwill
Cost and accumulated impairment losses of Intangible Assets including goodwill for the years ended 31 March 2012 and 2013 were 
as follows:

Millions of Yen

Cost
Goodwill Software

Customer 
Relationship Others Total

Balance as at 1 April 2011 57,383 22,688 2,309 371 82,751 
Acquisitions — 5,730 — 384 6,114 
Business combinations 1,035 4 — — 1,039 
Sales or disposals (2,293) (2,244) — (7) (4,544)
Foreign currency translation adjustment on foreign operations (155) (2) — (1) (158)

Balance as at 31 March 2012 55,970 26,176 2,309 747 85,202 
Acquisitions — 4,642 — 5 4,647 
Business combinations 95,423 3,830 22,906 7 122,166 
Sales or disposals (341) (1,087) — (5) (1,433)
Foreign currency translation adjustment on foreign operations 124 8 1,495 35 1,662 
Others — (8) — — (8)

Balance as at 31 March 2013 151,176 33,561 26,710 789 212,236 

Millions of Yen

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
Goodwill Software

Customer 
Relationship Others Total

Balance as at 1 April 2011 (5,635) (8,789) (49) (302) (14,775)
Sales or disposals — 1,130 — 4 1,134 
Depreciation expenses — (4,365) (491) (44) (4,900)
Impairment losses (2,134) (92) — — (2,226)
Foreign currency translation adjustment on foreign operations — 0 — 1 1 
Others — 66 — — 66 

Balance as at 31 March 2012 (7,769) (12,050) (540) (341) (20,700)
Sales or disposals — 349 — — 349 
Depreciation expenses — (4,467) (527) (160) (5,154)
Impairment losses (842) (314) — — (1,156)
Foreign currency translation adjustment on foreign operations — 0 — 6 6 

Balance as at 31 March 2013 (8,611) (16,482) (1,067) (495) (26,655)

Millions of Yen

Carrying amount
Goodwill Software

Customer 
Relationship Others Total

Balance at Transition date as at 1 April 2011 51,748 13,899 2,260 69 67,976
Balance as at 31 March 2012 48,201 14,126 1,769 406 64,502
Balance as at 31 March 2013 142,565 17,079 25,643 294 185,581

The carrying amount of software in the above table as at transition date, 31 March 2012 and 2013 includes the carrying amount of 
leased assets of ¥35 million, ¥490 million and ¥624 million, respectively. Depreciation expenses were recorded in “Operating cost” 
and “Selling, general and administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement of income.
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(2)	 Impairment losses for each business segment
Goodwill is tested for impairment upon identification of impair-
ment indicators and at least annually. The recoverable amount 
of goodwill for impairment testing is calculated based on value 
in use.

Details of impairment of intangible assets including goodwill for 
each business segment are as follows:
	 Impairment losses recognized for the year ended 31 March 
2012 were ¥1,275 million in the Asset Management Business 
and ¥951 million in the Financial Services Business, respec-
tively. Impairment losses recognized for the year ended 31 
March 2013 were ¥1,146 million in the Financial Services 
Business and ¥10 million in the Biotechnology-related Business, 
respectively. Impairment losses recognized due to no expecta-
tion of initially expected profits were included in the “Other 
expenses” in the consolidated statement of income.
	 Value in use is the present value of the future cash flows 
expected to be derived from an asset or a cash-generating unit 
to which goodwill is allocated. The Group bases cash flow 

15. Deferred Taxation 

The following are the major deferred tax assets (liabilities) recognized and movements thereon during the years ended 31 March 
2012 and 2013: 

Millions of Yen

For the year ended 31 March 2012

As at 1 April 
2011

Recognized 
through Profit 

and Loss

Recognized 
through Other 

Comprehensive 
Income

Change in  
Scope of 

Consolidation
As at 31 March 

2012

Deferred Tax Assets
Financial assets at FVTPL 11,748 (3,948) — (89) 7,711 
Impairment on financial assets measured at amortized cost 4,094 (1,713) — (1) 2,380 
Fixed assets (Note) 1,653 409 — (114) 1,948 
Tax loss carryforwards 18,897 3,462 — — 22,359 
Other 2,893 802 5 591 4,291 

Subtotal 39,285 (988) 5 387 38,689 
Less valuation allowance (21,444) (1,685) — — (23,129)

Total 17,841 (2,673) 5 387 15,560 

Deferred Tax Liabilities
Financial assets at FVTOCI 450 — (382) — 68 
Intangible assets 466 (89) — — 377 
Other 173 (53) — — 120 

Total 1,089 (142) (382) — 565 

projections on the most recent financial forecasts approved by 
management, and the maximum period of these forecasts is five 
years or less, unless a longer period can be justified. The dis-
count rate used for measuring value in use was 8.62%, 7.25% 
and 7.57% per annum as at 1 April 2011, 31 March 2012 and 
2013, respectively.

(3)	 Carrying amount of goodwill 
Goodwill arising from business combinations is allocated to 
cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the syn-
ergies of the business combination at the date of acquisition of 
the business. 
	 Significant goodwill arising from business combinations 
were ¥90,343 million as at March 31, 2013 regarding Hyundai 
Swiss Savings Bank Co., Ltd. and Hyundai Swiss 2 Savings 
Bank Co., Ltd. in the Asset Management Business and ¥24,910 
million and ¥24,910 million as at 31 March 2012 and 2013, 
respectively, regarding SBI SECURITIES Co., Ltd. in the 
Financial Service Business.
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Millions of Yen

For the year ended 31 March 2013

As at 1 April 
2012

Recognized 
through Profit 

and Loss

Recognized 
through Other 

Comprehensive 
Income

Change in  
Scope of 

Consolidation
As at 31 March 

2013

Deferred Tax Assets
Financial assets at FVTPL 7,711 (3,485) — 139 4,365 
Impairment on financial assets measured at amortized cost 2,380 1,391 — 18,419 22,190 
Fixed assets (Note) 1,948 (61) — 984 2,871 
Tax loss carryforwards 22,359 3,041 — 10,682 36,082 
Other 4,291 586 (22) 10 4,865 

Subtotal 38,689 1,472 (22) 30,234 70,373 
Less valuation allowance (23,129) (4,745) — (28,576) (56,450)

Total 15,560 (3,273) (22) 1,658 13,923 

Deferred Tax Liabilities
Financial assets at FVTOCI 68 — 357 — 425 
Intangible assets 377 (83) — 4,695 4,989 
Other 120 (120) — 1,670 1,670 

Total 565 (203) 357 6,365 7,084 

Note: Fixed assets represent property and equipment, and investment property.

In assessing the recoverability of the deferred tax assets, the 
Group considers the future taxable temporary differences, pro-
jected future taxable income, and tax planning strategies. The 
tax losses for which deferred tax assets were not recognized as 
at 1 April 2011, 31 March 2012, and 31 March 2013, were 
¥27,249 million (including ¥15,487 million with the carryfor-
ward period over 5 years), ¥47,310 million (including ¥30,610 
million with the carryforward period over 5 years), ¥98,770 mil-
lion (including ¥82,685 million with the carryforward period 
over 5 years), respectively.
	 The Group recognized deferred tax assets of ¥2,568 million 
and ¥2,150 million as at 31 March 2012 and 2013, respectively, 
associated with certain subsidiaries that had net losses during the 
years ended 31 March 2012 and 2013. The Group’s management 

assessed that it is probable that tax credit carryforwards and 
deductible temporary differences will be utilized as the tax losses 
are not expected to arise on an ongoing basis. 
	 As at 31 March 2012 and 2013, in principle, the Group did 
not recognize a deferred tax liability on the taxable temporary 
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates 
and joint arrangements because the Group was in a position to 
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences 
and it was probable that such differences would not reverse in the 
foreseeable future. The amount of taxable temporary differences 
associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates and 
joint arrangements on which deferred tax liabilities were not rec-
ognized were ¥33,006 million and ¥39,026 million as at 31 
March 2012 and 2013, respectively.

16. Bonds and Borrowings

(1)	 Details of the bonds and borrowings
Details of the borrowings were as follows:

Millions of Yen %

As at 1 April  
2011

As at 31 March 
2012

As at 31 March 
2013

Average 
interest rate  

(Note 1)
Due

(Note 2)

Short-term loans payable 97,030 103,724 136,026 0.96 —
Current portion of long-term loans payable 12,276 20,017 6,492 1.73 —
Current portion of bonds payable 69,648 59,981 65,462 — —
Long-term loans payable 31,366 16,766 17,913 1.36 2014—2022
Bonds payable 540 30,356 38,524 — —
Borrowings related to securitization (Note 3) 66,118 54,344 79,943 — —

Total 276,978 285,188 344,360

Notes:	 1. The average interest rate is calculated using the weighted average interest rate of the outstanding balance as at 31 March 2013.
	 2. Due refers to the term of the outstanding balance as at 31 March 2013.
	 3. ‌�Borrowings related to securitization were funded through securitization of receivables and the liability amounts were recognized against the transferred loan receivables 

which do not qualify for derecognition and continued to be recognized as the Group’s assets.
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Details of the bonds were as follows:

Millions of Yen %

Issuer and the name of bond 
Date of issuance 

As at 1 April 
2011

As at 31 March 
2012

As at 31 March 
2013 Interest rate Due

The Company Japanese yen straight bond 
  (Note 1)

May 2010—
November 2012 69,588 59,921 63,972 1.60—1.9 May 2011—

November 2013
The Company 
  No.4 Unsecured straight bond January 2012 — 29,876 29,920 2.16 January 2015

SBI Life Living Co., Ltd.,  
  No.1 Unsecured straight bond (Note 2) December 2010 600 540 — TIBOR

+0.1 December 2020

Hyundai Swiss Savings Bank Co., 
  Subordinated bond in Korean Won (Note 3)

June 2008—
April 2010 — — 10,094 7.9–8.5 October 2013—

July 2015
Total 70,188 90,337 103,986

Notes:	 1. Total amounts of straight bonds in Japanese Yen issued based on Euro medium term note programme are stated above.
	 2. Early redemption of No. 1 Unsecured straight bond was carried out for the year ended 31 March 2013.
	 3. Subordinated bond in Korean Won was recognized due to business combination for the year ended 31 March 2013.

(2)	 Assets pledged as security
Assets pledged for bonds and borrowings were as follows: 

Millions of Yen

As at 1 April 
2011

As at 31 March 
2012

As at 31 March 
2013

Cash and 
   cash equivalents — 75 122

Trade and other 
   accounts receivable 11,646 8,649 4,587

Other financial assets 493 — 1,358
Investments 
   in associates 1,149 — —

Investment properties 9,365 9,591 13,903
Other assets 1,321 1,181 380

Total 23,974 19,496 20,350

The corresponding liabilities were as follows: 

Millions of Yen

As at 1 April 
2011

As at 31 March 
2012

As at 31 March 
2013

Bonds and borrowings 19,411 15,090 14,000

Besides the above, securities received as collateral for financing 
from broker’s own capital of ¥1,163 million, ¥7,422 million 
and ¥22,954 million were pledged as collateral for borrowings 
on margin transactions as at 1 April 2011 (transition date), 31 
March 2012 and 2013, respectively.

17. Trade and Other Payables

The components of trade and other payables were as follows:

Millions of Yen

As at 1 April 
2011

As at 31 March 
2012

As at 31 March 
2013

Accounts payable 
   and notes payable 4,087 2,431 2,574

Accounts payable-other 9,294 7,558 9,657
Advances received 19,798 22,409 30,720
Finance lease liability 8,733 6,036 4,624
Others 613 639 1,319

Total 42,525 39,073 48,894

18.	�Other Liabilities Related to  
Securities Business

The components of other liabilities related to securities business 
were as follows:

Millions of Yen

As at 1 April 
2011

As at 31 March 
2012

As at 31 March 
2013

Trade date accrual 175,514 120,892 253,819
Deposits for subscription 966 2,414 1,590
Others 2 36 225

Total 176,482 123,342 255,634
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19. Leases

(1)	 As lessee
The Group lease servers for online transaction systems and cer-
tain other assets under finance leases. Future minimum lease 
payments and their present value under finance lease contracts 
of each payment period as at 1 April 2011, 31 March 2012 and 
2013 were as follows:

Millions of Yen

As at 1 April 
2011

As at 31 March 
2012

As at 31 March 
2013

No later than 1 year
Future minimum 
   lease payments 2,232 1,905 1,914 

Less: 
   Future financial cost (157) (115) (96)

Present value 2,075 1,790 1,818 

Later than 1 year and 
   not later than five years

Future minimum 
   lease payments 7,055 4,450 2,908 

Less: 
   Future financial cost (398) (204) (105)

Present value 6,657 4,246 2,803 

Later than 5 years
Future minimum 
   lease payments 1 — 3 

Less: 
   Future financial cost (0) — (0) 

Present value 1 — 3 

Total
Future minimum 
   lease payments 9,288 6,355 4,825 

Less: 
   Future financial cost (555) (319) (201)

Present value 8,733 6,036 4,624 

The total future minimum sublease payments under non-cancel-
lable sublease contracts as at 1 April 2011, 31 March 2012 and 
2013 were ¥5,665 million, ¥2,770 million and ¥2,058 million, 
respectively.
	 The Group leases office buildings and certain other assets 
under operating leases. The total future minimum lease pay-
ments recorded as expenses under cancellable or non-cancella-
ble operating lease contracts as at 31 March 2012 and 2013 were 
¥6,022 million and ¥5,297 million, respectively. The total of 
future minimum lease payments by periods under non-cancella-
ble operating lease contracts as at 1 April 2011, 31 March 2012 
and 2013 were as follows:

Millions of Yen

As at 1 April 
2011

As at 31 March 
2012

As at 31 March 
2013

Future minimum 
   lease payments

No later than 1 year 124 111 55

Later than 1 year 
   and not later than 
   five years

66 86 7

Later than 5 years — — —
Total 190 197 62

(2)	 As lessor
The Group leases equipment for telecommunication business 
and certain other assets under finance leases. Future minimum 
lease payments receivable and their present value under finance 
lease contracts of each payment period as at 1 April 2011, 31 
March 2012 and 2013 were as follows:

Millions of Yen

As at 1 April 
2011

As at 31 March 
2012

As at 31 March 
2013

No later than 1 year
Future minimum lease 
   payments receivable 5,054 4,547 4,514 

Less: 
   Future finance income (321) (246) (211)

Unguaranteed 
   residual value 15 — —

Present value 4,748 4,301 4,303 

Later than 1 year and 
   not later than five years

Future minimum lease 
   payments receivable 11,656 9,784 9,849 

Less: 
   Future finance income (467) (280) (254)

Unguaranteed 
   residual value — — —

Present value 11,189 9,504 9,595 

Later than 5 years

Future minimum lease 
   payments receivable 39 — —

Less: 
   Future finance income (1) — —

Unguaranteed 
   residual value — — —

Present value 38 — —

Total
Future minimum lease 
   payments receivable 16,749 14,331 14,363 

Less: 
   Future finance income (789) (526) (465)

Unguaranteed 
   residual value 15 — —

Present value 15,975 13,805 13,898 
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The total future minimum lease payments receivable under 
non-cancellable operating lease contracts as at 1 April 2011, 31 
March 2012 and 2013 were as follows:

Millions of Yen

As at 1 April 
2011

As at 31 March 
2012

As at 31 March 
2013

Future minimum lease 
   payments receivable

No later than 1 year 1 — 0

Later than 1 year and 
   not later than 
   five years

— — —

Later than 5 years — — —
Total 1 — 0

20. Capital Stock and Other Equity Items

(1)	 Capital stock and treasury stock
The number of authorized shares on the date of transition and 
as at 31 March 2012 was 34,169,000 shares. The number of 
authorized shares as at 31 March 2013 was 341,690,000 shares 
as the Company conducted a 10 for 1 stock split, effective on 1 
October 2012.

The Company’s issued shares were as follows:

Shares

For the year 
ended 

March 31 2012

For the year 
ended 

March 31 2013

Number of issued shares
(common shares with no par value)

As at the beginning of the period 19,944,018 22,451,303
Increase during the period 
(Notes 1, 2) 2,507,285 202,074,478

As at the end of the period 22,451,303 224,525,781

Notes:	 1. ‌�The increase in common shares of 2,507,285 shares consists of 2,000,000 
newly issued shares through an offering of Hong Kong Depositary Receipts, 
432,216 shares and 74,709 shares, respectively, for the acquisition of SBI 
VeriTrans Co., Ltd. and SBI Net System Co., Ltd. that became wholly 
owned subsidiaries through share exchanges, and 360 shares by the exercise 
of stock acquisition rights.

	 2. ‌�The increase of 202,067,487 shares related to the increase of 6,991 shares 
due to the exercise of stock acquisition rights and the 10 for 1 stock split 
effective on 1 October 2012.

The Company’s treasury stock included in the above issued 
shares was as follows:

Shares

For the year 
ended 

31 March 2012

For the year 
ended 

31 March 2013

Number of treasury stock
As at the beginning of the period 14,621 442,093 
Increase during the period 
(Notes 1, 3) 508,125 7,730,653 

Decrease during the period 
(Notes 2, 4) (80,653) (74,300)

As at the end of the period 442,093 8,098,446 

Notes:	 1. ‌�The increase of 508,125 common shares in treasury stock consists of 321,373 
shares acquired as treasury stock subject to Article 156 (replacement of the 
third paragraph of Article 165) of the Companies Act; 60,000 shares acquired 
in response to the share purchase demand related to the share exchange to 
make SBI VeriTrans Co., Ltd. a wholly owned subsidiary in accordance with 
the first paragraph of Article 797 of the Companies Act; 50,116 shares 
acquired by a subsidiary related to the acquisition of SBI Net System Co., 
Ltd., to become a wholly owned subsidiary through a share exchange, and 
the remaining 76,636 shares acquired by the Trust.

	 2. ‌�The decrease of 80,653 common shares in treasury stock consists of 
reissuance of 74,621 shares to acquire the remaining share of SBI Net System 
Co., Ltd. to make it a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and 6,032 
shares sold by the Trust to the Employee Stockholding Association.

	 3. ‌�The increase of 7,730,653 shares related to the acquisition of 377,857 shares 
subject to Article 156 of the Companies Act (replacement of the third 
paragraph of Article 165), 33,186 shares purchased from shareholders with 
less than one unit of shares, and 7,319,610 shares due to a 10 for 1 stock split 
effective on 1 October 2012.

	 4. ‌�The decrease of 74,300 shares related to 1,940 shares sold to shareholders 
with less than one unit of shares, and sales of 72,360 shares to the Employee 
Stockholding Association.

(2)	 Reserves
	 a. Capital surplus
	� Under the Companies Act of Japan (“the Companies Act”), 

at least 50% of the proceeds of certain issues of common 
shares shall be credited to Common stock. The remainder 
of the proceeds shall be credited to Capital surplus. The 
Companies Act permits, upon approval of the shareholders 
meeting, the transfer of amounts from Capital surplus to 
Common stock.

	 b. Retained Earnings
	� The Companies Act provides that a 10% dividend of 

retained earnings shall be appropriated as capital surplus or 
as a statutory reserve until the aggregate amount of capital 
surplus and statutory reserve reaches 25% of common stock. 
The statutory reserve may be used to eliminate or reduce a 
deficit or be transferred to retained earnings upon approval 
of the shareholders meeting.
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(3)	 Other component of equity
The movements of other component of equity were as follows:

Millions of Yen

Other component of equity

Currency 
translation  
differences

Financial assets 
at FVTOCI

Hedging 
instruments for 

cash flow hedges Total

Balance as at 1 April 2011 — 613 (42) 571 
Adjustment for the year (1,352) (511) (4) (1,867)
Transfer to retained earnings — (67) — (67)

Balance as at 31 March 2012 (1,352) 35 (46) (1,363)
Adjustment for the year 7,838 (247) 46 7,637 
Transfer to retained earnings — (78) — (78)

Balance as at 31 March 2013 6,486 (290) — 6,196 

21. Dividends

Dividends paid were as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2012

Type of share

Dividend amount 
(millions of Yen)

Effective date
Amount per share 

(Yen) Declared date Effective date

Board of Directors’ Meeting on 27 April 2011 Common shares 2,391 120 (Note) 31 March 2011 9 June 2011

Note: Above dividend per share includes a dividend of 20 yen commemorating the listing on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

Year ended 31 March 2013

Type of share

Dividend amount 
(millions of Yen)

Effective date
Amount per share 

(Yen) Declared date Effective date

Board of Directors’ Meeting on 26 April 2012 Common shares 2,208 100 31 March 2012 7 June 2012

The Company conducted a 10 for 1 stock split, effective on 1 October 2012. The amount of dividend per share presented above 
refers to the amount before the stock split was conducted.

Dividends for which the declared date fell in the year ended 31 March 2013, and for which the effective date will be in the year 
ended 31 March 2014.

Type of share

Dividend amount 
(millions of Yen)

Effective date
Amount per share 

(Yen) Declared date Effective date

Board of Directors’ Meeting on 9 May 2013 Common shares 2,170 10 31 March 2013 6 June 2013

22. Share-based Payment

The Company and certain of its subsidiaries have stock option 
plans for their directors or employees. These stock options are 
granted to persons resolved by the board of directors based on 
the approval of the shareholders meeting of the Company or 
certain of its subsidiaries. Vesting conditions include accom-
plishment of the IPO, the directors or employees holding their 
positions as directors or employees until the accomplishment of 

the IPO. Also, certain of the stock options were allocated to the 
directors or employees at the fair value.
	 None of the expenses arising from share-based payment 
transactions regarding granted stock options are recorded 
during the years ended 31 March 2012 and 2013.
	 The outline of the stock option plans of the Group is as 
follows:
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(1)	 The Company
The Company’s stock options were all vested before the transition date, 1 April 2011; thus, the Company does not apply IFRS 2 
“Share-based payment”, by electing the IFRS 1 exemptions for first time adopters.
	 The outline of the Company’s stock option plan is as follows:

Stocks Yen Stocks Yen

For the year ended 31 March 2012 For the year ended 31 March 2013

Number of 
stocks

Weighted average 
exercise price

Number of 
stocks

Weighted average 
exercise price

Beginning balance 2,572,713.47 2,259 2,420,376.81 2,271 
Forfeited (148,736.66) 2,103 (894,387.45) 1,231 
Exercised (3,600.00) 447 (12,751.00) 463 

Unexercised balance 2,420,376.81 2,271 1,513,238.36 2,901 

Notes:	 1. Weighted average stock prices upon exercise of stock options for the year ended 31 March 2012 and 2013 were ¥691 and ¥597, respectively.
	 2. Number of stocks and weighted average exercise prices in the above table are adjusted retrospectively reflecting the 10 for 1 stock split effective on 1 October 2012.

The unexercised balance as at 31 March 2013 is as follows: 

Yen Stocks Yen Years

As at March 2013

Exercise price 
range

Number of 
stocks

Weighted average 
exercise price

Average remaining 
exercise period 

—1,000 29,200.00 447 0.3
1,001—2,000 589,698.40 1,644 0.2
2,001—3,000 171,204.96 2,529 0.2
3,001—4,000 213,402.00 3,230 0.3
4,001—5,200 509,733.00 4,484 1.3

Total 1,513,238.36 2,901 0.6

(2)	 Subsidiaries
The outline of the Company’s subsidiaries’ stock option is as follows:

(a) Stock option plans which were unvested at the transition date, 1 April 2011.

Stocks Yen Stocks Yen

For the year ended 31 March 2012 For the year ended 31 March 2013

a-1 SBI Biotech Co., Ltd. Number of 
stocks

Weighted average 
exercise price

Number of 
stocks

Weighted average 
exercise price

Beginning balance 1,246 17,279 1,246 17,279
Forfeited — — (536) 5,000

Unvested balance 1,246 17,279 710 26,549

Notes:	 1. There were no vested balances as at 31 March 2013.
	 2. The average remaining exercise period as at 31 March 2013 was 2.4 years. (Stock options with exercise period defined as 3 years passed from the IPO date are excluded.)

Stocks Yen

For the year ended 31 March 2012

a-2 HOMEOSTYLE Inc. Number of 
stocks

Weighted average 
exercise price

Beginning balance 18,257 14,347 
Forfeited (1,107) 16,650 
Change in scope of consolidation (17,150) 14,199 

Unvested balance — —

Note: The Group sold all the shares of HOMEOSTYLE Inc. during the year ended 31 March 2012. 
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Stocks Yen Stocks Yen

For the year ended 31 March 2012 For the year ended 31 March 2013

a-3 Autoc one K.K. Number of 
stocks

Weighted average 
exercise price

Number of 
stocks

Weighted average 
exercise price

Beginning balance 8,480 22,441 8,400 22,155 
Forfeited (80) 52,500 (5,850) 10,000 

Unvested balance 8,400 22,155 2,550 50,039 

Notes:	 1. There were no vested balances as at 31 March 2013.
	 2. The average remaining exercise period as at 31 March 2013 was 1.6 years. 

Stocks Yen Stocks Yen

For the year ended 31 March 2012 For the year ended 31 March 2013

a-4 SBI Trade Win Tech Co., Ltd. Number of 
stocks

Weighted average 
exercise price

Number of 
stocks

Weighted average 
exercise price

Beginning balance 1,320 149,394 1,320 149,394 
Forfeited — — (1,320) 149,394 

Unvested balance 1,320 149,394 — —

Stocks Yen Stocks Yen

For the year ended 31 March 2012 For the year ended 31 March 2013

a-5 SBI SSI Co., Ltd. Number of 
stocks

Weighted average 
exercise price

Number of 
stocks

Weighted average 
exercise price

Beginning balance — — 784 50,000 
Change in scope of consolidation 784 50,000 — —
Forfeited — — (784) 50,000 

Unvested balance 784 50,000 — —

Note: SBI SSI Co., Ltd. was acquired by the Group and was consolidated during the year ended 31 March 2012. 

Stocks Yen Stocks Yen

For the year ended 31 March 2012 For the year ended 31 March 2013

a-6 NARUMIYA INTERNATIONAL CO., LTD. Number of 
stocks

Weighted average 
exercise price

Number of 
stocks

Weighted average 
exercise price

Beginning balance — — 2,800 78,557
Granted 2,800 78,557 1,200 78,557

Unvested balance 2,800 78,557 4,000 78,557

Notes:	 1. Average remaining exercise period as at 31 March 2013 was 7.4 years. 
	 2. ‌�Fair value of the stock option granted during the year ended 31 March 2012 was ¥4,232. Fair value was determined based on Monte Carlo simulation and was evaluated 

by an external specialist. The following assumptions were used in the Monte Carlo simulation regarding the stock options granted during the year ended 31 March 2012: 
	 Stock price at the grant date	:	 ¥50,000	 Estimated remaining exercise period	 :	 10 years
	 Exercise price	 :	 ¥78,557	 Dividend yield	 :	 0%
	 Estimated volatility	 :	 33.26%	 Risk free rate	 :	 0.985%
	 3. ‌�Fair value of the stock option granted during the year ended 31 March 2013 was ¥6,800. Fair value was determined based on Monte Carlo simulation and was evaluated 

by an external specialist. The following assumptions were used in the Monte Carlo simulation regarding the stock option granted during the year ended 31 March 2013: 
	 Stock price at the grant date	:	 ¥54,000	 Estimated remaining exercise period	 :	 5 years
	 Exercise price	 :	 ¥78,557	 Dividend yield	 :	 0%
	 Estimated volatility	 :	 34.16%	 Risk free rate	 :	 0.21%
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Stocks Yen Stocks Yen

For the year ended 31 March 2012 For the year ended 31 March 2013

a-7 SBI AXES Co., Ltd. Number of 
stocks

Weighted average 
exercise price

Number of 
stocks

Weighted average 
exercise price

Beginning balance — — 165,100 424
Vested 165,100 424 — —

Unexercised balance 165,100 424 165,100 424

Notes:	 1. Average remaining exercise period as at 31 March 2013 was 1.7 years. 
	 2. ‌�Weighted average fair value of stock options vested during the fiscal year ended 31 March 2012 was ¥120. Fair value was determined based on a binominal model and was 

evaluated by an external specialist. The following assumptions were used in the binominal model regarding the stock option vested during the year ended 31 March 2012: 
	 Stock price at the vesting date	 :	 ¥424	 Estimated remaining exercise period	 :	 3 years
	 Exercise price	 :	 ¥424	 Dividend yield	 :	 2.04%
	 Estimated volatility	 :	 50.76%	 Risk free rate	 :	 0.23%

(b) Stock option plans which were vested before the transition date, 1 April 2011.
The following stock options were vested before the transition date, 1 April 2011, thus the Group does not apply IFRS 2 “Share-based 
payment” electing the IFRS 1 exemptions for first time adopters. 

Stocks Yen Stocks Yen

For the year ended 31 March 2012 For the year ended 31 March 2013

b-1 SBI Life Living Co., Ltd. Number of 
stocks

Weighted average 
exercise price

Number of 
stocks

Weighted average 
exercise price

Beginning balance 979 267,519 979 267,519
Movement — — — —

Unexercised balance 979 267,519 979 267,519

Note: Average remaining exercise period as at 31 March 2013 was 3.0 years.

Stocks Yen Stocks Yen

For the year ended 31 March 2012 For the year ended 31 March 2013

b-2 SBI Mortgage Co., Ltd. Number of 
stocks

Weighted average 
exercise price

Number of 
stocks

Weighted average 
exercise price

Beginning balance 47,000 750 47,000 750
Movement — — — —

Unexercised balance 47,000 750 47,000 750

Note: Average remaining exercise period as at 31 March 2013 was 2.2 years.

Stocks Yen

For the year ended 31 March 2012

b-3 SBI VeriTrans Co., Ltd. Number of 
stocks

Weighted average 
exercise price

Beginning balance 336 5,741
Exercised (336) 5,741

Unexercised balance — —

Note: Weighted average stock price at stocks options upon exercise for the year ended 31 March 2012 was ¥34,416.
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Stocks Yen Stocks Yen

For the year ended 31 March 2012 For the year ended 31 March 2013

b-4 Morningstar Japan K.K. Number of 
stocks

Weighted average 
exercise price

Number of 
stocks

Weighted average 
exercise price

Beginning balance 2,618 64,757 2,618 64,757 
Forfeited — — (1,584) 57,500 
Exercised — — (784) 57,500 

Unexercised balance 2,618 64,757 250 133,500 

Notes:	 1. Weighted average stock price of stock options upon exercise for the year ended 31 March 2013 was ¥62,222.
	 2. Average remaining exercise period as at 31 March 2013 was 3.0 years. 

Stocks Yen

For the year ended 31 March 2012

b-5 Gomez Consulting Co., Ltd. Number of 
stocks

Weighted average 
exercise price

Beginning balance 334 93,323 
Forfeited (294) 100,000 
Exercised (40) 44,250 

Unexercised balance — —

Note: Weighted average stock price of stock options upon exercise for the year ended 31 March 2012 was ¥58,300.

23. Operating Revenue

Operating revenue for the years ended 31 March 2012 and 2013 
consisted of the following: 

Millions of Yen

For the year 
ended 

31 March 2012

For the year 
ended 

31 March 2013

Financial income
Interest income (Note 1) 18,886 18,553
Dividends received 2,057 1,178
Income arising from 
   financial assets at FVTPL (Note 2) 11,296 9,520

Gain from trading 
   in foreign currencies 9,800 8,915

Other gain from trading 1,041 1,534

Total financial income 43,080 39,700

Revenue from rendering of services 81,835 77,231
Gain on the sales of investments 
   in subsidiaries (Note 3)

16,369 3,252

Valuation gain on 
   business combination achieved 
   in stages (Note 4)

— 2,762

Other income 36,125 30,531
Total operating revenue 177,409 153,476

Notes:	 1. ‌�Interest income in financial income is arising from financial assets measured 
at amortized cost.

	 2. ‌�Income arising from financial assets at FVTPL is mainly consisted of gains 
less losses on other investment securities.

	 3. ‌�Gains on sales of investments in subsidiaries for the years ended 31 March 
2012 and 2013 were mainly attributable to the sales of investments in VSN, 
Inc. and SBI Credit Co., Ltd., respectively.

	 4. ‌�Valuation gain on business combination achieved in stages was arising from 
the remeasurement of the Group’s previously held investment in SBI 
Japannext Co., Ltd. at the additional acquisition-date fair value in a business 
combination achieved in stages.

24. Operating Expense

Operating expense for the years ended 31 March 2012 and 2013 
consisted of the following:

(1) Operating cost

Millions of Yen

For the year 
ended 

31 March 2012

For the year 
ended 

31 March 2013

Payroll (13,667) (5,899)
Outsourcing fees (8,837) (8,036)
Depreciation and amortization (1,745) (1,433)
Insurance payout and provision  
   for statutory reserves related  
   to insurance business

(14,375) (16,810)

Others (35,142) (23,097)
Total operating cost (73,766) (55,275)

(2) Financial cost

Millions of Yen

For the year 
ended 

31 March 2012

For the year 
ended 

31 March 2013

Financial cost
Interest expense

Financial liabilities measured 
   at amortized cost (5,229) (4,612)

Total financial cost (5,229) (4,612)

Note: ‌�There are no interests capitalized by the Group during the fiscal years ended 31 
March 2012 and 2013.
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(3) Selling, general and administrative expenses

Millions of Yen

For the year 
ended 

31 March 2012

For the year 
ended 

31 March 2013

Payroll (22,743) (21,657)
Outsourcing fees (11,448) (12,509)

Depreciation and amortization (5,866) (6,104)

Research and development (1,050) (2,621)

Others (32,985) (32,340)
Total selling, general 
   and administrative expenses

(74,092) (75,231)

(4) Other expenses

Millions of Yen

For the year 
ended 

31 March 2012

For the year 
ended 

31 March 2013

Impairment loss on non-financial assets (4,529) (1,180)
Foreign exchange loss (575) -
Others (1,913) (1,159)
Total other expenses (7,017) (2,339)

25. Other Financial Income and Cost

Other financial income and cost for the years ended 31 March 
2012 and 2013 consisted of the followings:

Millions of Yen

For the year 
ended 

31 March 2012

For the year 
ended 

31 March 2013

Other financial income
Interest income

Financial assets measured 
   at amortized cost 504 604 

Total other financial income 504 604 

Other financial expense
Interest expense

Financial liabilities measured 
   at amortized cost

(2,434) (2,968)

Total other financial expense (2,434) (2,968)

Note: ‌�There are no interests capitalized by the Group during the fiscal years ended 31 
March 2012 and 2013.

26. Income Tax Expense

The amount of income tax expenses for the years ended 31 
March 2012 and 2013 were as follows: 

Millions of Yen

For the year 
ended 

31 March 2012

For the year 
ended 

31 March 2013

Income Tax Expense
Current (10,307) (4,181)

Deferred (2,531) (3,070)
Total (12,838) (7,251)

Note: ‌�There was no amount of taxes charged to revenue under Hong Kong’s 
Ordinances. during the fiscal years ended 31 March 2012 and 2013.

Due to the change in effective tax rates for domestic entities, 
deferred income tax expense for the year ended 31 March 2012 
increased by ¥1,989 million. 
	 The Company and its domestic subsidiaries are subject to 
mainly a national corporate tax, an inhabitants tax, and an 
enterprise tax, which, in aggregate, resulted in a normal effec-
tive statutory tax rate of 40.69% and 38.01% for the years ended 
31 March 2012 and 2013, respectively. Foreign subsidiaries are 
subject to the income taxes of the countries in which they 
operates. 

A reconciliation between the normal effective statutory tax rates 
and the Group’s average effective tax rate reflected in the 
accompanying consolidated statement of income for the years 
ended 31 March 2012 and 2013 is as follows:

%

For the year 
ended 

31 March 2012

For the year 
ended 

31 March 2013

Normal effective statutory tax rate 40.69 38.01 
Expenses not deductible 
   for income tax purposes 3.64 5.65 

Tax effect on minority interests 
   of investments in fund (10.70) (12.75)

Temporary differences arising 
   from consolidation of investments 28.86 9.57 

Change in valuation allowance 11.23 17.06 

Tax effect on adjustments 
   for deferred tax assets due 
   to tax rate change

12.75 —

Other (4.17) (6.52)
Average effective tax rate 82.30 51.02 
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28. Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share and diluted earnings per share attribut-
able to owners of the Company were calculated based on the 
following information:
	 Since the Company conducted a 10 for 1 stock split, effec-
tive on 1 October 2012, basic earnings per share and diluted 
earnings per share attributable to owners of the Company were 
calculated based on the new number of shares after the stock 
split and adjusted retrospectively.

Millions of Yen

For the year 
ended 

31 March 2012

For the year 
ended 

31 March 2013

Profit for the year attributable 
   to owners of the Company 303 3,202

Weighted average number of shares
Basic weighted average number of 
ordinary shares (shares) 219,860,562 217,072,796

Dilutive effect: Stock option (shares) 52,473 19,097
Weighted average number 
   of ordinary shares after the 
   dilutive effect (shares)

219,913,035 217,091,893

Earnings per share attributable 
   to owners of the Company

Basic (in yen) 1.38 14.75
Diluted (in yen) 1.38 14.75

29. Cash Flow Information 

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information for the years 
ended 31 March 2012 and 2013 was as follows:

(1)	 Expenditures on acquisition of subsidiaries
The amounts of payments for acquisition of subsidiaries were 
¥4,087 million and ¥22,206 million for the years ended 31 
March 2012 and 2013, respectively. Cash and cash equivalents 
held by the subsidiaries at the acquisition date were ¥4,879 mil-
lion and ¥3,755 million, respectively. 

(2)	 Proceeds from sales of subsidiaries
Total consideration received in respect of sales of subsidiaries 
was ¥8,599 million and ¥17,520 million for the years ended 
31 March 2012 and 2013, respectively. Amounts of major 
classes of assets and liabilities of subsidiaries at the date of sale 
were as follows:

Millions of Yen

For the year 
ended 

31 March 2012

For the year 
ended 

31 March 2013

Cash and cash equivalent 12,675 7,458
Trade and other receivables 3,705 14,108
Other assets 6,023 1,150

Total assets 22,403 22,716

Bonds and loans payable 3,237 6,869
Trade and other payables 2,788 3,027
Other payables 7,460 6,955

Total payables 13,485 16,851

27. Other Comprehensive Income

Amounts recorded during the year, reclassification adjustments and income tax effects on each item of other comprehensive 
income for the year ended 31 March 2012 and 2013 were as follows:

Millions of Yen

For the year ended 31 March 2012 Amount 
recorded 

during the year
Reclassification 

adjustment

Amount 
before 

income tax
Income 

tax effect

Amount 
after 

income tax

Foreign currency translation adjustment on foreign operations (1,035) (201) (1,236) — (1,236)
Financial assets at FVTOCI (779) — (779) 382 (397)
Cash flow hedge 33 (40) (7) 5 (2)
Share of other comprehensive income in equity method investments (201) — (201) — (201)

Total (1,982) (241) (2,223) 387 (1,836)

Millions of Yen

For the year ended 31 March 2013 Amount 
recorded 

during the year
Reclassification 

adjustment

Amount 
before 

income tax
Income 

tax effect

Amount 
after 

income tax

Foreign currency translation adjustment on foreign operations 7,181 — 7,181 — 7,181 
Financial assets at FVTOCI 107 — 107 (357) (250)
Cash flow hedge 80 (9) 71 (22) 49 
Share of other comprehensive income in equity method investments 1,398 — 1,398 — 1,398 

Total 8,766 (9) 8,757 (379) 8,378 
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30. Related Party Transactions

(1)	 Related party transaction
The Group entered into the following related party transactions during the year ended 31 March 2013. 

Millions of Yen

Type Name Position
Nature of related 
party transaction

Transaction 
amount

Unsettled 
amount

Directors Yoshitaka Kitao The Company’s Representative 
Director, President and CEO

 Subscription to the Company’s 
subsidiary’s third party allotment (Note) 30 —

Note:	‌�The price of the subscription was same as that of a transaction with an independent third party subscribed through third party allotment. 
	 The payment term was cash disbursement at one time.

(2)	� Emoluments to the directors of the Company  
for the years ended 31 March 2012 and 2013

Millions of Yen

For the year 
ended 

31 March 2012

For the year 
ended 

31 March 2013

Directors’ Fees 504 437
Total 504 437

31. Contingent Liabilities

(1)	 Loan Commitment
The Group is involved in the credit card business and provides 
loan commitments in relation to the business.
	 The total amount of loan commitments amounted ¥2,557 
million, ¥2,552 million and ¥2,239 million, with an unused 
portion of ¥1,603 million, ¥2,202 million and ¥1,674 million at 
transition date, 31 March 2012 and 2013, respectively.
	 However, contracts are revisited regularly upon changes to 
customer’s credit condition and other matters considered necessary 
to ensure secure credit facilities. Thus, the unused portion of the 
commitment will not affect the Group’s future cash flow.

(2)	 Guarantee of third party’s payables
In its financial service business segment, the Group provides a 
guarantee for debts which customers of entities subject to the 
equity method. The undiscounted amounts of guaranteed debts 
were as follows: 

Millions of Yen

As at 1 April 
2011

As at 31 March 
2012

As at 31 March 
2013

Guarantee of 
   third party’s payables 16,288 42,004 277

32. Events After the Reporting Period

There were no significant events after the reporting period.

33. Explanation of Transition to IFRSs

The Group determined to first adopt IFRSs for this fiscal year 
ended 31 March 2013 and the consolidated financial statements 
of the Group were prepared in accordance with IFRSs. The 
latest consolidated financial statements under accounting princi-
ples generally accepted in Japan (hereinafter referred to as 
“JGAAP”) are prepared for the year ended 31 March 2012 and 
the transition date is 1 April 2011.
	 The reconciliation required to be disclosed for IFRSs’ first 
time adoption is as follows.
	 “Reclassifications” in the following table represent the 
reclassifications made to map accounts presented under JGAAP 
to those of IFRSs. “Adjustments” represent adjustments posted 
according to the requirements under IFRSs.
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Reconciliation of consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at 1 April 2011

Millions of Yen

As at 1 April 2011

Presentation under JGAAP Notes JGAAP Reclassifications Adjustments IFRSs Presentation under IFRSs

Assets Assets
Cash and deposits 150,268 (1,482) 11,612 160,398 Cash and cash equivalents

(6) 98,310 67,780 166,090 Trade and 
   other accounts receivable

Notes and accounts receivable-trade 10,658 (10,658)
Operational loans receivable 27,906 (27,906)
Leases receivable and 
   lease investment assets 16,167 (16,167)

Allowance for doubtful accounts (4,017) 4,017 
Assets related 
   to securities business

Cash segregated as deposits 347,866 — — 347,866 Cash segregated as deposits
Margin transaction assets (10) 250,400 — (110,440) 139,960 Margin transaction assets
Short-term guarantee deposits 5,236 (5,236)

(10) 10,632 218,032 228,664 Other assets related 
   to securities business

716,490 
Total assets related 
   to securities business

(6) 9,672 7,213 16,885 Other financial assets 
Operational investment securities-net (6) 132,773 — (24,635) 108,138 Operational investment securities
Short-term investment securities (6) 292 (292)
Real estate inventories 16,813 (16,813)
Trading instruments 2,702 (2,702)
Deferred tax assets 14,243 (14,243)
Others 57,474 (57,474)

(6) 18,932 (5,896) 13,036 Other investment securities 
34,597 (11,230) 23,367 Investments in associates 

(5) 21,024 (1,733) 19,291 Investment properties
Property and equipment (4) 28,431 (21,024) 3,472 10,879 Property and equipment
Intangible assets (1) 140,244 — (72,268) 67,976 Intangible assets

39,990 7,075 47,065 Other assets
Investment securities (6) 53,379 (53,379)
Deferred tax assets (9) 12,830 14,243 (4,959) 22,114 Deferred tax assets
Others 36,108 (36,108)
Allowance for doubtful accounts (12,067) 12,067 
Stock issuance costs 153 — (153)
Bonds issuance costs 32 — (32)
Deferred operating costs under Article 
   113 of the Insurance Business Act (8) 5,715 — (5,715)

Total assets 1,293,606 — 78,123 1,371,729 Total assets



98 SBI Holdings   Annual Report 2013

Millions of Yen

As at 1 April 2011

Presentation under JGAAP Notes JGAAP Reclassifications Adjustments IFRSs Presentation under IFRSs

Liabilities Liabilities
211,278 65,700 276,978 Bonds and loans payable

Short-term loans payable 97,164 (97,164)
Current portion 
   of long-term loans payable 12,148 (12,148)

Current portion of bonds payable 70,060 (70,060)
37,598 4,927 42,525 Trade and other accounts payable

Advances received 1,954 (1,954)
Accrued expenses 3,202 (3,202)
Provision for bonuses 79 (79)
Other provisions 448 (448)

  Liabilities related 
   to securities business

Margin transaction liabilities (10) 143,758 — (64,569) 79,189 Margin transaction liabilities

Loans payable secured by securities 61,798 — — 61,798 Loans payable secured 
   by securities 

Deposits from customers (10) 37,820 — (1,103) 36,717 Deposits from customers
Guarantee deposits received 309,135 — — 309,135 Guarantee deposits received

(10) 1,067 175,415 176,482 Other liabilities related 
   to securities business

663,321 
Total liabilities related 
   to securities business

Accrued income taxes 4,575 (279) 803 5,099 Income tax payable
16,025 8,922 24,947 Other financial liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities 3,220 (3,220)
Others 35,237 (30,230) 602 5,609 Other liabilities
Bonds payable 540 (540)
Long-term loans payable 31,366 (31,366)
Deferred tax liabilities (9) 424 3,220 1,718 5,362 Deferred tax liabilities
Provision for retirement benefits 70 (70)
Other provisions 861 (861)
Others 17,567 (17,567)
Statutory reserve (7) 5,197 — (5,197)

Total liabilities 836,623 — 187,218 1,023,841 Total liabilities
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Millions of Yen

As at 1 April 2011

Presentation under JGAAP Notes JGAAP Reclassifications Adjustments IFRSs Presentation under IFRSs

Net assets Equity
Capital stock 73,236 — — 73,236 Capital stock
Capital surplus (1) 236,921 — (81,396) 155,525 Capital surplus
Treasury stock (247) — — (247) Treasury stock

(6) (7,156) 7,727 571 Other component of equity
Retained earnings 88,074 — (27,123) 60,951 Retained earnings

Total shareholders’ equity 397,984 (7,156) (100,792) 290,036 Equity attributable 
   to owners of the Company

Unrealized losses on 
   available-for-sale securities (3,903) 3,903 

Deferred gains (losses) on 
   derivatives under hedge accounting (240) 240 

Foreign currency translation adjustment (3) (3,013) 3,013 
Total accumulated other
   comprehensive income/(loss) (7,156) 7,156 

Stock acquisition rights 12 (12)
Minority interests 66,143 12 (8,303) 57,852 Non-controlling interests 

Total net assets 456,983 — (109,095) 347,888 Total equity
Total liabilities and net assets 1,293,606 — 78,123 1,371,729 Total liabilities and equity
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Reconciliation of consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2012

Millions of Yen

As at 31 March 2012

Presentation under JGAAP Notes JGAAP Reclassifications Adjustments IFRSs Presentation under IFRSs

Assets Assets
Cash and deposits 146,056 (461) 14,238 159,833 Cash and cash equivalents

(6) 128,565 51,820 180,385 Trade and other accounts receivable
Notes and accounts receivable-trade 11,106 (11,106)
Operational loans receivable 42,281 (42,281)
Leases receivable 
   and lease investment assets 13,830 (13,830)

Allowance for doubtful accounts (3,683) 3,683 
Assets related to securities business

Cash segregated as deposits 663,066 — — 663,066 Cash segregated as deposits
Margin transaction assets (10) 260,048 — (93,396) 166,652 Margin transaction assets
Short-term guarantee deposits 16,801 (16,801)

(10) 20,790 139,700 160,490 Other assets related 
   to securities business

990,208 
Total assets related 
   to securities business

(6) 10,022 3,064 13,086 Other financial assets
Operational investment securities-net (6) 141,943 — (19,992) 121,951 Operational investment securities
Short-term investment securities (6) 219 (219)
Real estate inventories 11,700 (11,700)
Trading instruments 1,763 (1,763)
Deferred tax assets 11,426 (11,426)
Others 75,831 (75,831)

(6) 18,132 (7,584) 10,548 Other investment securities
43,322 (14,225) 29,097 Investments in associates

(5) 22,428 (3,899) 18,529 Investment properties
Property and equipment (4) 28,835 (22,428) 3,055 9,462 Property and equipment
Intangible assets (1) 137,176 － (72,674) 64,502 Intangible assets

30,358 6,743 37,101 Other assets
Investment securities (6) 61,403 (61,403)
Deferred tax assets (9) 15,458 11,426 (6,018) 20,866 Deferred tax assets
Others 26,013 (26,013)
Allowance for doubtful accounts (6,536) 6,536 
Stock issuance costs 182 — (182)
Bonds issuance costs 143 — (143)
Deferred operating costs under Article 
   113 of the Insurance Business Act (8) 8,753 — (8,753)

Total assets 1,663,814 — (8,246) 1,655,568 Total assets



101SBI Holdings   Annual Report 2013

Millions of Yen

As at 31 March 2012

Presentation under JGAAP Notes JGAAP Reclassifications Adjustments IFRSs Presentation under IFRSs

Liabilities Liabilities
234,249 50,939 285,188 Bonds and loans payable

Short-term loans payable 103,915 (103,915)
Current portion 
   of long-term loans payable 19,889 (19,889)

Current portion of bonds payable 60,060 (60,060)
32,843 6,230 39,073 Trade and other accounts payable

Advances received 1,941 (1,941)
Accrued expenses 3,263 (3,263)
Provision for bonuses 96 (96)
Other provisions 291 (291)

 Liabilities related 
   to securities business

Margin transaction liabilities (10) 170,800 — (57,798) 113,002 Margin transaction liabilities

Loans payable secured by securities 76,593 — — 76,593 Loans payable secured 
   by securities 

Deposits from customers (10) 347,953 — (16,464) 331,489 Deposits from customers
Guarantee deposits received 289,405 — — 289,405 Guarantee deposits received

(10) 2,676 120,666 123,342 Other liabilities related 
   to securities business

933,831 
Total liabilities related 
   to securities business

Accrued income taxes 4,875 (303) 275 4,847 Income tax payable
22,480 7,436 29,916 Other financial liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities 4,048 (4,048)
Others 36,930 (32,107) 114 4,937 Other liabilities
Bonds payable 30,480 (30,480)
Long-term loans payable 16,766 (16,766)
Deferred tax liabilities (9) 357 4,048 1,466 5,871 Deferred tax liabilities
Provision for retirement benefits 17 (17)
Other provisions 1,445 (1,445)
Others 21,675 (21,675)
Statutory reserve (7) 4,436 — (4,436)

Total liabilities 1,195,235 — 108,428 1,303,663 Total liabilities
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Millions of Yen

As at 31 March 2012

Presentation under JGAAP Notes JGAAP Reclassifications Adjustments IFRSs Presentation under IFRSs

Net assets Equity
Capital stock 81,665 — — 81,665 Capital stock
Capital surplus (1) 249,353 — (88,882) 160,471 Capital surplus

Treasury stock (3,180) — — (3,180) Treasury stock
(6) (9,323) 7,960 (1,363) Other component of equity

Retained earnings 88,418 — (29,488) 58,930 Retained earnings

Total shareholders’ equity 416,256 (9,323) (110,410) 296,523 Equity attributable 
   to owners of the Company

Unrealized losses on 
   available-for-sale securities (2,722) 2,722 

Deferred gains (losses) on 
   derivatives under hedge accounting (1,890) 1,890 

Foreign currency 
   translation adjustments (3) (4,711) 4,711 

Total accumulated 
   other comprehensive income/(loss) (9,323) 9,323 

Stock acquisition rights 10 (10)
Minority interests 61,636 10 (6,264) 55,382 Non-controlling interests 

Total net assets 468,579 — (116,674) 351,905 Total equity
Total liabilities and net assets 1,663,814 — (8,246) 1,655,568 Total liabilities and equity
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Reconciliation of consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2012

Reconciliation of comprehensive income of the fiscal year ended 31 March 2012

Significant reconciliation of cash flows

There is no significant difference between cash flow statement presentation under IFRSs and JGAAP.

Millions of Yen

Notes As at 1 April 2011 As at 31 March 2012

Equity of the Group under JGAAP  456,983 468,579 

Business combination (1) (77,493) (77,393)
Scope of consolidation (2) (5,697) (6,263)
Property and equipment (4) 714 708 
Investment properties (5) (1,291) (2,785)
Financial instruments (6) (14,488) (13,209)
Statutory reserve (7) 3,082 4,097 
Insurance contract (8) (6,978) (8,989)
Income tax expense (9) (6,004) (12,152)
Others (940) (688)

Equity of the Group under IFRSs 347,888 351,905 

Millions of Yen

Notes
Fiscal year ended
31 March 2012

Comprehensive income of the Group under JGAAP 3,764 

Business combination (1) 3,912 
Scope of consolidation (2) 826 
Property and equipment (4) (6)
Investment properties (5) (1,494)
Financial instruments (6) 816 
Statutory reserve (7) 1,015 
Insurance contract (8) (2,011)
Income tax expense (9) (6,148)
Others 252 

Comprehensive income of the Group under IFRSs 926 
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Notes to Reconciliation

(1)	 Business combination
The Group decided to retrospectively apply IFRS 3 “Business 
Combinations” to all business combinations consummated on 
or after 31 March 2008. 

	 (a)	�Measurement of assets and liabilities at the date of 
business combination

		�  The items which are recognized as assets and liabilities 
under JGAAP but do not meet the criteria for recogni-
tion of assets and liabilities under IFRSs are excluded 
from the statement of financial position as at 1 April 
2011. On the contrary, items which meet the criteria for 
recognition of assets and liabilities under IFRSs but were 
not recognized under JGAAP were recognized at mea-
surement value at the initial recognition date.

		�	   As a result, the Group recognized intangible assets of 
¥1,426 million and goodwill arising from business com-
bination of ¥1,379 million was reduced at the initial rec-
ognition date.

	 (b)	�Goodwill arising from increasing investment in equity 
after obtaining control

		�  The Group applies IFRS 3 “Business Combinations” ret-
rospectively to all the business combinations that 
occurred on or after 31 March 2008 and treats goodwill 
arising from the increase in interest after obtaining con-
trol under JGAAP as a decrease in capital surplus. As a 
result, the capital surplus decreased by ¥87,156 million 
and ¥98,443 million as at 1 April 2011 and 31 March 
2012, respectively. The decrease at the transition date 
included the amount of ¥83,852 million, which arose 
from SBI SECURITIES Co., Ltd. becoming a wholly 
owned subsidiary in August 2008. 

	 (c)	�Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without 
loss of control

		�  Under IAS 27 “Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements”, the entity shall recognize investments in 
subsidiaries arising from changes in interest of the parent 
company without losing control as an equity transaction 
and thus profit or loss or goodwill decreases recognized 
under JGAAP are treated as a decrease or increase of 
capital surplus. 

		�	   As a result, the capital surplus increased by ¥5,942 
million and ¥10,564 million as at 1 April 2011 and 31 
March 2012, respectively.

	 (d)	�Impairment and amortization of goodwill and  
negative goodwill

		�  Under JGAAP, goodwill is generally amortized over an 
estimated useful life up to 20 years and shall be tested 
for impairment if there is an indication that the asset 
may be impaired and consequently not required to be 
tested for impairment every fiscal year. Impairment test 
consists of judgment for recognition and measurement of 
impairment. For the judgment for recognition, pre-dis-
counted future cash flow is used for comparison with 

book value. The Group shall recognize the amount of 
the book value of non-current assets less the higher 
amount of fair value or value in use as measurement of 
impairment of non-current assets.

		�	   Under IFRSs, goodwill is required to be tested for 
impairment regardless of an indication of impairment 
instead of periodical amortization. For the impairment 
test, the Group compares cash-generating units including 
goodwill with their recoverable amount. Recoverable 
amount is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal 
and value in use. Value in use is the present value of the 
future cash flows expected to be derived from an asset or 
a cash-generating unit which goodwill is allocated to. 
The Group shall base cash flow projections on the most 
recent financial budgets/forecasts approved by manage-
ment, and the maximum period of these budgets/fore-
casts shall be five years or less unless a longer period can 
be justified. The discount rate used for measuring value 
in use was 8.62% and 7.25% per annum as at 1 April 
2011 and 31 March 2012, respectively.

		�	   As discussed, there are differences between JGAAP 
and IFRSs on assumptions and estimations used in 
impairment testing of goodwill and scope or approach of 
the impairment test itself. An additional impairment test 
is required at the transition date under IFRS 1.

		�	   Due to these differences, we recognized an impair-
ment loss of ¥1,906 million in the Financial Service 
Business and ¥1,182 million in the Biotechnology-related 
Business and ¥2,547 million in the Other Business, in 
the aggregate of ¥5,635 million as a result of the revalu-
ation of the recoverability amount of goodwill and other 
assets as at the transition date, 1 April 2011.

		�	   As at 31 March 2012 we recognized an impairment loss 
of goodwill of ¥1,276 million in the Asset Management 
Business and of ¥858 million in the Financial Service 
Business, in the aggregate of ¥2,134 million. 

		�	   Negative goodwill recognized as liabilities and amor-
tized periodically under JGAAP is recognized as profit 
or loss under IFRSs.

	 (e)	�Summary impact from business combinations on  
equity accounts

		�  As a result of the above from (1)(a) to (1)(d), as at 1 April 
2011, there was a decrease in equity of ¥77,493 million, 
which consists of a decrease in capital surplus of ¥81,214 
million, an increase in retained earnings of ¥4,101 mil-
lion, and a decrease in non-controlling interests of ¥138 
million.

		�	   Also, as a result of the above from (1)(a) to (1)(d), as 
at 31 March 2012, there was a decrease in equity of 
¥77,393 million which consists of a decrease in capital 
surplus of ¥87,879 million, an increase in retained earn-
ings of ¥9,340 million, and increase in non-controlling 
interests of ¥1,389 million.

		�	   In addition, total comprehensive income increased by 
¥3,912 million for the fiscal year ended 31 March 2012. 
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(2)	 Scope of consolidation
Under JGAAP, when investment companies such as venture cap-
ital organizations invest in stock or equity of other company to 
achieve capital gains through corporate revitalization and busi-
ness development, even if controlling for decision making of the 
other company, the company may not be recognized as subsid-
iary. On the other hand, under the same condition, IFRSs 
requires investment companies include the other company within 
the scope of consolidation when controlling the other company.
	 Since the scope of consolidation has been expanded under 
IFRSs, there was a decrease in equity of ¥5,697 million as at 1 
April 2011, including a decrease in retained earnings of ¥4,698 
million. Also, as at 31 March 2012, there was a decrease in 
equity of ¥6,263 million, including a decrease in retained earn-
ings of ¥5,174 million.
	 In addition, total comprehensive income increased by ¥826 
million for the fiscal year ended 31 March 2012. 

(3)	 Translation adjustment for foreign operations 
The Group determined to apply the exemption in IFRS 1 and 
set accumulated translation adjustment for all foreign operations 
to zero as at the transition date. 

(4)	 Property and equipment
The Company and its subsidiaries in Japan principally apply 
the declining-balance method as the depreciation method for 
property and equipment (other than leased assets) under 
JGAAP; however, under IFRSs, the straight line method is gen-
erally applied. Retained earnings increased by ¥672 million and 
¥665 million as at the transition date and 31 March 2012 princi-
pally due to the above difference in depreciation method.

(5)	 Investment properties
The Group determined to apply the exemption in IFRS 1 and 
treat fair value for some of the investment properties as deemed 
cost at the transition date under IFRSs. The book value of invest-
ment properties to which the Group applied deemed cost is 
¥17,420 million and their fair value is ¥15,687 million. As a result, 
retained earnings decreased by ¥1,257 million as at the transition 
date. Retained earnings decreased by ¥1,470 million because the 
Group recognized an impairment loss as at 31 March 2012. 

(6)	 Financial instruments
	 (a)	Classification of financial assets
		�  Financial assets are classified as either “Financial assets 

measured at amortized cost” or “Financial assets measured 
at fair value” under IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (here-
inafter referred to as the “IFRS 9”). Investment in equity 
instruments which are not held for trading can be initially 
designated as financial assets measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income.

		�	   On the other hand, under JGAAP, securities are classi-
fied into four categories, “Securities held for trading”, “held 
to maturity investment”, “stocks of subsidiaries or associ-
ates” and “available-for-sale securities”. “Held to maturity 
investment” is measured at amortized cost and “securities 
held for trading” and “available-for-sale securities” are 

measured at fair value through profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, respectively.

		�	   Items included in “available-for-sale securities” 
excluding those measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income, are measured at fair value 
through profit or loss with the adoption of IFRS 9. The 
investment held by venture capitals and other similar 
entities in the Group are measured at fair value through 
profit or loss, when the Group does not intend to exer-
cise control even though holding 20% to 50% voting 
interests, in conformity with IFRS 9.

	 (b)	Deferral of up-front fee
		�  The Company recognizes up-front fees which are charged 

by each housing loan at a fixed rate as revenue immedi-
ately upon receipt under JGAAP, however, under IFRSs, 
revenue recognition of up-front fee is deferred by using 
the effective interest method where it meets the definition 
of “An inseparable part of effective interests”.

	 (c)	�Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities 
with securitization 

		�  According to IFRS 1, the requirements of derecognition 
under IFRS 9 can be applied before the transition date 
when necessary information is available. The Group 
decided to derecognize the financial instruments related 
to the housing loans securitized on and after 1 January 
2004 as they meet the criteria for derecognition defined 
in IFRS 9. Under IFRSs, all the risks and rewards of 
financial assets are regarded as substantially transferred 
when the Group no longer holds the contractual rights to 
collect cash flows from the financial assets or the Group 
officially acknowledges the pass-through arrangements. 
A financial asset shall be derecognized if all the risks and 
rewards are transferred or the Group hardly retains any 
risks and rewards of the financial assets nor exercise con-
trol towards it. Otherwise, the Group continues to recog-
nize the financial assets. If the Group does not transfer 
all the risks and rewards of a transferred asset, and 
retains control of it, the Group continues to recognize 
the financial assets to the extent of its continuing 
involvement. 

		�	   Under JGAAP financial assets are derecognized upon 
the transfer of control to a third party (financial compo-
nent approach). Risks and rewards are not considered in 
the assessment of derecognition.

		�	   Under JGAAP the specific agreement of a securitiza-
tion is regarded as a sale of a loan to a third party and 
thus the loan is derecognized. Under IFRSs, the Group 
retain significant credit risks in relation to part of the 
loan, which do not meet the criteria for derecognition 
under IFRS 9 and, thus, the loan is not derecognized. 
Furthermore, with the derecognition not being acknowl-
edged under IFRSs, commission fees in relation to the 
loan which are recognized as income under JGAAP are 
recognized as adjustment to the effective interest and 
amortized together with the loan.
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	 (d)	�Summary impact on financial instruments on equity 
accounts

		�  As a result of the above stated (6)(a) to (6)(c), equity 
decreased by ¥14,488 million, consisting of a ¥14,919 
million decrease in retained earnings, a ¥5,351 million 
increase in other component of equity and a ¥4,736 mil-
lion decrease in non-controlling interests as at the transi-
tion date. As at 31 March 2012, equity decreased by 
¥13,209 million, which consists of a ¥13,952 million 
decrease in retained earnings, a ¥5,085 million increase 
in other component of equity and a ¥4,063 million 
decrease in non-controlling interests.

		�	   Other comprehensive income increased by ¥816 mil-
lion for the fiscal year ended 31 March 2012.

		�	   Assets increased by ¥65,978 million and liabilities 
increased by ¥66,305 million as at the transition date, 
and assets increased by ¥51,421 million and liabilities 
increased by ¥51,358 million as at 31 March 2012 as 
impacted by the above (6)(c).

(7)	 Statutory reserve 
A reserve for financial products transaction liabilities recognized 
under JGAAP is provided for future possible losses which do 
not exist at the reporting date. Reserves for financial products 
transaction liabilities do not meet the criteria for the recognition 
of liabilities under IFRSs; therefore, they are reversed, which 
leads to the result of a ¥3,082 million increase in retained earn-
ings at the transition date and a ¥4,097 million increase as at 31 
March 2012.

(8)	 Insurance contract
	 (a)	Deferred assets
		�  A newly established insurance company may defer busi-

ness expenditures incurred within 5 years after establish-
ment and record them as deferred assets which can be 
amortized within 10 years through profit or loss in confor-
mity with Article 113 of the Insurance Business Act. Since 
the deferred assets which the Group recognizes under 
JGAAP do not meet the criteria for recognition of assets 
under IFRSs, the deferred assets are written off. 

	 (b)	Reserve for catastrophes
		�  The reserve for catastrophes recognized under JGAAP is 

for future possible insurance payment and does not meet 
the criteria of a liability under IFRSs. Therefore, the 
reserve for catastrophes recognized under JGAAP is 
written off under IFRSs.

	 (c)	�Summary impact from insurance contracts  
on equity accounts

		�  Retained earnings and non-controlling interest as at the 
transition date decreased by ¥4,573 million and ¥2,405 
million, respectively, and retained earnings and non-
controlling interest as at 31 March 2012 decreased by 
¥6,291 million and ¥2,698 million, respectively, as a 
result of the impact from (8)(a) to (8)(b).

		�	   Total comprehensive income decreased by ¥2,011 
million for the fiscal year ended 31 March 2012. 

(9)	 Income tax expense 
The elimination of unrealized gains or losses arising from trans-
actions within the Group leads to a temporary difference 
between the book value and the tax base.
	 Under JGAAP, tax effects in relation to elimination of intra-
group unrealized gains are recognized as deferred tax assets for 
the tax amount which incurred at the seller side and the tax 
effects in relation to elimination of intragroup unrealized losses 
are recognized as deferred tax liabilities at the seller side since 
they are regarded as deductible in the calculation of taxable 
income.
	 On the other hand, under IFRSs, the tax effects in relation 
to elimination of intragroup unrealized gains are recognized as 
deferred tax assets at the buyer side considering the recover-
ability and calculated using the buyer’s tax rate. Tax effects in 
relation to intragroup unrealized losses are recognized as 
deferred tax liabilities with some exceptions.
	 Due to these GAAP differences, retained earnings decreased 
by ¥6,004 million and ¥12,152 million as at the transition date 
and 31 March 2012, respectively.

(10) Assets and liabilities related to the securities business 
Under JGAAP, trade date accruals are recorded as the net 
amount for the contra account of trading assets and liabilities 
recognized when trading on an exercise basis. Only transaction 
fees are recognized on exercise date and trade date accruals are 
not recognized during a transaction as broker. On the other 
hand, under IFRSs, receivables and payables to different coun-
ter party can be offset when, and only when there is legal 
enforcement and the intention for offsetting or simultaneous 
settlement of assets and liabilities. Therefore, trade date accruals 
occurred during trading are recorded at their gross amounts. 
On brokerage for the customer, receivables and payables are 
recognized to both seller and buyer and trade date accruals are 
recorded as gross amounts, at the same time, trade date accruals 
are partially offset with deposit from customers in spot transac-
tions and also offset partially with margin transaction assets or 
margin transaction liabilities in margin transactions.
	 Due to the impact of the GAAP difference stated above, 
assets and liabilities related to the securities business increased 
by ¥109,758 million and ¥46,630 million as at the transition 
date and 31 March 2012, respectively. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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The SBI Group (Principal Group Companies)

A diversified line of financial services

SBI Holdings, Inc. TSE First Section SEHK Main Board

Financial Services  
Business

q SBI Social Lending Co., Ltd.

Loan and social lending operations� 100.0%

q SBI AutoSupport Co., Ltd.

Provision of financial services through 
used car dealers, etc.� 70.0%

q SBI Japannext Co., Ltd.

Operation of PTS 
(Proprietary Trading System)� 52.8%

q SBI Remit Co., Ltd.

International remittance business� 100.0%

q Autoc one K.K.

Internet support service for 
purchasing automobiles� 60.9%

q SBI MONEY PLAZA Co., Ltd.

“Face-to-face” shops that provide  
financial products� 100.0%

q IKIIKI SEDAI Inc.

Small-amount short-term  
insurance policy businesses� 100.0%

q SBI Net Systems Co., Ltd.

R&D and providing information security products 
� 100.0%

w SBI-LG Systems Co., Ltd.

System-related business� 49.0%

q SBI Business Solutions Co., Ltd.

Back office support services� 78.7%

q SBI Insurance Co., Ltd.

Internet-based nonlife insurance company� 80.2%

q SBI SSI Holdings Co., Ltd.

Holding company of small-amount short-term 
insurance policy businesses� 100.0%

q SBI SSI Co., Ltd.

Small-amount short-term  
insurance policy businesses� 98.3%

w SBI Sumishin Net Bank, Ltd.

Internet-based full service bank� 50.0%

q CEM Corporation

Real estate secured loans� 79.7%

q SBI Card Co., Ltd.

Credit card business� 100.0%

q SBI Lease Co., Ltd.

Comprehensive leasing business� 100.0%

q SBI Business Support Co., Ltd.

Call center planning and operation, staffing 
� 100.0%

q SBI Marketing Co., Ltd.

Advertising agent� 99.0%

JASDAQ

w SOLXYZ Co., Ltd.

Software development� 26.3%

KOSPI

q SBI Mortgage Co., Ltd.

Long-term, fixed-rate housing loans� 66.5%

q SBI Benefit Systems Co., Ltd.

Services for defined-benefit pension plans 
� 87.0%

q SBI FXTRADE Co., Ltd.

Pure-play FX broker� 100.0%

q SBI Liquidity Market Co., Ltd.

Provision of market infrastructure to  
supply liquidity to FX margin trading� 100.0%

q SBI FINANCIAL SERVICES Co., Ltd.

Control and management of the Financial 
Services Business� 100.0%

Financial Services Business 
(Business Divisions of SBI Holdings, Inc.)

Operation of financial product comparison, 
search and estimate websites

w Strategic Consulting Group, Inc.

Financial advisory services� 44.4%

q SBI Fund Bank Co., Ltd.

Planning services associated  
with investment trusts� 100.0%

w CSJ-SBI Financial Media Co., Ltd.

Sino-Japanese economic and  
financial information services� 43.0%

q	�Morningstar Asset  
Management Co., Ltd.

Investment advisory services, others� 100.0%

JASDAQ

q Morningstar Japan K.K.

Rating information for investment trust, others 
� 49.2%

q SBI Searchina Co., Ltd.

Operation of “Searchina,” a Chinese  
information website� 100.0%

q SBI SECURITIES Co., Ltd.

Comprehensive online securities company 
� 100.0%

As of June 30, 2013 / Note: Percentages are the total Group ownership, which is the sum total of the voting rights in possession by the Company and the companies and funds 

defined as its subsidiaries by IFRSs.
A Consolidated subsidiary  B Equity-method company/affiliated company
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The SBI Group (Principal Group Companies)

Fund management, investment  
advisory services, etc.

Development, manufacturing and sales of 
pharmaceuticals, cosmetics and health foods

SBI Holdings, Inc.

Asset Management  
Business OthersBiotechnology-related  

Business

q SBI Investment Co., Ltd.

Venture capital fund management� 100.0%

q SBI Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd.

Development, manufacturing and  
sales of cosmetics, health foods and  
pharmaceuticals using 5-ALA� 73.2%

q SBI Royal Securities Plc.

Comprehensive securities company  
in Cambodia� 81.6%

q SBI Capital Management Co., Ltd.

Control and management of the  
Asset Management Business� 100.0%

Real Estate Business Division 
(SBI Holdings, Inc.)

Real estate investments, real estate development 
and operation of real estate investment funds

q SBI ALA Hong Kong Co., Limited 

Management of the 5-ALA  
related businesses� 100.0%

q SBI Asset Management Co., Ltd.

Investment advisory services, 
investment trust management� 100.0%

q SBI Guarantee Co., Ltd.

Rent guarantees for rental housing� 100.0%
q SBI Biotech Co., Ltd.

R&D of pharmaceuticals� 74.2%

q SBI Arsnova Research, Co., Ltd.

Arrangement and management of  
alternative investments� 99.0%

q SBI Wellness Bank Co., Ltd.

Healthcare services for membership� 92.3%

q SBI VEN CAPITAL PTE. LTD.

Overseas investments administration� 100.0%

KOSDAQ

q SBI AXES Co., Ltd.

Holding company of payment providers � 75.0%

KOSDAQ

w SBI Investment KOREA Co., Ltd.

Venture capital in Korea� 43.9%

TSE Mothers

q SBI Life Living Co., Ltd.

Development and sale of properties and opera-
tion of lifestyle-related websites� 73.8%

q SBI CAPITAL Co., Ltd.

Buyout and value up fund management 
� 100.0%

q SBI ALApromo Co., Ltd. 

Manufacturing and sales of cosmetics and 
health foods using 5-ALA� 100.0%

q Quark Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Research and development of  
siNRA pharmaceuticals� 100.0%

w PHNOM PENH COMMERCIAL BANK

Commercial banking services  
in Cambodia� 47.6%

q Hyundai Swiss Savings Bank

Savings bank in Korea� 89.4%
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1999 Mar. SoftBank Corp.’s Administrative Division spun off as an 
independent company, Softbank Finance Corporation, 
as part of business reorganization accompanying the 
conversion of SoftBank Corp. into a pure holding com-
pany; Softbank Finance Corporation becomes an oper-
ating holding company to oversee financial-related 
business activities

July SOFTBANK INVESTMENT CORPORATION (the 
Company) established under Softbank Finance 
Corporation to undertake venture capital and incuba-
tion business

Nov. Softbank Ventures, Inc. (currently SBI Investment Co., 
Ltd.) became a wholly owned consolidated subsidiary

2000 Dec. Listed on NASDAQ Japan (currently JASDAQ)

2001 Apr. SOFTBANK ASSET MANAGEMENT Co., Ltd. (cur-
rently SBI Asset Management Co., Ltd.) became a 
subsidiary

SBI CAPITAL Co., Ltd. established

2002 Feb. Listed on First Section of Tokyo Stock Exchange

Nov. Listed on First Section of Osaka Securities Exchange

2003 June Merged with E*TRADE Japan K.K. and converted 
E*TRADE SECURITIES Co., Ltd. into a subsidiary; 
reorganization of business accelerates thereafter, with 
the Company positioned as the core company

Oct. Acquired WORLD NICHIEI Securities Co., Ltd. (for-
merly SBI Securities Co., Ltd.) and converted this com-
pany into a subsidiary

2004 Feb. FINANCE ALL CORPORATION, and its subsidiar-
ies GOODLOAN Co., Ltd. (currently SBI Mortgage 
Co., Ltd.) and WEB-Lease Co., Ltd. (currently SBI 
Lease Co., Ltd.) became subsidiaries

July Morningstar Japan K.K. became a subsidiary

2005 Mar. Percentage of equity shares held by SoftBank Corp. 
decreases due to a capital increase through a public 
offering; changed from a consolidated subsidiary to an 
equity-method affiliate

July Changed name to SBI Holdings, Inc. Transferred ven-
ture fund management business to SBI VENTURES 
K.K. (currently SBI Investment Co., Ltd.) and changed 
to a holding company structure

Oct. Established a representative office in Beijing, China

2006 July E*TRADE SECURITIES Co., Ltd. (currently SBI 
SECURITIES Co., Ltd.) changed its name to SBI 
E*TRADE SECURITIES Co., Ltd.

Aug. A wholly owned subsidiary of SoftBank Corp. (majority 
shareholder) sold its shares in the Company, thereby 
the Company is no longer an equity-method affiliate of 
SoftBank Corp.

2007 Feb. Established a Singapore subsidiary, SBI VEN 
CAPITAL PTE. LTD.

Aug. SBI Japannext Co.,  Ltd. began operations of 
Proprietary Trading System (PTS)

Sept. LIVING Corporation (currently SBI Life Living Co., 
Ltd.) became a subsidiary

SBI Sumishin Net Bank, Ltd. commenced business

Oct. SBI E*TRADE SECURITIES Co., Ltd. (currently SBI 
SECURITIES Co., Ltd.) and former SBI Securities 
Co., Ltd. merged, with SBI E*TRADE SECURITIES 
Co., Ltd. as the surviving company

2008 Jan. SBI Insurance Co., Ltd. commenced business

July SBI E*TRADE SECURITIES Co., Ltd. changed its 
name to SBI SECURITIES Co., Ltd.

Nov. SBI Liquidity Market Co., Ltd. started operations

Dec. Hong Kong subsidiary SBI Hong Kong Co., Limited 
(currently SBI Hong Kong Holdings Co., Limited) 
commenced business

2010 Apr. Established a representative office in Shanghai, China

July Korea Technology Investment Corporation (currently 
SBI Investment KOREA Co., Ltd.), a South Korean 
company, became an equity-method affiliated company

2011 Apr. Hong Kong Depositary Receipts of the Company’s 
common shares listed on the Main Board of the Hong 
Kong Stock Exchange

May Established a representative office in Kuala Lumpur, 
Malaysia

2012 Mar. China business management company SBI (China) 
Co., Ltd., commenced business

May SBI FXTRADE Co., Ltd., a foreign exchange trading 
company commenced business

June Implemented reorganization of face-to-face sales busi-
nesses centering on SBI MONEY PLAZA Co., Ltd., and 
transferred the face-to-face division of SBI SECURITIES 
Co., Ltd. to SBI MONEY PLAZA Co., Ltd.

Oct. The Company conducted a 10 for 1 stock split

2013 Mar. Acquired shares of Hyundai Swiss Savings Bank and 
converted it into a consolidated subsidiary

Acquired all shares of IKIIKI SEDAI Inc. and con-
verted it into a consolidated subsidiary

Corporate History
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Corporate Data (As of March 31, 2013)

Company Outline

Company Name SBI Holdings, Inc.

Date of Establishment July 8, 1999

Head Office �Izumi Garden Tower 19F, 1-6-1 Roppongi,  
Minato-ku, Tokyo 106-6019 Japan 
TEL: +81 (3) 6229 0100   FAX: +81 (3) 3224 1970

Number of Employees 5,007 (consolidated)

Paid-in Capital ¥81,668 million

Fiscal Year April 1 to March 31

Financial Institutions 17.86

Securities Companies 1.75

Other Companies  
within Japan 0.97

Foreign Institutions  
and Individuals 40.63

Individuals and Others 35.42

Treasury Stock 3.35

Stock Information

Listings First Section of the Tokyo Stock Exchange 
Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange

Code 8473 (Tokyo Stock Exchange)
6488 (Hong Kong Stock Exchange)

Shares Authorized 341,690,000 shares

Shares Outstanding 224,525,781 shares (including treasury stock)

Shareholder Register Mizuho Trust & Banking Co., Ltd.

Hong Kong Depositary 
Receipt (HDR) Custody 
Trust Institution

 
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.

Principal Shareholders

Name Number of 
shares held

(shares)

Percentage of  
outstanding 

shares  
(%)

CBNY-ORBIS SICAV 10,262,144 4.57 

Japan Trustee Services Bank, Ltd. (Trust account) 9,918,830 4.41

The Master Trust Bank of Japan, Ltd. (Trust account) 7,241,300 3.22

SAJAP 5,476,640 2.43

DEUTSCHE MORGAN GRENFELL (C.I.) LIMITED  
– GENERAL CLIENT A/C

4,320,450 1.92

CBNY-ORBIS FUNDS 4,002,651 1.78

STATE STREET BANK AND TRUST COMPANY 505225 3,798,096 1.69

Yoshitaka Kitao 3,787,960 1.68

CHASE MANHATTAN BANK GTS CLIENTS 
ACCOUNT ESCROW

3,601,278 1.60

JAPAN SECURITIES FINANCE CO., LTD. 2,481,500 1.10

*	�Apart from the holdings of the principal shareholders above, the Company holds 7,524,706 shares (3.35%) 
as treasury stock.

Distribution of Ownership 
among Shareholders (%)
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Website Directory

News Release
Releases can be found in 
English and Chinese.

Annual Report
Back numbers of annual 
reports available in English 
and Chinese.

Financial Results, etc.
Quarterly financial results 
in English and Chinese. 
Presentation materials and 
streaming audios in English.

SBI Holdings Website Top Page

http://www.sbigroup.co.jp/english/

Investor Relations

http://www.sbigroup.co.jp/english/investors/

News Release

http://www.sbigroup.co.jp/english/news/
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Books BY Yoshitaka Kitao, Representative Director, President & CEO

Penetrating Insight

Keizai Co., Ltd. 
November 2010

Understanding the Times

Keizaikai Co., Ltd. 
November 2011

The Lessons of Shinzo Mori 
for Nurturing Human Fortitude

Chichi Publication 
February 2011

Learn from the Ancient Sages

Keizaikai Co., Ltd 
November 2012

When Confounded in Business,  
Analects Point the Way

Asahi Shimbun Publication Inc. 
August 2012

Yoshitaka Kitao’s Business 
Management Lecture

KIGYOKA NETWORK 
June 2009

Reading the Times

Keizaikai Co., Ltd. 
August 2008

Think Big,  
Don’t Be the Little Guy

Chichi Publication 
January 2009

Change Will Be, When 
Things Are at Their Worst

Keizaikai Co., Ltd. 
October 2009

The Meaning of Life

Kodansha Ltd. 
August 2010

Co-authored with Takeshi Natsuno

Notes on Masahiro Yasuoka

Chichi Publication 
December 2009

(EN): In English translation (CN): In Chinese translation (KR): In Korean translation

Applying the “Analects of 
Confucius” in Business

Chichi Publication Co., Ltd. 
May 2012

Yoshitaka Kitao’s 
Management Dialogue

Kosaido Publishing Co., Ltd. 
March 2012

The Tailwind Behind Japan’s 
Economy

Sankei Shinbun Syuppan Co., Ltd. 
June 2012

Japanese Wisdom and Power

PHP Research Institute 
(CN) Fudan University Press 
April 2011

Proverbs of Sages and Renowned 
Executives Who Overcame Adversity

Asahi Shimbun Publication Inc. 
(CN) Tsinghua University Press 
December 2009

Challenges of E-Finance I

Toyo Keizai Inc. 
(CN) The Commercial Press 
(KR) Dongbang Media Co. Ltd. 
December 1999

“Value-Creation” Management

Toyo Keizai Inc. 
(CN) The Commercial Press 
(KR) Dongbang Media Co. Ltd. 
December 1997

Universal Management, Growth 
Management

PHP Research Institute 
(KR) Dongbang Media Co. Ltd. 
(CN) World Affairs Press 
October 2000

Challenges of E-Finance II

Toyo Keizai Inc. 
(KR) Dongbang Media Co. Ltd. 
April 2000

“Mysterious Powers” Gained 
from Chinese Classics

Mikasa Shobo Co. Ltd. 
(CN) Peking University Press 
July 2005

Developing Character

PHP Research Institute 
(CN) World Affairs Press 
April 2003

Why Do We Work?

Chichi Publication 
(KR) Joongang Books 
March 2007

The SBI Group Vision and Strategy: 
Continuously Evolving Management

Toyo Keizai Inc. 
(EN) John Wiley & Sons, Inc. 
(CN) Tsinghua University Press 
October 2005

Forward-Looking Statements

Statements contained in this report regarding the 
plans, projections and strategies of SBI Holdings, Inc. 
and its subsidiaries and affiliates that are not historical 
facts constitute forward-looking statements about 
future financial results. As such, they are based on 
data obtainable at the time of announcement in com-
pliance with SBI Holdings’ management policies and 
certain premises that are deemed reasonable by SBI 
Holdings. Hence, actual results may differ, in some 
cases significantly, from these forward-looking state-
ments contained herein due to changes in various fac-
tors, including but not limited to economic conditions 
in principal markets, service demand trends and cur-
rency exchange rate fluctuations. Further, statements 
contained herein should not be construed to encom-
pass tax, legal, or financial advice, and should not be 
considered to be solicitations to invest in SBI 
Holdings, Inc., or any of the SBI Group companies.
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SBI Holdings, Inc.
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